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|, |Jasuar Land Rover A Y R | A | 5.875 | 2028%E1 H15H | 257,000 | 257, 000. 00 257,398.45 | 1.44
Automotive PLC
TAU e
2. |Bausch Health Cos., Inc. o | HHE | 11,000 | 202859 30K | 211,000 | 204,723.02 | 222,221.00 | 1.24
= AKE
. TAVI| e
3. |TransDigm, TInc. o | HME | 6.875 | 2030412150 | 205,000 | 211,262.06 | 213,789.65 | 1.19
o AKE
. TAYH =
4. |Ford Motor Credit Co. LLC | ”x0pr” | #EME | 4.000 | 20304E11A13H | 221,000 | 221,000.00 | 208,454.98 | 116
= A .
5. |Intesa Sanpaolo SpA 45U 7| 44 | 5710 | 202641 H158 | 200,000 199, 829.85 | 200,253.05 | 1.12
1
6. |TransDigm, TInc. TLZ{%E? Mgt | 6.375 | 2029463 A1 H 180, 000 183, 627. 85 185,625.31 |  1.04
=K E
7. |CSC Holdings LLC e | FEIE | 3375 | 203142 I5H | 318,000 | 318,000.00 176,518.73 | 0. 98
= A .
Resorts World Las Vegas TAUD =
8 |LLC/RWLV Copital, Ine o | | 4.625 | 202954 H16H | 200,000 172, 364. 82 176,178.25 | 0. 98
American Airlines, F XA
9. |Inc./Mdvantage Loyalty 1P |00 " | 4L | 5.750 | 2020424 A20 161, 662 157, 823. 89 163,367.47 | 0.91
Ltd. A
. . TAVI| e
10. |Allied Universal Holdeo LLC| "y | LM | 7.875 | 203142 A15H 154, 000 160, 659. 23 162,357.82 | 0.91
= AKE
11. |Neptune Bidco US, Inc. o | HEE | 9200 | 202044 150 158, 000 154, 013. 74 157,448.75 | 0. 88
= A .
. TAVI| e
12. |WR Grace Holdings LLC e | HEE | 6.625 | 2032668 A 151 153, 000 151, 714. 03 151,981.08 | 0.85
K IE
. TAVI| e
13. |Whirlpool Corp. o | | 6125 | 203046 H15H 150, 000 150, 911. 53 151,939.33 | 0.85
= A .
. TAUD =
14. |Harvest Midstream I LP o | | 7.500 | 2032425 151 144, 000 147, 570. 14 149,839.72 | 0. 84
= AKE
15. %ECN““] America Capital, KA | 46 | 7.125 | 2030454 H14A 150, 000 149, 584. 61 148,644.27 | 0.83
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= A .
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. . - ,
15, |Clarivate Science Holdings \7 AV 01wy | 4 g75 | 2020467 H 10 | 151,000 | 138,725.79 |  142,733.05 | 0.80
Corp. e e
TAU =
19. |DISH DBS Corp. o | HE | 5125 | 202056 41 1 165, 000 106, 159. 68 138,715.93 | 0.77
= A .
. TAUD =
20. |Enova International, Inc. o | | 9125 | 202981 1 H 129, 000 129, 000. 00 136,251.88 |  0.76
o AKE
. TAVI| e
21. |Reworld Holding Corp. o | HEHE | 4875 | 20294128 1A 140, 000 132, 186. 90 132,793.31 | 0.74
= A .
. TAUD =
22. |Talos Production, Inc. e | HEIE | 9375 | 20314E2 A 1A 124, 000 129, 562. 72 130, 650.64 | 0.73
= A .
23. E?Zemx Aviation Capital 73{\7 Mgt | 9.250 | 203047 A15H 122, 000 128, 808. 18 129, 690.50 | 0.72
Royal Caribbean Cruises TAY D =
24 || o | | 5500 | 202844 41 H 127, 000 126, 994. 33 129,271.21 | 0.72
TAUT|
25. |US Foods, TInc. g | HEE | 4750 | 2020482 A15H 129, 000 126, 849. 99 128,360.90 | 0.72
= AKE
Paradigm Parent LLC & F XY A
26. |Paradign Parent CO-Issuer, |’ g’ | #A | 8.750 | 2032484 H17R 135, 000 128, 088. 60 127,923.79 | 0.71
Tne. RS
. TAUI| e
27. |pavita, Inc. g | HEE | 4.625 | 20306E6 A 10 131, 000 120,427.24 | 127,139.95 | 0.71
= AKE
LCPR Senior Secured A=Y N .
28. | Finaneing DAC o | HEfE | 5,125 | 2020467 H15A | 200,000 171, 782. 03 126,678.64 | 0.71
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Albertsons Cos.,
Inc. /Safeway, Inc./New TAU .
29. Albertsons LP/Albertsons P A& 3.500 | 20294F 3 H15H 129, 000 124, 680. 39 123,973. 02 0. 69
LLC
Antero Midstream Partners 7 2%
30. |LP/Antero Midstream Finance A w1 5.375 | 202946 H15H 122, 000 119, 792. 04 122, 468. 08 0. 68
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%5 DEHEER
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(201747 H31H)
%6 DEHEER
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BT RFHEER
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2 HKH 18,637, 332.39 | 2,919, 165, 372 9. 06 1,419
3 HEKH 18, 262, 255. 10 | 2, 860, 417, 016 8.90 1, 394
4 AKH 17,965, 543.54 | 2,813,943, 085 8. 84 1, 385
5 HKH 18, 086, 560. 33 | 2, 832, 897, 944 8.91 1, 396
6 HKH 18,287,985. 11 | 2, 864, 447, 108 9. 02 1,413
7 HRKH 18,232, 619.00 | 2,855,775, 114 9. 05 1,418
8 AHKH 18, 286, 485. 95 | 2, 864, 212, 294 9.11 1, 427
9 AKH 18,224, 193. 18 | 2, 854, 455, 378 9.14 1,432
10A A 18, 046, 620. 78 | 2, 826, 642, 213 9.12 1,428
11AZFHA 17,925, 806.96 | 2,807,719, 144 9.11 1,427
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(2025%E 7 A31H)
20244FE12 A R H 4, 281, 653. 29 438, 270, 031 8.92 913
2025%E 1 AR H 4,314, 209. 73 441, 602, 508 8.99 920
2 AKH 4,261, 301. 14 436, 186, 785 9. 00 921
3 AKH 4,182, 028. 17 428,072, 403 8. 83 904
4 AKH 4,141, 873. 77 423,962, 199 8. 74 895
5 HKH 4,174, 134. 95 427, 264, 453 8. 81 902
6 HRKH 4,224, 610. 90 432, 431, 172 8. 92 913
7 HRH 4,232, 968. 41 433, 286, 646 8. 94 915
8 HRKH 4, 250, 940. 80 435, 126, 300 8. 99 920
9 HRH 4,214, 897. 98 431, 436, 957 9.01 922
10HKH 4,204, 131. 71 430, 334, 922 8. 99 920
11HKH 4,199, 927. 60 429, 904, 589 8. 98 919
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Report of independent auditors

To Intertrust Trustees (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as trustee of Mizuho US High Income Bond
Fund

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Mizuho US High Income Bond Fund (a sub-trust
of Mizuho AB Trust Series) (the "Sub-Fund"), which comprise the statement of assets and liabilities,
including the portfolio of investments, as of July 31, 2025, and the related statements of operations and of
changes in net assets for the year then ended, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the

"financial statements").

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Sub-Fund as of July 31, 2025, and the results of its operations and changes in its net assets
for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of

America.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (US GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are required to be
independent of the Sub-Fund and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant
ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 18 Forum Lane, Camana Bay,
P.O. Box 258, Grand Cayman, KY1- 1104, Cayman Islands
T: +1(345) 949 7000, F: +1(345) 949 7352

www.pwc.com/ky



Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair

presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Sub-Fund's ability to continue as

a going concern for one year after the date the financial statements are available to be issued.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood
that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based

on the financial statements.
In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS, we:

»  Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

+ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include

examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

+  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness

of the Sub-Fund’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting

estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.



» Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the Sub-Fund's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of

time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
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Report of independent auditors

To Intertrust Trustees (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as trustee of
Mizuhe US High Income Boend Fund

'D[':rin'i'nn

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Mizuho US High Income Bond Fund {a sub-

error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Sub-Fund’s ability to continue
as a going concern for one year after the date the financial statements are available to be issued.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 18 Fornm Lane, Camana Bay, P.O. Box 258, Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands, KY1- 1104,
T: +1 (345) 949 7000, F: +1(345) 949 7352, www.pwe.com/ky



includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if
there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment
made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS, we:

Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Sub-Fund’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
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3.875%, 09/01/2028 66 63,572
Graham Packaging Co., Inc.
7.125%, 08/15/2028 39 38, 883
Graphic Packaging International LLC
3.50%, 03/15/2028 118 112, 844
I1luminate Buyer LLC/Illuminate Holdings IV, Inc.
9.00%, 07/01/2028 32 32,113
Innophos Holdings, Inc.
11.50%, 06/15/2029 7 7,333
Magnetation LLC/Mag Finance Corp.
11. 00%, 05/15/2023 () (d) (e) 670 0
New Gold, Inc.
6.875%, 04/01/2032 19 19, 503
Novelis Corp.
4.75%, 01/30/2030 22 21,077
Rain Carbon, Inc.
12.25%, 09/01/2029 7 7,536
Roller Bearing Co. of America, Inc.
4.375%, 10/15/2029 5 4,814
Sealed Air Corp./Sealed Air Corp. US
6. 125%, 02/01/2028 6 6, 057
SunCoke Energy, Inc.
4.875%, 06/30/2029 8 7,312
Vibrantz Technologies, Inc.
9.00%, 02/15/2030 27 17, 296
WR Grace Holdings LLC
4.875%, 06/15/2027 12 11,933
614, 180
BAREL - 5.9%
Artera Services LLC
8.50%, 02/15/2031 9 7,667
Ball Corp.
2.875%, 08/15/2030 36 32,348
Bombardier, Inc.
6.00% 02/15/2028 89 89, 380
7.25%, 07/01/2031 8 8, 353
7.50%, 02/01/2029 71 73,736
8.75%, 11/15/2030 5 5, 386
Clean Harbors, Inc.
4.875%, 07/15/2027 31 30, 742
Crown Americas LLC
5. 25%, 04/01/2030 22 22,216
EnerSys
4.375%, 12/15/2027 106 104, 129
Enviri Corp.
5.75%, 07/31/2027 24 23,603
GFL Environmental, Inc.
6.75%, 01/15/2031 30 31, 136
Goat Holdco LLC
6.75%, 02/01/2032 29 29, 348
Griffon Corp.
5. 75%, 03/01/2028 3 2,984
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LSB Industries, Inc.

6.25%, 10/15/2028 (b) UsD 72 70,818
Madison TAQ LLC

5.875%, 06/30/2029 117 114, 076
MIWD Holdco IT LLC/MIWD Finance Corp.

5.50%, 02/01/2030 119 113, 561
TransDigm, Inc.

4.875%, 05/01/2029 146 143, 226

6.00%, 01/15/2033 21 21, 117

6.375%, 03/01/2029 30 30, 709

6.375%, 05/31/2033 104 104, 644

6.875%, 12/15/2030 65 67, 363
Trinity Industries, Inc.

7.75%, 07/15/2028 87 90, 591
WESCO Distribution, Inc.

7.25%, 06/15/2028 16 16, 223

1,233, 356

BE—AT147 - 12.1%
AMC Networks, Inc.

4.25%, 02/15/2029 2 1, 600

10. 25%, 01/15/2029 38 39, 049
Cable One, Inc.

4.00%, 11/15/2030 10 7,712
CCO Holdings LLC/CCO Holdings Capital Corp.

4.50%, 08/15/2030 132 123, 537

4.50%, 06/01/2033 244 216,633

4.75%, 02/01/2032 4 3,694

5.00%, 02/01/2028 43 42,212

5.125%, 05/01/2027 89 88, 268
Charter Communications Operating LLC/Charter
Communications Operating Capital

6.48%, 10/23/2045 8 7,778
Clear Channel Outdoor Holdings, Inc.

7.125%, 02/15/2031 29 28,959
CSC Holdings LLC

3.375%, 02/15/2031 318 209, 343

4.625%, 12/01/2030 200 93, 523
DIRECTV Financing LLC

8.875%, 02/01/2030 7 6, 818
DIRECTV Financing LLC/Directv Financing Co-Obligor, Inc.

5.875%, 08/15/2027 60 59, 637

10. 00%, 02/15/2031 52 50, 127
Discovery Communications LLC

5.00%, 09/20/2037 33 23,907
DISH DBS Corp.

5.125%, 06/01/2029 165 120, 352

5.25%, 12/01/2026 34 31,979

5.75%, 12/01/2028 145 129, 412
EW Scripps Co. (The)

9. 875%, 08/15/2030 15 14,907
Gray Media, Inc.

5.375%, 11/15/2031 8 5,907

7.25%, 08/15/2033 20 19, 897

9.625%, 07/15/2032 26 26, 252
iHeartCommunications, Inc.

7.75%, 08/15/2030 34 26,413

9. 125%, 05/01/2029 40 33, 408
LCPR Senior Secured Financing DAC

5.125%, 07/15/2029 200 135,924
McGraw-Hill Education, Inc.

5. 75%, 08/01/2028 30 29, 906
Millennium Escrow Corp.

6.625%, 08/01/2026 100 94, 687
Neptune Bidco US, Inc.

9.29%, 04/15/2029 40 38,719
Nexstar Media, Inc.

4.75%, 11/01/2028 11 10, 689
Paramount Global

4.20%, 06/01/2029 7 6,813
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6.375%, 03/30/2062 Ush 21 20, 701
Sinclair Television Group, Inc.
8.125%, 02/15/2033 38 38, 863
Sirius XM Radio LLC
3.875%, 09/01/2031 74 65, 295
4.00% 07/15/2028 132 125, 736
5.00% 08/01/2027 23 22,747
Snap, Inc.
6.875%, 03/01/2033 47 48, 167
Stagwell Global LLC
5.625%, 08/15/2029 17 16, 346
Time Warner Cable LLC
6.55%, 05/01/2037 21 21,598
6.75%, 06/15/2039 20 20, 532
7.30%, 07/01/2038 19 20, 520
Univision Communications, Inc.
7.375%, 06/30/2030 70 69, 662
8.00%, 08/15/2028 43 44, 186
8.50%, 07/31/2031 56 56, 922
Veritiv Operating Co.
10. 50%, 11/30/2030 17 18,431
Warnermedia Holdings, Inc.
4.28%, 03/15/2032 139 117,036
5.05%, 03/15/2042 125 83, 558
5. 14%, 03/15/2052 17 10, 520
2, 528, 882
BE-EJBE - 2.7%
Altice France SA
5.125%, 07/15/2029 200 174, 653
EchoStar Corp.
6.75%, 11/30/2030 (@) (b) 78 73,715
10. 75%, 11/30/2029 66 69, 725
Frontier Communications Holdings LLC
6. 75%, 05/01/2029 30 30, 294
GCI LLC
4.75%, 10/15/2028 9 8, 684
Level 3 Financing, Inc.
10. 75%, 12/15/2030 57 63, 957
11.00%, 11/15/2029 43 48, 600
TELUS Corp.
6.625%, 10/15/2055 27 27,354
7.00%, 10/15/2055 35 35,533
Windstream Services LLC/Windstream Escrow Finance Corp.
8.25%, 10/01/2031 31 32,479
564, 994
HE (BIR) —HEIE - 5.3%
Adient Global Holdings Ltd.
7.50%, 02/15/2033 13 13, 259
8.25%, 04/15/2031 32 33, 447
American Axle & Manufacturing, Inc.
6.50%, 04/01/2027 16 16, 020
Ford Motor Co.
3.25%, 02/12/2032 119 100, 842
Ford Motor Credit Co. LLC
4.00%, 11/13/2030 221 203, 088
Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co. (The)
6.625%, 07/15/2030 51 51, 881
Jaguar Land Rover Automotive PLC
5.875%, 01/15/2028 257 257,893
JB Poindexter & Co., Inc.
8. 75%, 12/15/2031 9 9, 190
Nissan Motor Acceptance Co. LLC
1.85%, 09/16/2026 39 37,412
PM General Purchaser LLC
9.50% 10/01/2028 106 82, 395
Tenneco, Inc.
8.00%, 11/17/2028 78 77,432
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Titan International, Inc.
7.00%, 04/30/2028 Ush 88 87, 762
ZF North America Capital, Inc.
7.125%, 04/14/2030 150 145, 295
1,115,916
HE (RER) —1B% - 1.3%
Carnival Corp.
5.75%, 03/01/2027 14 14,129
5.75%, 03/15/2030 21 21, 302
Lindblad Expeditions LLC
6. 75%, 02/15/2027 34 34, 069
Live Nation Entertainment, Inc.
3.75%, 01/15/2028 21 20, 405
NCL Corp., Ltd.
5.875%, 02/15/2027 3 3,008
7.75%, 02/15/2029 26 27,599
8. 125%, 01/15/2029 31 32, 589
SeaWorld Parks & Entertainment, Inc.
5. 25%, 08/15/2029 21 20, 484
Viking Cruises Ltd.
5.875%, 09/15/2027 38 37,954
VOC Escrow Ltd.
5.00%, 02/15/2028 55 54, 484
266, 023
HE (R —Z 0t - 8.6%
AmeriTex HoldCo Intermediate LLC
7.625%, 08/15/2033 24 24, 406
10. 25%, 10/15/2028 8 8,494
Brookfield Residential Properties, Inc./Brookfield
Residential US LLC
4.875%, 02/15/2030 23 20, 943
6.25%, 09/15/2027 94 93, 862
CD&R Smokey Buyer, Inc./Radio Systems Corp.
9.50%, 10/15/2029 23 19, 125
CP Atlas Buyer, Inc.
9.75%, 07/15/2030 16 16, 148
Full House Resorts, Inc.
8.25%, 02/15/2028 7 6, 770
Great Canadian Gaming Corp./Raptor LLC
8.75%, 11/15/2029 98 96, 008
Hilton Domestic Operating Co., Inc.
3. 75%, 05/01/2029 23 21,913
5. 75%, 05/01/2028 3 3,003
5. 75%, 09/15/2033 2 2,002
5.875%, 04/01/2029 23 23, 369
Hilton Grand Vacations Borrower LLC/Hilton Grand
Vacations Borrower, Inc.
4.875%, 07/01/2031 41 37,753
5.00%, 06/01/2029 83 79,412
6.625%, 01/15/2032 5 5, 060
Installed Building Products, Inc.
5.75%, 02/01/2028 6 5,984
Jacobs Entertainment, Inc.
6. 75%, 02/15/2029 8 7,797
JH North America Holdings, Inc.
5.875%, 01/31/2031 7 7,031
6.125%, 07/31/2032 32 32, 362
Las Vegas Sands Corp.
5.625%, 06/15/2028 37 37,584
6.00%, 06/14/2030 25 25,730
LGI Homes, Inc.
7.00%, 11/15/2032 24 23,079
Marriott Ownership Resorts, Inc.
4.50%, 06/15/2029 122 116, 433
Masterbrand, Inc.
7.00%, 07/15/2032 58 59,017
Mattamy Group Corp.
4.625%, 03/01/2030 49 47, 004
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MDC Holdings, Inc.
6.00%, 01/15/2043 USD 172§ 156, 747
Mohegan Tribal Gaming Authority/MS Digital Entertainment
Holdings LLC
8.25%, 04/15/2030 24 24, 869
11.875%, 04/15/2031 33 34, 399
Resorts World Las Vegas LLC/RWLV Capital, Inc.
4.625%, 04/16/2029 200 177,724
Standard Industries, Inc./NY
4.375%, 07/15/2030 70 66, 277
4.75%, 01/15/2028 95 93, 838
5.00%, 02/15/2027 5 5, 000
Taylor Morrison Communities, Inc.
5.75%, 01/15/2028 35 35,329
5.875%, 06/15/2027 26 26, 210
Thor Industries, Inc.
4.00% 10/15/2029 99 92, 838
Travel & Leisure Co.
4.50%, 12/01/2029 39 37,447
4. 625%, 03/01/2030 99 94, 994
6. 625%, 07/31/2026 58 58, 442
Voyager Parent LLC
9. 25%, 07/01/2032 51 53, 963
Wynn Resorts Finance LLC/Wynn Resorts Capital Corp.
5.125%, 10/01/2029 19 18, 848
1,797,214
HE (BB —LRLSY - 1.0%
1011778 BC ULC/New Red Finance, Inc.
3.50%, 02/15/2029 29 27,476
3.875%, 01/15/2028 38 36, 672
4.00%, 10/15/2030 84 77,828
6. 125%, 06/15/2029 58 59, 254
201, 230
HE (RER) —/5E - 6.0%
Advance Auto Parts, Inc.
7.00%, 08/01/2030 38 38,195
7.375%, 08/01/2033 21 21, 095
Arko Corp.
5.125%, 11/15/2029 48 39, 355
Asbury Automotive Group, Inc.
4.625%, 11/15/2029 52 49,908
Bath & Body Works, Inc.
6.95%, 03/01/2033 42 43, 153
7.60%, 07/15/2037 6 6, 118
Carvana Co.
5.50%, 04/15/2027 22 21,505
9.00%, 06/01/2030 (a) (b) 67 70, 239
9.00%, 06/01/2031 () (b) 56 66, 592
Champ Acquisition Corp.
8.375%, 12/01/2031 8 8,470
Cougar JV Subsidiary LLC
8.00%, 05/15/2032 46 48, 628
FirstCash, Inc.
4.625%, 09/01/2028 114 111, 504
Gap, Inc. (The)
3.625%, 10/01/2029 58 53, 445
Global Auto Holdings Ltd/AAG FH UK Ltd.
8.375%, 01/15/2029 24 22,367
8.75%, 01/15/2032 24 21,074
Group 1 Automotive, Inc.
4.00%, 08/15/2028 7 6, 746
6.375%, 01/15/2030 12 12, 243
Kontoor Brands, Inc.
4.125%, 11/15/2029 60 55, 812
LCM Investments Holdings II LLC
4.875%, 05/01/2029 3 2,916
8. 25%, 08/01/2031 35 37, 005
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Macy’ s Retail Holdings LLC

5.875%, 03/15/2030 USD 11 10, 864

6. 125%, 03/15/2032 3 2,874
Michaels Cos., Inc. (The)

5.25%, 05/01/2028 13 10, 389

7.875%, 05/01/2029 16 10, 692
Nordstrom, Inc.

4.375%, 04/01/2030 40 36, 444

5.00%, 01/15/2044 29 19, 646
QX0 Building Products, Inc.

6.75%, 04/30/2032 45 46, 357
S&S Holdings LLC

8.375%, 10/01/2031 9 8, 629
Saks Global Enterprises LLC

11.00%, 12/15/2029 20 4, 650
Sonic Automotive, Inc.

4.625%, 11/15/2029 59 56, 742

4.875%, 11/15/2031 21 19, 761
Specialty Building Products Holdings LLC/SBP Finance
Corp.

7.75%, 10/15/2029 96 94, 029
Staples, Inc.

10. 75%, 09/01/2029 70 65, 586

12.75%, 01/15/2030 42 29, 675
VF Corp.

2.95%, 04/23/2030 76 64, 374
White Cap Buyer LLC

6.875%, 10/15/2028 51 50, 889

1,267,971

HE GEEIR) - 10.4%
AdaptHealth LLC

4.625%, 08/01/2029 96 89, 974

5. 125%, 03/01/2030 17 15, 981
Albertsons Cos., Inc./Safeway, Inc./New Albertsons
LP/Albertsons LLC

3.50%, 03/15/2029 129 121,738
Amneal Pharmaceuticals LLC

6.875%, 08/01/2032 18 18, 269
B&G Foods, Inc.

8.00%, 09/15/2028 31 28,993
Bausch & Lomb Corp.

8.375%, 10/01/2028 105 109, 742
Bausch Health Americas, Inc.

8.50%, 01/31/2027 43 42,621
Bausch Health Cos., Inc.

4.875%, 06/01/2028 31 27,419

11.00%, 09/30/2028 211 216, 783
Charles River Laboratories International, Inc.

4.25%, 05/01/2028 20 19, 419
CHS/Community Health Systems, Inc.

4.75%, 02/15/2031 38 31, 783

5.625%, 03/15/2027 113 113,189

6.875%, 04/15/2029 71 55, 643

9.75%, 01/15/2034 71 71, 458

10. 875%, 01/15/2032 4 4,196
CVS Health Corp.

6.75%, 12/10/2054 6 6,016

7.00%, 03/10/2055 53 54,601
DaVita, Inc.

3.75%, 02/15/2031 73 66, 222

4.625%, 06/01/2030 131 125,017
Embecta Corp.

5.00%, 02/15/2030 103 93, 410
Emergent BioSolutions, Inc.

3.875%, 08/15/2028 106 81, 827
Fortrea Holdings, Inc.

7.50%, 07/01/2030 28 25,574
Hologic, Inc.

3.25%, 02/15/2029 111 105, 107
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Insulet Corp.

6.50%, 04/01/2033 USD 9 9, 256
KeHE Distributors LLC/KeHE Finance Corp./NextWave
Distribution, Inc.

9.00%, 02/15/2029 15 15, 652
LifePoint Health, Inc.

8.375%, 02/15/2032 45 47,901

9.875%, 08/15/2030 49 52, 869

11.00%, 10/15/2030 44 48, 413
Medline Borrower LP

3.875%, 04/01/2029 114 108, 715
MPH Acquisition Holdings LLC

5.75%, 12/31/2030 11 8, 965

6.75%, 03/31/2031 (@) (b) 50 38,979

11.50%, 12/31/2030 (@) (b) 17 16, 875
Neogen Food Safety Corp.

8.625%, 07/20/2030 52 52,523
Newell Brands, Inc.

8.50%, 06/01/2028 25 26, 225
Owens & Minor, Inc.

4.50%, 03/31/2029 4 3,479

6.625%, 04/01/2030 7 6, 303
Performance Food Group, Inc.

4. 25%, 08/01/2029 33 31, 727
Primo Water Holdings, Inc./Triton Water Holdings, Inc.

4.375%, 04/30/2029 42 40, 425

6.25%, 04/01/2029 20 20, 046
Surgery Center Holdings, Inc.

7.25%, 04/15/2032 45 46, 301
Tenet Healthcare Corp.

4.25%, 06/01/2029 22 21, 223

6.25%, 02/01/2027 13 13,007
US Foods, Inc.

6.875%, 09/15/2028 2 2, 059
Viatris, Inc.

2.70%, 06/22/2030 31 27, 485
Whirlpool Corp.

6. 125%, 06/15/2030 6 5, 986

6.50%, 06/15/2033 6 5, 907

275,303

IRLF— - 11.6%
Antero Midstream Partners LP/Antero Midstream Finance
Corp.

5.375%, 06/15/2029 122 120, 886

5.75%, 03/01/2027 3 3,002

5.75%, 01/15/2028 4 3,995
Aris Water Holdings LLC

7.25%, 04/01/2030 36 36, 942
Baytex Energy Corp.

8.50%, 04/30/2030 21 21, 366
Blue Racer Midstream LLC/Blue Racer Finance Corp.

7.00%, 07/15/2029 13 13,482
Buckeye Partners LP

3.95%, 12/01/2026 4 3,933

5.85%, 11/15/2043 26 23,125

6.875%, 07/01/2029 36 37,025
California Resources Corp.

8.25%, 06/15/2029 14 14, 378
CITGO Petroleum Corp.

6.375%, 06/15/2026 67 66, 962

8.375%, 01/15/2029 21 21, 824
Civitas Resources, Inc.

8.375%, 07/01/2028 36 37, 064

8. 75%, 07/01/2031 12 12, 149
CNX Resources Corp.

6.00%, 01/15/2029 40 39, 968

7.375%, 01/15/2031 4 4,132
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Comstock Resources, Inc.

5.875%, 01/15/2030 USD 22 20, 756

6.75%, 03/01/2029 24 23,794
Crescent Energy Finance LLC

7.625%, 04/01/2032 32 31, 281
Delek Logistics Partners LP/Delek Logistics Finance Corp.

7.375%, 06/30/2033 42 41,490

8.625%, 03/15/2029 42 43, 695
Encino Acquisition Partners Holdings LLC

8.50%, 05/01/2028 35 35, 744
Energy Transfer LP

8.00%, 05/15/2054 23 24,511
Excelerate Energy LP

8.00%, 05/15/2030 93 97, 391
Genesis Energy LP/Genesis Energy Finance Corp.

7.75%, 02/01/2028 55 55,551

8.25%, 01/15/2029 50 52,114
Global Partners LP/GLP Finance Corp.

6. 875%, 01/15/2029 71 71,938
Hess Midstream Operations LP

5.125%, 06/15/2028 28 27,873

5.875%, 03/01/2028 10 10, 168
Hilcorp Energy I LP/Hilcorp Finance Co.

5.75%, 02/01/2029 25 24,513

6.00%, 02/01/2031 15 14, 481

6.25%, 04/15/2032 3 2, 880

7.25%, 02/15/2035 43 41, 858

8.375%, 11/01/2033 24 25, 068
Howard Midstream Energy Partners LLC

8.875%, 07/15/2028 59 61, 663
ITT Holdings LLC

6.50%, 08/01/2029 106 100, 861
Kimmeridge Texas Gas LLC

8.50%, 02/15/2030 8 8,219
Kraken 0il & Gas Partners LLC

7.625%, 08/15/2029 8 7,837
Moss Creek Resources Holdings, Inc.

8.25%, 09/01/2031 32 31, 236
Murphy 0il Corp.

6.00%, 10/01/2032 33 31, 631
Nabors Industries, Inc.

7.375%, 05/15/2027 2 2,018

9.125%, 01/31/2030 45 44, 577
NFE Financing LLC

12.00%, 11/15/2029 123 43, 267
NuStar Logistics LP

5.625%, 04/28/2027 3 3,015

6.00%, 06/01/2026 3 3,010

6.375%, 10/01/2030 20 20,613
Parkland Corp.

4.50%, 10/01/2029 56 53,923

4.625%, 05/01/2030 22 21, 096

5.875%, 07/15/2027 20 20, 020

6.625%, 08/15/2032 20 20, 404
PBF Holding Co. LLC/PBF Finance Corp.

6.00%, 02/15/2028 9 8, 664

7.875%, 09/15/2030 24 21,904

9.875%, 03/15/2030 32 31,714
Permian Resources Operating LLC

5.875%, 07/01/2029 15 15, 001

6.25%, 02/01/2033 43 43,178
Rockies Express Pipeline LLC

6.875%, 04/15/2040 45 45, 395
Summit Midstream Holdings LLC

8.625%, 10/31/2029 32 32, 568
Sunoco LP

7.00%, 05/01/2029 20 20, 769
Sunoco LP/Sunoco Finance Corp.

4.50%, 05/15/2029 58 56, 113
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4.50%, 04/30/2030 UsDh 11 10, 539
6.00%, 04/15/2027 79 78, 955
7.00%, 09/15/2028 2 2,061
Tallgrass Energy Partners LP/Tallgrass Energy Finance
Corp.
6.00%, 12/31/2030 17 16, 659
6.00% 09/01/2031 4 3,913
Talos Production, Inc.
9.00%, 02/01/2029 14 14, 358
TransMontaigne Partners LLC
8.50%, 06/15/2030 51 53,294
Transocean Aquila Ltd.
8.00%, 09/30/2028 29 28, 960
Transocean Poseidon Ltd.
6.875%, 02/01/2027 17 16, 802
Transocean, Inc.
8. 75%, 02/15/2030 32 33, 165
Venture Global Calcasieu Pass LLC
3.875%, 08/15/2029 3 2,830
Venture Global LNG, Inc.
8. 375%, 06/01/2031 65 67,192
9.50% 02/01/2029 38 41, 433
9. 875%, 02/01/2032 91 98, 187
Venture Global Plaquemines LNG LLC
6.50%, 01/15/2034 46 47, 315
6.75%, 01/15/2036 22 22,629
Vital Energy, Inc.
7.875%, 04/15/2032 35 30, 737
Wildfire Intermediate Holdings LLC
7.50%, 10/15/2029 10 9, 957
2,433,021
ZTOHMERE - 0.9%
Clue Opco LLC
9.50%, 10/15/2031 12 12,725
Dealer Tire LLC/DT Issuer LLC
8.00%, 02/01/2028 47 46, 060
Gates Corp. /DE
6.875%, 07/01/2029 11 11, 330
RB Global Holdings, Inc.
6. 75%, 03/15/2028 33 33, 802
7.75%, 03/15/2031 20 20,973
Steelcase, Inc.
5.125%, 01/18/2029 7 6,907
Velocity Vehicle Group LLC
8.00%, 06/01/2029 53 53,701
185, 498
H—ERX - 4.2%
Allied Universal Holdco LLC
7.875%, 02/15/2031 15 15,731
ANGI Group LLC
3.875%, 08/15/2028 98 91, 277
Aramark Services, Inc.
5.00% 02/01/2028 66 65, 357
Block, Inc.
2.75%, 06/01/2026 87 85, 297
Clarivate Science Holdings Corp.
3.875%, 07/01/2028 57 54, 580
4.875%, 07/01/2029 67 62, 842
Garda World Security Corp.
4.625%, 02/15/2027 37 36, 638
6.00% 06/01/2029 23 22,521
8.25%, 08/01/2032 49 50, 525
8.375%, 11/15/2032 30 30, 909
Matthews International Corp.
8.625%, 10/01/2027 19 19, 778
Prime Security Services Borrower LLC/Prime Finance, Inc.
3.375%, 08/31/2027 32 30, 888
5.75%, 04/15/2026 9 9,037
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Raven Acquisition Holdings LLC
6.875%, 11/15/2031 USD 97 97,971
Sabre GLBL, Inc.
10. 75%, 11/15/2029 68 70, 035
11.125%, 07/15/2030 54 57,009
Shift4 Payments LLC/Shift4 Payments Finance Sub, Inc.
6.75%, 08/15/2032 73 75, 379
875, 7174
FT9/89— -3.3%
Ahead DB Holdings LLC
6.625%, 05/01/2028 50 50, 098
Amentum Holdings, Inc.
7.25%, 08/01/2032 95 98, 286
AthenaHealth Group, Inc.
6.50%, 02/15/2030 58 57,020
CommScope LLC
9.50%, 12/15/2031 63 66, 282
Conduent Business Services LLC/Conduent State & Local
Solutions, Inc.
6.00%, 11/01/2029 8 7,620
Diebold Nixdorf, Inc.
7.75%, 03/31/2030 16 16, 959
Gen Digital, Inc.
6. 75%, 09/30/2027 23 23,394
GoTo Group, Inc.
5.50%, 05/01/2028 59 32,251
Imola Merger Corp.
4.75%, 05/15/2029 102 98, 893
Playtika Holding Corp.
4.25%, 03/15/2029 108 99, 026
Rackspace Finance LLC
3.50%, 05/15/2028 123 58, 271
Rocket Software, Inc.
9.00%, 11/28/2028 37 38, 181
Virtusa Corp.
7.125%, 12/15/2028 46 43, 946
Western Digital Corp.
4.75%, 02/15/2026 9 8,979
699, 206
Ew—-MERT - 2.3%
Allegiant Travel Co.
7.25%, 08/15/2027 92 92, 056
American Airlines, Inc./AAdvantage Loyalty IP Ltd.
5.50%, 04/20/2026 18 17,980
5.75%, 04/20/2029 162 161, 600
JetBlue Airways Corp. /JetBlue Loyalty LP
9.875%, 09/20/2031 105 101, 557
OneSky Flight LLC
8.875%, 12/15/2029 9 9, 485
Spirit Loyalty Cayman Ltd./Spirit IP Cayman Ltd.
11.00%, 03/12/2030 (@) (b) 20 12,729
United Airlines, Inc.
4.375%, 04/15/2026 25 24, 849
4.625%, 04/15/2029 55 53, 680
473, 936
EBE—Y—EX - 2.0%
Alta Equipment Group, Inc.
9.00%, 06/01/2029 8 7,599
Avis Budget Car Rental LLC/Avis Budget Finance, Inc.
4.75%, 04/01/2028 29 27,922
5.375%, 03/01/2029 60 57,743
8.00%, 02/15/2031 31 31, 649
8.25%, 01/15/2030 12 12, 357
8.375%, 06/15/2032 10 10, 314
Beacon Mobility Corp.
7.25%, 08/01/2030 71 72,337
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Dcli Bidco LLC
7.75%, 11/15/2029 USD 178 17, 341
Hertz Corp. (The)
4.625%, 12/01/2026 45 40, 695
12.625%, 07/15/2029 35 36, 585
PROG Holdings, Inc.
6.00% 11/15/2029 100 96, 527
Rand Parent LLC
8.50%, 02/15/2030 13 13,072
424, 141
16, 856, 645
SRIFERT - 10.7%
ER4T - 1.9%
Ally Financial, Inc.
6.65%, 01/17/2040 21 20, 858
6.70%, 02/14/2033 23 23,876
Bread Financial Holdings, Inc.
8.375%, 06/15/2035 25 25, 833
9.75%, 03/15/2029 82 87, 969
Intesa Sanpaolo SpA
5.71%, 01/15/2026 200 200, 432
Synchrony Financial
7.25%, 02/02/2033 49 51, 565
410, 533
BEHERt - 2.2%
AG Issuer LLC
6.25%, 03/01/2028 11 10, 994
AG TTMT Escrow Issuer LLC
8.625%, 09/30/2027 48 49, 292
Aretec Group, Inc.
7.50%, 04/01/2029 20 19, 999
10. 00%, 08/15/2030 73 79, 665
Hightower Holding LLC
6. 75%, 04/15/2029 4 3,981
9. 125%, 01/31/2030 49 52,110
Jane Street Group/JSG Finance, Inc.
6.75%, 05/01/2033 53 54, 262
7.125%, 04/30/2031 51 52, 689
Osaic Holdings, Inc.
6.75%, 08/01/2032 6 6,073
8.00%, 08/01/2033 13 13, 209
10. 75%, 08/01/2027 61 61, 000
VFH Parent LLC/Valor Co-Issuer, Inc.
7.50%, 06/15/2031 67 69, 717
472,991
BhE - 3.5%
CNG Holdings, Inc.
14.50%, 06/30/2026 36 32, 400
Compass Group Diversified Holdings LLC
5.25%, 04/15/2029 70 65,015
Curo SPV LLC
13.00%, 08/02/2027 (¢) () 40 39, 399
Enova International, Inc.
9. 125%, 08/01/2029 129 135, 156
Freedom Mortgage Holdings LLC
8.375%, 04/01/2032 42 42, 899
9.25%, 02/01/2029 31 32,415
GGAM Finance Ltd.
7.75%, 05/15/2026 24 24,173
8.00%, 02/15/2027 22 22, 666
8.00%, 06/15/2028 37 39, 100
goeasy Ltd.
7.375%, 10/01/2030 20 20, 389
7.625%, 07/01/2029 64 65,912
9.25%, 12/01/2028 29 30, 691
Navient Corp.
5.50%, 03/15/2029 102 99, 801
9.375%, 07/25/2030 30 32,812
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11.50%, 03/15/2031 UsD 23 25, 830
Planet Financial Group LLC
10. 50%, 12/15/2029 7 7,147
SLM Corp.
3.125%, 11/02/2026 12 11,712
727,517
SFY—EX - 0.8%
Armor Holdco, Inc.
8.50%, 11/15/2029 118 113, 388
Herc Holdings, Inc.
7.00%, 06/15/2030 24 24,782
7.25%, 06/15/2033 24 24, 869
163, 039
TR - 1.1%
Acrisure LLC/Acrisure Finance, Inc.
4.25%, 02/15/2029 4 3,817
6.00%, 08/01/2029 10 9, 752
7.50%, 11/06/2030 23 23, 758
8.25%, 02/01/2029 28 28,923
8.50%, 06/15/2029 18 18, 802
AmWINS Group, Inc.
6. 375%, 02/15/2029 18 18, 330
APH Somerset Investor 2 LLC/APH2 Somerset Investor 2
LLC/APH3 Somerset Inves
7.875%, 11/01/2029 12 12, 366
AssuredPartners, Inc.
5.625%, 01/15/2029 24 23,945
Centene Corp.
2.50%, 03/01/2031 24 20, 148
2.625%, 08/01/2031 19 15, 875
3.00%, 10/15/2030 33 28,718
Liberty Mutual Group, Inc.
7.80%, 03/15/2037 18 21, 062
225, 496
REITs - 1.2%
Brookfield Property REIT, Inc./BPR Cumulus LLC/BPR Nimbus
LLC/GGST Sellco LL
4.50%, 04/01/2027 40 38, 896
CoreLogic, Inc.
4.50%, 05/01/2028 11 10, 367
Five Point Operating Co. LP/Five Point Capital Corp.
10.50% 01/15/2028 (b) 71 72, 085
MPT Operating Partnership LP/MPT Finance Corp.
8.50%, 02/15/2032 18 18, 725
Newmark Group, Inc.
7.50%, 01/12/2029 63 66, 876
Rithm Capital Corp.
8.00%, 04/01/2029 12 12, 265
Service Properties Trust
8.375%, 06/15/2029 26 27,002
246, 216
2,245,792
DNEEE - 0.8%
EX - 0.8%
NRG Energy, Inc.
3.375%, 02/15/2029 39 36,614
5. 25%, 06/15/2029 55 54, 388
5. 75%, 07/15/2029 68 67,902
Vistra Operations Co. LLC
5.625%, 02/15/2027 3 2,996
161, 900
LA — IR E W SR
(AT - $20, 298, 129) 19, 264, 337
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HE-REEE - 7.1%
EE-47%
R—=29y - 0.1%
Glencore Funding LLC
5.63%, 04/04/2034 UsDh 26 26, 530
BEAREF - 0.0%
GFL Environmental, Inc.
3.50%, 09/01/2028 3 2, 889
HE (BIR) —HEE - 0.9%
General Motors Financial Co., Inc.
2.35%, 01/08/2031 15 13, 068
2.70%, 06/10/2031 51 44, 743
3.60%, 06/21/2030 7 6, 577
6.10%, 01/07/2034 22 22,701
6.40%, 01/09/2033 31 32,618
Harley-Davidson Financial Services, Inc.
6.50%, 03/10/2028 64 66, 186
185, 893
HE (RER) —B% - 1.7%
Carnival Corp.
4.00%, 08/01/2028 118 114, 622
Royal Caribbean Cruises Ltd.
5.375%, 07/15/2027 63 63, 292
5.50%, 08/31/2026 58 58, 184
5.50%, 04/01/2028 127 128, 497
364, 595
HE GEfEIR) - 0.2%
Altria Group, Inc.
6.875%, 11/01/2033 30 33, 378
IRLF— - 1.6%
Continental Resources, Inc. /0K
2.875%, 04/01/2032 40 33,829
4.90%, 06/01/2044 17 13, 350
5.75%, 01/15/2031 19 19, 098
EQT Corp.
4.50%, 01/15/2029 57 56, 342
4.75%, 01/15/2031 60 59, 094
Harbour Energy PLC
6. 33%, 04/01/2035 87 87, 089
Woodside Finance Ltd.
5.40%, 05/19/2030 17 17, 263
6.00%, 05/19/2035 39 39, 907
325,972
Ew—-MERT - 0.2%
AS Mileage Plan TP Ltd.
5.02%, 10/20/2029 18 17, 866
5.31%, 10/20/2031 30 29, 787
47, 653
986,910
SR - 2.0%
ERIT - 1. 7%
Ally Financial, Inc.
5.54%, 01/17/2031 14 14, 177
5.74%, 05/15/2029 13 13, 240
6.85%, 01/03/2030 31 32, 669
8.00%, 11/01/2031 19 21,459
Capital One Financial Corp.
7.62%, 10/30/2031 42 47, 275
7.96%, 11/02/2034 30 34,923
Citigroup, Inc.
5.59%, 11/19/2034 17 17, 229
5.83%, 02/13/2035 47 47,801
Santander Holdings USA, Inc.
5.47%, 03/20/2029 8 8, 136
5.74%, 03/20/2031 26 26, 745
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Synchrony Financial
5. 45%, 03/06/2031 USD 18 18, 125
5.935%, 08/02/2030 25 25, 662
Toronto-Dominion Bank (The)
5. 15%, 09/10/2034 40 40, 213
347, 654
RER - 0.2%
Athene Global Funding
1.985%, 08/19/2028 22 20, 406
5.53%, 07/11/2031 30 30, 569
50, 975
REITs - 0.1%
Omega Healthcare Investors, Inc.
5.20%, 07/01/2030 16 16, 048
414, 677
NIEE - 0.4%
ER - 0.4%
Niagara Mohawk Power Corp.
5.29%, 01/17/2034 21 21, 042
NRG Energy, Inc.
7.00%, 03/15/2033 22 24, 131
Vistra Operations Co. LLC
5.70%, 12/30/2034 44 44, 781
89, 954
LA — R E S SR
(S - $1, 458, 921) 1,491, 541
FEENS & - 0.1%
NEEE - 0.1%
EX - 0.1%
Terraform Global Operating LP
6. 125%, 03/01/2026
(B35« $22, 000) 22 21,801
752k - 0.0%
3#7E - 0.0%
E#A2TF - 0.0%
Spirit Airlines LLC, expiring 03/12/2030
(B35« $5, 430) 362 1,481
R
L@k - 0.0%
%78 - 0.0%
A 7T - 0. 0%
Spirit Airlines LLC 35 143
IRILF— - 0.0%
IRLF—BBELTHF—EX - 0.0%
BIS Industries Holdings Ltd. (¢) (e) 124, 651 0
PR
(BT - $12, 492) 143
TEARBHH
(AL T)
EHEE - 1.7%
EHTEE - 1.7%
ANZ, Hong Kong
2.49%, 08/01/2025 AUD 0* 15
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SMBC, London

3.68%, 08/01/2025 USD 357 § 357, 223
EMTEAEATE

(BUSIEUT - $357, 238) 357, 238
BB A AlRES A FE - 100. 9%

(B4R < $22, 154, 210) 21, 136, 541
AEEEBREG DT OMOEE - (0.9)% (183, 605)

HIERE - 100. 0%

$_ 20,052,036

SEENEABEN

o) Ck F)
R DTS K 0.05% § 11,128
[P QETTi eS| 0.30)% $ (71, 966)
FEUESNE 2R AR 0.29% $ (60, 838)

* 500 D T AL FE
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(c) BEERBERTRERA T > b (LoyL 3) BAFEMEOFEIZ W b= FiliFEs.
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STATEMENT OF ASSETS & LIABILITIES
July 31, 2025

Assets
Investments in securities, at value (cost $22,154,210). .. ............ % 21,136,541
Cash . . e 1,445
Interestreceivable. .......... ... . e e e 361,980
Unrealized appreciation on forward foreign currency contracts . ... .. .. 11,128
Receivable for investment securitiessold. . ....................... 5,068
Otherassets . ... ... e 5,454
Total @ssets. ... ..o 21,521,616
Liabilities
Payable for investment securiies purchased . . .. ... ..... ... .. ... .. 240,220
Professional feespayable. . . ... ... . .. ... ... L 115,515
Unrealized depreciation on forward foreign currency contracts . ... .. .. 71,966
Investment Managementfee payable. . ... ........... ... ... .. ... 49 877
Payable for units redeemed . ... ... .. .. . oL 32,570
Distribution feepayable ........... ... . i i 11,174
Agent Company feepayable ........ ... .. ... .. .. .. oL, 535
Managementfeepayable. .. ......... ... ... ... oL, 179
Accrued BXPENSES ... ... .. e 46,644
Total liabilities . . .. ...... ..o 568,680
Net ASSEES. . . ..ottt e e e $ 20,952,936
Net Asset
Value In
Units Net Asset Offered
Class Net Assets Qutstanding Value currency
AUD 2,720,317 473,660 5.74 AUD 8.94
usb 18,232,619 2,015,400 9.05 $ 9.05

See nofes o financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Year Ended July 31, 2025

Investment Income

Interest {net of foreign taxes withheld of $202) . .. ........ % 1,474 370 $ 1,474,370
Expenses

Investment Managementfee . .. ..................... 203,460

Management fee. . .. ... ... ... . 2,142

Professionalfees ... .......... . ... .. .. ... .. .. ..., 119,238

Distributionfee . . ... ... ... ... .. 107,085

Administrative fee. .. ... ... ... ... 71,131

Custodianfee. ... .. .. ... . ... ... ... .. .......... 31,870

Transferagencyfee . ........... ... ... i, 24,531

Printingfee. .. .. ... .. .. . . 12,159

Registrationfee . ...... ... .. .. ... ... . o 11,410

Trusteefee. .. ... .. i e e 10,000

AgentCompany fee . ......... ... .. .. .. ... .. ... .. 6,425

Miscellaneous fee. .. ........ ... .. ... ... ... ..... 2,139

Total expenses. .. .. ... ... .. 601,590
Netinvestmentincome .. ... .. ... .. ............... 872,780

Realized and Unrealized Gain {Loss) on Investment and
Foreign Currency Transactions
Net realized gain (loss) on:

Investment transactions . .. ..... ... .. L (778,339)

Foreign currency transactions . . .. .................. 2,293
Net change in unrealized appreciation {depreciation) on:

Investment transactions ... ...... ... .. ... ... ... .. 1,126,584

Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities . . . . . . (67,735)
Net gain on investment and foreign currency transactions . . . 282,803
Net Increase in Net Assets from Operations . .. ... ... .. $ 1,155,583

See nofes o financial statements.

MIZUHO AB TRUST SERIES - MIZUHO US HIGH INCOME BOND FUND
20

— 129 —



STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Year ended
July 31, 2025

Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets from Operations

Met investmentincome .. ... ... ... .. ... .. ... ..... $ 872,780
Net realized loss on investment and foreign currency
transactions. ... .. ... ... . .. ... (776,046)

Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on
investments and foreign currency denominated assets and

liabilities ... ..... .. ... e 1,058,849
MNet increase in net assets from operations . ... ........ .. 1,155,583
Distributions to Unitholders

Class AUD ... .. ... i (117,578)
ClassUSD ........... . i (773,254)
Total Distributions to Unitholders . .. .................. (890,832)
Unit Transactions
Subseriptions . ... L. 25424
Redemptions . . ..... ... .. .. ... .. .. ... ... ....... (1,813,170)
Total Unit Transactions . . .. ....... ... ... ........... (1,787,746)
Totaldecrease ... .. ... ... .. ... . ... {1,522,995)
Net Assets
Beginningofyear. .. ...... ... ... ... ... . ... . ... 22,475,931
Endofyear .. ... ... .. ... . .. ... ... $ 20,952,936

See nofes o financial statements.

MIZUHO AB TRUST SERIES - MIZUHO US HIGH INCOME BOND FUND
21

— 130 —



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
July 31, 2025

1. Organization

Mizuho AB Trust Series (the “Trust™) is an open-ended exempted umbrella unit trust established under the Trusts Act of the Cayman
Islands. The Trust operates as a series trust currently comprised of one portfolio: Mizuho US High Income Bond Fund (the “Sub-
Fund™). The registered office of the Sub-Fund is ¢/o Intertrust Trustees (Cayman) Limited (the “Trustee™) One Nexus Way, Camana
Bay, Grand Cayman KY1-9005, Cayman Islands. The Sub-Fund’s objective is to achieve high current income and long-term growth
of capital by primarily investing in a diversified portfolio of high yield bonds denominated in United States (*U.S.”) Dollars (“$7).
There can be no assurance that the Sub-Fund will achieve its investment objective or generate investment retums.

The Sub-Fund is regulated as a mutual fund under the Mutmal Funds Act (2021 Revision) of the Cayman Islands and accordingly is
regulated by the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority.

Currently the Sub-Fund has available for issue two classes of Units (Note 3), Class AUD Units designated to Australian Dollar
(*AUD™) and Class USD Units designated to U.8. $. Each currency in which the Units are offered is known as the offered currency
(“Offered Currency™). The Offered Currency for Class AUD is AUD. The Offered Currency for Class USD is U.S. $.

Asset Management One Co., Ltd. serves as the Investment Manager (the “Investment Manager™) and AllianceBernstein L.P. serves as
the Sub-Manager and Management Company (the “Sub-Manager” or “Management Company”™).

The Sub-Fund will terminate on July 31, 2027, unless the Sub-Manager determines in consultation with the Trustee that it is in the
best interest of Unitholders to terminate the Sub-Fund prior to such date. The Management Company, in consultation with the Trustee,
also may terminate the Sub-Fund if the net asset value of the Sub-Fund is below $30 million.

At this time, the Management Company has determined it is not in the best interest of the Unitholders to terminate the Sub-Fund.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Prepardation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“U.S. GAAP") and are expressed in U.S. $. This Sub-Fund is an investment company under U.S. GAAP and follows the
accounting and reporting guidance applicable to investment companies.

Valuaion of Investments in Securities

Securities listed on an exchange are valued at the last sale price reflected on the consolidated tape at the close of the exchange on the
business day (each bank business day in New York and each bank business day in Japan and/or any other day which the Sub-Manager
(or an entity designated by the Sub-Manager) determines, “Business Day™) as of which such value is being determined. If there has
been no sale on such day, the securities are valued at the mean of the closing bid and asked prices on such day. If no bid or asked
prices are quoted on such day, then the security is valued in good faith at fair value by, or in accordance with procedures established
by, the Sub-Manager. Securities traded in the over-the-counter market, including securities listed on an exchange whose primary
market is believed to be over-the-counter (but excluding securities traded on The NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc. (“NASDAQ™)) are
valued at the mean of the current bid and asked prices; securities traded on NASDAQ are valued in accordance with the NASDAQ
Official Closing Price.

U.S. Government securities and any other debt instruments having 60 days or less remaining until maturity are generally valued at
market by an independent pricing vendor, if a market price is available. If a market price is not available, the securities are valued at
amortized cost. This methodology is commonly used for short-term securities that have an original maturity of 60 days or less, as well
as short-term securities that had an original term to maturity that exceeded 60 days. In instances when amortized cost is utilized, the
Valuation Committee (the “Committee™) must reasonably conclude that the utilization of amortized cost is approximately the same as
the fair value of the security. Such factors the Committee will consider include, but are not limited to, an impairment of the
creditworthiness of the issuer or material changes in interest rates.

MIZUHO AB TRUST SERIES - MIZUHO US HIGH INCOME BOND FUND
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Fixed-income securities may be valued on the basis of prices that reflect the market value of such fixed-income securities and that are
provided by a pricing service when such prices are believed to reflect the fair market value of such securities. The prices provided by
a pricing service take into account many factors, including institutional size, trading in similar groups of securities and any
developments related to specific securities. For securities where the Sub-Manager has determined that an appropriate pricing service
does not exist, such securities may be valued on the basis of a quoted bid price or spread from a major broker-dealer in such security.

All other securities will be valued in accordance with readily available market quotations as determined in accordance with procedures
established by the Sub-Manager. In the event that extraordinary circumstances render such a valuation impracticable or inadequate,
the Sub-Manager is authorized to follow other rules prudently and in good faith in order to achieve a fair valuation of the assets of the
Sub-Fund.

Forward Foreign Crarrency Contracts
Forward foreign currency contracts are valued at the difference between the forward foreign exchange rates at the dates of entry into
the contracts and the forward rates at the reporting date.

Cuash and Cash Equivalents
The Sub-Fund considers all highly liquid investments, with original maturities of less than ninety days, as cash equivalents.

Foretgn Currency

Investment securities and other assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. § amounts at the date of
valuation. Purchases and sales of investment securities and income and expense items denominated in foreign currencies are translated
nto U.S. $ amounts on the respective dates of such transactions.

The Sub-Fund does not isolate the portion of the results of operations resulting from changes in foreign exchange rates on investments
from the fluctuations arising from changes in market prices of securities held. Such fluctuations are included with the net realized gain
(loss) and net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investments in the statement of operations.

Reported net realized gains or losses on foreign currencies arise from sales of foreign currencies, currency gains or losses realized
between the trade and settlermnent dates on securities transactions, and the difference between the amounts of dividends and interest
recorded on the Sub-Fund’s books and the U.S. § equivalent of the amounts actually received or paid.

Revenne Recognition

Securities transactions are recorded on a trade-date basis. Dividend income and expense are recognized on the ex-dividend date and
interest income and expense are recognized on an accrual basis. Realized gains and losses on investment transactions are determined
by the first in, first out method. Discounts which are expected to be realized and premiums on investments are amortized over the
remnaining life of the respective investments using the effective interest method.

Allocation of Income wid Expenses

The Sub-Fund allocates income and expenses to each class and series pro rata based on the net asset value per share of the applicable
class or series at the beginning of the calculation period. Investment Management Fees are calculated and charged as described in
Note 4. Profit and loss recognized through share class hedging specific to the designated currency of each class as described in Note 5
is allocated to each class.

Income Taxes

In accordance with U.S. GAAP requirements regarding accounting for uncertainties in income taxes, management has analyzed the
Sub-Fund’s tax positions taken for the open tax period and has concluded that no provision for income tax is required in the Sub-
Fund’s financial statements.

The Sub-Fund is not subject to tax under current Cayman Islands tax laws but the Sub-Fund may be subject to taxes imposed by
countries in which it invests. Such taxes are generally based on income and/or capital gains earned or repatriated. Taxes are accrued
and applied to net investment income, net realized gains and net unrealized gain (loss) as such income and/or gains are earned.

The Sub-Fund remains subject to examination by U.S. federal and state jurisdictions, as well as international jurisdictions, for certain
years prior to and including July 31, 2025 and upon completion of these examinations (if undertaken by the taxing jurisdiction) tax
adjustments may be necessary and retroactive to all open tax years.

MIZUHO AB TRUST SERIES - MIZUHO US HIGH INCOME BOND FUND
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Use of Estimades

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
aftect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, if’ any, at the date of the
financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses recorded during the reporting year. Actual results could differ
from those estimates and such differences could be material.

Indemnification and Warranties

In the ordinary course of its business, the Sub-Fund has entered into contracts or agreements that contain indemnifications or
warranties. Future events could occur that lead to the execution of these provisions against the Sub-Fund. The maximum exposure to
the Sub-Fund under these provisions is unknown as this would involve future claims that have not yet occurred.

3. Unit Transactions

Description of Units

The number of Units authorized to be issued is unlimited and shall be without par value. Each Unit represents an undivided beneficial
interest in the Sub-Fund with the result that the amount payable to a Unitholder upon termination of the Sub-Fund will equal its share
of the net asset value attributable to the relevant Class of Units divided by all Units of the Class then outstanding. All Units of a Class
convey, upon issue, the same rights as to repurchase and distributions. Each of the Units has equal rights and privileges with each
other Unit, including the right to one vote per Unit.

The Sub-Fund currently offers, and in the future may offer, without consent of the Unitholders, various Classes of Units with differing
fee structures and subscription requirements to meet the needs of certain classes of investors or to conform to market practice or
requirements in certain jurisdictions.

The Management Company/Investment Manager may, at any time at its discretion, temporarily discontinue, cease indefinitely or limit
the issue of Units to investors resident or established in certain countries or territories. The Management Company/Investment
Manager may also prohibit certain investors firom acquiring Units if necessary for the protection of the Unitholders as a whole and
each Sub-Fund.

Initial Subscription of Units
Units were initially offered at AUD 10 per Class AUD and U.S. $10 per Class USD. The minimum initial investment is 100 Units and
the minimum subsequent investment is 10 Units for Class AUD and Class USD.

Subsequent Subscriptions of Unils
Units will be available for purchase in the Offered Currencies at their respective net asset values per Unit (plus any applicable sales
charge) on any Dealing Day. Dealing Day is each Business Day.

Repurchase of Units
Unitholders may redeem their Units on any Dealing Day by transmitting an irrevocable repurchase order by facsimile or mail to the
administrator of the Sub-Fund.

The Sub-Manager will endeavor to ensure, for any Dealing Day, that an appropriate level of liquidity is maintained in respect of each
class so that repurchase of Units may, under normal circumstances, be made promptly on such date to Unitholders requesting
repurchase. However, the Sub-Manager may limit the repurchase of Units in the event the Sub-Fund receives, as of any Dealing Day,
requests to redeem more than 10% of the Units of the Sub-Fund outstanding as of such date, in which case Units of the Sub-Fund may
be redeemed on a pro rata basis. Any part of a repurchase request to which effect is not given by reason of the exercise of this power
by or on behalf of the Sub-Manager will be treated as if a request has been made in respect of the next Dealing Day and all following
Dealing Days (in relation to which the Sub-Manager has the same power) until the original request has been satisfied in full. In
addition, under certain circumstances, the Trustee, in consultation with the Sub-Manager, may suspend the right of Unitholders to
redeem Units.

Distributions

The Management Company will declare a monthly distribution to Unitholders on the last Business Day of each month (each a “Record
Date™); provided that the Sub-Manager may choose not to pay a distribution in its absolute discretion. If declared, distributions will be
paid within three Business Days from the relevant Record Date on which such distribution was declared or as soon as practicable
thereafter.

The Management Company intends to declare and pay monthly dividends equal to all or substantially all of the Sub-Fund’s net
investment income attributable to each Unit Class.
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The Management Company also may determine if and to what extent distributions paid include realized and unrealized gains and/or
are paid out of available capital, attributable to the relevant Unit Class. To the extent the net income and net realized and unrealized
profits attributable to these Units exceed the amount declared payable, the excess return will be reflected in the respective net asset
value of such Units. There can be no assurance that any distribution payments will occur.

Unit transactions for the year ended July 31, 2025 were as follows:

Units Amount]

Year Ended Year Ended
July 31, 2025 July 31, 2025
Class USD
Units sold 2820 § 25424
Units redeemed (148,640 (1,331,519
Net decrease (1458200  $ (1,306,095)
Class AUD
Units redeemed (81,100) (481,651)
Net decrease (8L100) & (481,651)
Total amount of Unit transactions $ (1,787,746)

The Sub-Manager has appointed Mizuho Bank, Ltd. as distributor (in this capacity, the “Distributor™) in Japan. As of July 31, 2025,
the Distributor individually owned 100% of the Fund’s net assets. Transactions by the Distributor and/or investors holding a
significant ownership percentage at the Sub-Fund can impact other investors.

4. Fees and Expenses

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other
party in making financial or operational decisions.

Trustee Fees

The Trustee shall be entitled to receive a fee of U.S. $10,000 per annum payable out of the assets for the Units of the Sub-Fund. The
Trustee shall also be entitled to receive out of the assets of the Sub-Fund, a fee for extraordinary Trustee services and any direct out-
of-pocket expenses incurred by the Trustee on behalf of the Sub-Fund.

For the year ended July 31, 2025, the Sub-Fund incurred U.S. $10,000 of Trustee Fees expense, none of which was payable at July 31,
2025,

Management Compary Tnvestment Manager Fee

The Management Company is entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for its services as Manager (“Management Fee™) of
the Sub-Fund a fee equal to 0.01% per annumn of the average of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund as of each Business Day in each
month.

The Investment Manager is entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for its services as Investment Manager (*“Investment
Management Fee™) of the Sub-Fund a fee of 0.95% per annum of the average of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund as of each
Business Day in each month.

The Management Company shall also be entitled to be reimbursed out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for any out-of-pocket expenses
and disbursements incurred on behalf of the Sub-Fund.

For the year ended July 31, 2025, the Sub-Fund incurred U.S. $203,460 and U.8. $2,142 of Investment Management Fee and
Management Fee expense, respectively, of which U.S. $49,877 and U.S. $179 were payable at July 31, 2025 and are included within
Investment Management Fee payable and Management Fee payable in the statement of assets and liabilities, respectively.

Sub-Manager Fee

The Sub-Manager is entitled to be compensated for its services as Sub-Manager of the Sub-Fund. Pursuant to the Sub-Management
Agreement, the Investment Manager will pay to the Sub-Manager a portion of the Investment Management Fee of 0.65% per annum
of the average of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund as of each Business Day in each month.
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Administrador, Trangfer Agent and Custodian Fees

The Trustee entered into an administration agreement with Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. to act as administrator and transfer agent
of the Sub-Fund (the “Administrator and Transfer Agent™). For its fund accounting administration services in respect of the Sub-Fund,
the Administrator and Transfer Agent is entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund, a fee payable in U.S. $ monthly in
arrears within 30 calendar days of the end of the relevant month. The fee for the fund accounting administration services is U.S.
$15,000 and any other transactional charges. The fee for transfer agency services is U.S. $10,000 per annum plus U.S. $1,000 per Unit
Class and any other transactional charges. For the year ended July 31, 2025, the Sub-Fund incurred U.S. $71,131 of administrative
fees, of which U.8. $26,609 was payable at July 31, 2025 and is included within accrued expenses in the statement of assets and
liabilities. For the year ended July 31, 2025, the Sub-Fund incurred U.S. $24,531 of transfer agency fees, of which U.S. $8,391 was
payable at July 31, 2025 and is included within accrued expenses in the statement of assets and liabilities.

Pursuant to a custody service agreement, Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. acts as custodian (the “Custodian™) for the Sub-Fund with
respect to assets delivered to and held by the Custodian. The Custodian is entitled to be paid agreed upon transaction charges and to
recover out-of-pocket expenses out of the assets of the Sub-Fund, payable in U.S. $ monthly in arrears. For the yvear ended July 31,
2025, the Sub-Fund incurred U.S. $31,870 of custodian fees, of which U.S. $9,477 was payable at July 31, 2025 and is included
within accrued expenses in the statement of assets and liabilities.

Agent Compuany Fee

The Manager/Investment Manager has appointed AllianceBermnstein Japan Ltd. as the Agent Company in Japan. The Agent Company
is entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for its services as Agent Company (“Agent Company Fee™) of the Sub-Fund a
fee of 0.03% per annum of the average of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund as of each Business Day in each month.

For the year ended July 31, 2025, the Sub-Fund incurred U.8. $6,425 of Agent Company Fees, of which U.S. $535 was payable at
July 31, 2025 and is included within Agent Company fee payable in the statement of assets and liabilities.

Distributor Fee

The Distributor is entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for its services as Distributor (“Distribution Fee™) of the Sub-
Fund a fee of 0.50% per annum of the average of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund as of each Business Day in each month. Other
Distributors may be appointed in the future.

For the year ended July 31, 2023, the Sub-Fund incurred U.S. $107,085 of Distribution Fees, of which U.S. $11,174 was payable at
July 31, 2025 and is included within Distribution Fee payable in the statement of assets and liabilities.

5. Derivative Financial Instruments

The Sub-Fund uses derivatives to eam income and enhance returns, to hedge or adjust the risk profile of its portfolio and its Unit
Classes, to replace more traditional direct investments, or to obtain exposure to otherwise inaccessible markets.

The Sub-Fund enters into derivatives which may represent off-balance sheet risk. Off-balance sheet risk exists when the maximum
potential loss on a particular investment is greater than the value of such investment as reflected in the statement of assets and
liabilities.

Certain derivative agreements allow counterparties to over-the-counter derivatives to require collateral or terminate derivative
contracts prior to maturity in the event the Sub-Fund’s net assets decline by a stated percentage or the Sub-Fund fails to meet other
credit-risk contingent terms in the agreement, which would cause an accelerated payment of any net liability owed to the counterparty.

The principal types of derivatives utilized by the Sub-Fund, as well as the methads in which they may be used are:

Forward Foreign Crrrency Contracts
For the year ended July 31, 2025, the Sub-Fund entered into forward foreign currency contracts to gain exposure to the designated
currency of each respective Unit Class versus the U.S. § as detailed below:

® Class AUD: Buying AUD forward foreign currency contracts against the U.S. $, in the AUD amount equal to the extent possible to

approximately 100% of the U.S. $ exposure of the net asset value (excluding unrealized currency gain or loss) attributable to Class
AUD.

® Class USD: No forward foreign currency contracts.
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A forward foreign currency contract is a commitment to purchase or sell a foreign currency at a future date at a negotiated forward
rate.

Fluctuations in the value of open forward foreign currency contracts are recorded as unrealized appreciation {depreciation) of forward
foreign currency contracts in the statement of assets and liabilities and as net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) of
foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities in the statement of operations. The gain or loss arising from the difference between
the original contract and the closing of such contract would be included in net realized gain or loss on foreign currency transactions in
the statement of operations.

Risks may arise from the potential nability of a counterparty to meet the terms of a contract and from unanticipated movements in the
value of a foreign currency relative to the U.S. $. The face or contract amount, in U.S. $, reflects the total exposure the Sub-Fund has
in that particular currency contract.

Currency Transactions

The Sub-Fund invests in non-U.8. $ denominated securities on a currency hedged or unhedged basis. The Sub-Fund seeks investment
opportunities by taking a long or short position in currencies through the use of currency-related derivatives, including forward foreign
currency contracts. The Sub-Fund enters into transactions for investment opportunities when it anticipates that a foreign currency will
appreciate or depreciate in value but securities denominated in that currency are not held by the Sub-Fund and do not present attractive
investment opportunities. Such transactions are also used when the Sub-Manager believes that it may be more efficient than a direct
investment in a foreign currency -denominated security.

The Sub-Fund typically enters into International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. Master Agreements (“ISDA Master
Agreement™) with its over-the-counter (“OTC™) derivative contract counterparties in order to, among other things, reduce its credit
risk to OTC counterparties. ISDA Master Agreements include provisions for general obligations, representations, collateral and events
of default or termination. Under an ISDA Master Agreement, the Sub-Fund typically may offset with the OTC counterparty certain
derivative financial instruments’ payables and/or receivables with collateral held and/or posted and create one single net payment
{(close-out netting) in the event of default or termination. In the event of a default by an OTC counterparty, the retumn of collateral with
market value in excess of the Sub-Fund’s net liability, held by the defaulting party, may be delayed or denied.

The Sub-Fund’s ISDA Master Agreements may contain provisions for early termination of OTC derivative transactions in the event
the net assets of the Sub-Fund decline below specific levels (“net asset contingent features™). If these levels are triggered, the Sub-
Fund’s OTC counterparty has the right to temminate such transaction and require the Sub-Fund to pay or receive a settlement amount
in connection with the terminated transaction. If OTC derivatives were held at year end, please refer to netting arrangements by the
OTC counterparty table below for additional details.

During the year ended July 31, 2025, the Sub-Fund had the following derivatives grouped by derivative type:

Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives
Statement of Statement of
Assets and Assets and
Liabilities Liabilities
Derivative Type Location Fair Value Location Fair Value
Foreign exchange confracts. . . .. ......... Unrealized Unrealized
appreciation on depreciation on
forward foreign forward foreign
currency contracts 11,128 currency contracts 71,966
Total .. ...... ... ... .. ... ... ... .. 3 11,128 3 71,966
Realized Change in
Location of Gain or Gain or Unrealized
(Loss) on Derivatives Within (Loss) on Appreciation
Derivative Type Statement of Op erations Derivatives (Depreciation)
Foreign exchange contracts. .. ... ... .. ... Net realized gain (loss) on foreign
currency transactions; Net change in
unrealized appreciation (depreciation)
on foreign currency denominated assets
and liabilities b} 2275 (67,745)
Total .. ...... ... ... .. ... ... ... .. 3 2275 (67,745)
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During the year ended July 31, 2025, the Sub-Fund entered into forward foreign currency contracts to manage currency exposure of
the Class AUD versus the U.S. §. The principal amount approximated the value of the net assets attributable to Class AUD and the
results of those contracts are allocated to the Class AUD.

For financial reporting purposes, the Sub-Fund does not offset derivative assets and liabilities that are subject to netting arrangements
in the statement of assets and liabilities.

All OTC derivatives held at year end were subject to netting arrangements. The following tables represent the Sub-Fund’s derivative
assets and liabilities by OTC counterparty net of amounts available for offset under ISDA Master Agreements (“MA™) and net of the
related collateral received/pledged by the Sub-Fund as of July 31, 2025. At July 31, 2025, all derivatives were subject to netting
arrangermnents.

Net Amount of

Derivative Assets Derivatives Collateral Derivatives

Counterparty Subjecttoa MA Available for Offset Net Amount Received Assets

Brown Brothers Harriman & Co . . § 11,128 § (11,128 % 0 % 0- % -0-
Total 3 11,128 & (11,128 & 0§ -0- % -0-
Derivative Net Amount of

Liabilities Derivatives Collateral Derivatives

Counterparty Subject to a MA Available for Offset Net Amount Pledged Liabilities
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co . . § 71,966 % (11,128) % 50838 % -0- 3 50,838
Total $ 71,966 $ (11,128)  § 60838 $ 0- % 60,838

6. Fair Value Measurements

In accordance with U.S. GAAP regarding fair value measurements, fair value is defined as the price that the Sub-Fund would receive
to sell an asset or pay to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. U.8. GAAP
establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and a three-level hierarchy for fair value measurements based upon the transparency
of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liability. Inputs may be observable or unobservable and refer broadly to the assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

Observable inputs reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on market data obtained
from sources independent of the Sub-Fund. Unobservable inputs reflect the Sub-Fund’s own assumptions about the assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on the best information available in the circumstances. Each
investment is assigned a level based upon the observability of the inputs which are significant to the overall valuation.

The three-tier hierarchy of inputs is summarized below:

Level 1 — quoted prices in active markets for identical investments

e Level 2 — other significant observable inputs (including quoted prices for similar investments, interest rates, prepayment
speeds, credit risk, etc.)

e Level 3 — significant unobservable inputs (including the Sub-Fund’s own assumptions in determining the fair value of
investments)

The fair value of debt instruments, such as bonds, and OTC derivatives is generally based on market price quotations, recently
executed market transactions (where observable) or industry recognized modeling techniques and are generally classified as Level 2.
Pricing vendor inputs to Level 2 valuations may include quoted prices for similar investments in active markets, interest rate curves,
coupon rates, currency rates, yield curves, option adjusted spreads, default rates, credit spreads and other unique security features in
order to estimate the relevant cash flows which are then discounted to calculate fair values. If these inputs are unobservable and
significant to the fair value, these investments will be classified as Level 3.

Other fixed income investments, including non-U.S. government and corporate debt, are generally valued using quoted market prices,
if available, which are typically impacted by current interest rates, maturity dates and any perceived credit risk of the issuer.
Additionally, in the absence of quoted market prices, these inputs are used by pricing vendors to derive a valuation based upon
industry or proprietary models which incorporate issuer specific data with relevant vield/spread comparisons with more widely quoted
bonds with similar key characteristics. Those investments for which there are observable inputs are classified as Level 2. Where the
inputs are not observable, the investments are classified as Level 3.
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The following table summarizes the valuation of the Sub-Fund’s investments following the fair value hierarchy levels as of July 31,
2025:

Investments in Securities Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Corporates - Non-Investment Grade . . . .. ... .. .. $ -0- 3 19,224,938 3 39,3094 § 19,264,337
Corporates - Investment Grade . .. ... ......... -0- 1,491,541 -0- 1.491 541
Emerging Markets - Corporate Bonds. . .. ... .. .. -0- 21,801 -0- 21,801
Warrants. . ... L. 1481 -0- -0- 1,481
Common Stocks. . ........... ... ... .. ..., 143 -0- o# 143

Short-Term Investments . . . ... ................. 357238 -0- -0- 357,238

Total Investments in Securities . .. ............... 358,862 20,738,280 39,399 21,136,541

Other Financial Instruments®:

Assets
Forward Foreign Currency Contracts .. .. ... .... -0- 11,128 -0- 11,128

Liabilities
Forward Foreign Currency Contracts .. .. ....... -0- (71,966) -0- (71,966)

Total .. .. ... e $ 358,862 $ 20,677,442 3 39,399 $ 21,075,703

# The Sub-Fund held securities with zero market value at year end

* Other financicd instruments include derivagive instruments, such as fitures, forwards and swaps. Derivegive instruments are vadued
at the unreafized appreciation (depreciation) on the instrument. Other financial instruments may afso include swaps with upfromnt
premiums, writtern options and writlen swaptions which are valued at market vedue.

7. Financial Highlights

The financial highlights represent the Sub-Fund’s financial performance for the year ended July 31, 2025,

The per share operating performance and ratios are computed based upon the average units outstanding and average net assets,
respectively, for the year ended July 31, 2025

Unitholder’s performance may vary based on timing of Unit transactions and currency management specific to the designated
currency of each respective Unit Class. Total return is computed based on the change in the net asset value per unit during the year,
including reinvestments of distributions. Total investment return is based on net asset value of offered currency.
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Class AUD

Year Ended
July 31, 2025
Net asset value, beginning of
year ... ... 35.81
Income From Investment
Operations
Net investmentincome . . . .. 0.23
Net realized and unrealized
loss on investment and
foreign currency transactions 0.06
MNet increase in net asset value
from cperations ... ... ... 0.17

Less: Distributions
Distributions to Unitholders . . (0.24)

Net asset value, end of year . $5.74
Total Retum
Total investment return based

on net asset valuein USD. . 3.00%
Total investment return based

on net asset valuein AUD. . 4 .96%

Ratios/Supplemental Data
MNet assets, end of year (000's

omitted). . ............. $2,720
Ratio to average net assets of:

Expenses ............. 2.81%

Net investment income . . . . 4.06%

Class USD

Year Ended
July 31, 2025
MNet asset value, beginning of
year ... ... $8.91
Income From Investment
Operations
MNet investmentincome . . . .. 0.37
Net realized and unrealized
gain on investment and
foreign currency transactions 0.14
MNet increase in net asset value
from operations ... ...... 0.51

Less: Distributions
Distributions to Unitholders . . (0.37)

Net asset value, end of year . $9.05
Total Retum
Total investment return based

on net asset valuein USD. . 5.87%

Ratios/Supplemental Data
Net assets, end of year (000's

omitted). . ............. 518,233
Ratio to average net assets of:

Expenses .. ........... 281%

Net investment income.. . . . 4.08%
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8. Risks Involved in Investing in the Sub-Fund

Currency Risk

Underlying investments of the Sub-Fund may be denominated in one or more currencies different than that in which the Sub-Fund is
denominated. This means currency movements in such underltying investments may significantly affect the net asset value in respect
of the Sub-Fund’s Units. Investments by the Sub-Fund that are denominated in a particular currency are subject to the risk that the
value of such currency will change in relation to one or more other currencies. Among the factors that may affect currency values are
trade balances, the level of short-term interest rates, differences in relative values of similar assets in different currencies, long-term
opportunities for investment and capital appreciation and political developments. The Sub-Fund is not limited in the percentage of its
assets that may be denominated in currencies other than the U.S. §.

Conrntry Risks

The Sub-Fund may invest in securities of issuers located in various countries and geographic regions. The economies of individual
countries may differ favorably or unfavorably from each other in such respects as growth of gross domestic product or gross national
product, rate of inflation, capital reinvestment, resource self-sufficiency and balance of payments position. Issuers in general are
subject to varying degrees of regulation with respect to such matters as insider trading rules, restrictions on market manipulation,
Unitholder proxy requirements and timely disclosure of information. The reporting, accounting and auditing standards of issuers may
differ, in some cases significantly, from country to country in important respects and less information from country to country may be
available to investors in securities or other assets. Nationalization, expropriation or confiscatory taxation, currency blockage, political
changes, government regulation, political or social instability or diplomatic developments could affect adversely the economy of a
country or the Sub-Fund's investments in such country. In the event of expropriation, nationalization or other confiscation, the Sub-
Fund could lose its entire investment in the country involved. In addition, laws in countries governing business organizations,
bankruptcy and insolvency may provide limited protection to security holders such as the Sub-Fund.

The Sub-Fund may trade its securities in a variety of markets with many different brokers and dealers. The failure of a broker or dealer
may result in the complete loss of the Sub-Fund's assets on deposit with such broker or dealer depending on the regulatory rules
governing such broker or dealer. In addition, brokerage commissions in certain countries may be higher than in others, and securities
markets in certain countries may be less liquid, more volatile and less subject to governmental supervision than in others.

The securities markets of many countries are also relatively small, with the majority of market capitalization and trading volume
concentrated in a limited number of companies representing a small number of industries. Consequently, if the Sub-Fund invested in
equity securities of companies in such countries, the Sub-Fund may experience greater price volatility and significantly lower liquidity
than if the Sub-Fund invested solely in equity securities of companies in countries with relatively larger securities markets. These
smaller markets may be subject to greater influence by adverse events generally affecting the market, and by large investors trading
significant blocks of securities. Securities settlements may in some instances be subject to delays and related administrative
uncertainties.

Certain countries require governmental approval prior to investments by foreign persons or limit investment by foreign persons to only
a specified percentage of an issuer's outstanding securities or a specific class of securities that may have less advantageous terms
(including price) than securities of the company available for purchase by nationals. These restrictions or controls may at times limit
ar preclude investment in certain securities and may increase the costs and expenses of the Sub-Fund. In addition, the repatriation of
investment income, capital, or the proceeds of sales of securities from certain countries is controlled under regulations, including in
some cases the need for certain advance government notification or authority. If deterioration occurs in a country's balance of
payments, the country could impose temporary restrictions on foreign capital remittances. The Sub-Fund also could be adversely
affected by delays in, or a refusal to grant, any required governmental approval for repatriation, as well as by the application of other
restrictions on investment. Investing in local markets may require the Sub-Fund to adopt special procedures that may involve
additional costs to the Sub-Fund. These factors may affect the liquidity of the Sub-Fund's investments in any country and the
Investment Manager will monitor the effect of any such factor or factors on the Sub-Fund's investments.

Interest-Rege Risk

Changes in interest rates will affect the value of investments in fixed-income securities. When interest rates rise, the value of existing
investments in fixed-income securities tends to fall and this decrease in value may not be offset by higher income from new
investments. Interest-rate risk is generally greater for fixed-income securities with longer maturities or durations. Changing interest
rates may have unpredictable effects on the markets, may result in heightened market volatility and may detract from Fund
performance. In addition, changes in monetary policy may exacerbate the risks associated with changing interest rates.
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Derivatives Risk

The Sub-Fund may use derivatives, which are financial contracts whose value depends on, or is derived from, the value of an
underlying asset, reference rate, or index. The Sub-Manager will sometimes use derivatives as part of a strategy designed to reduce
other risks. Generally, however, the Sub-Fund may use derivatives as direct investments to earn income, hedge currency exposure,
enhance yield and broaden portfolio diversification. In addition to other risks such as the credit risk of the counterparty, derivatives
involve the risk of difficulties in pricing and valuation and the risk that changes in the value of the derivative may not correlate
perfectly with relevant underlying assets, rates, or indices.

Cross-Clasy Liability Risk

The Sub-Fund may enter into currency derivative transactions including forward foreign currency contracts in respect of a particular
Unit Class in order to reduce exposure to the relevant Offered Currency versus the base currency of the Sub-Fund. Although the Sub-
Fund will typically enter into forward foreign currency contracts with only those counterparties that agree to limit their recourse to the
particular Unit Class on behalf of which such forward foreign currency contract was entered, given that there is no legal segregation of
liabilities between the various Unit Classes within the Sub-Fund, there is a risk that, under certain circumstances, currency derivative
transactions in relation to a particular Designated Currency in respect of a particular Unit Class could result in liabilities which might
affect the net asset value of the other Unit Classes of the Sub-Fund, in which case assets of the other Unit Classes of the Sub-Fund
may be used to cover the liabilities mcurred by the Unit Class.

Market Risk

Market risk is the potential for changes in the value of investment positions due to market changes, including interest and currency
rate movements as well as fluctuations in the prices of investment positions. Market rigk is directly impacted by the volatility and
liquidity of the markets in which the underlying financial instruments are traded. The Sub-Fund attempts to manage market risk in
various ways, including through diversifying exposures, placing limitations on position sizes and hedging in related securities or
derivative financial instruments. The ability to manage market risk may be constrained by changes in liquidity conditions, relative
prices, volatilities and correlations between investment positions and the instruments used to hedge such investment positions.

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that counterparties may fail to fulfill their obligations or that the collateral value becomes inadequate. The Sub-
Fund atternpts to minimize its credit risk by monitoring the credit exposure with, and the credit worthiness of, counterparties.

Qff-Balance Sheet Risk

The Sub-Fund may enter into investment transactions which may present off-balance sheet risk. Off-balance sheet risk exists when the
maximum potential loss on a particular investment is greater than the value of such investment, as reflected in the statement of assets
and liabilities. Off-balance sheet risk generally arises from the use of derivative financial instruments.

9. Subsequent Events

Management has evaluated the possibility of subsequent events existing in the Sub-Fund’s financial statements up to October 13,
2025, the date the financial statements were available to be issued.

From August 1, 2025 to October 13, 2025, the Sub-Fund paid U.8. $269,163 of Unit redemptions and paid distributions totaling
U.S. $214,509.
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Mizuho AB Trust Series — Mizuho US High Income Bond Fund

PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS
July 31, 2025

Principal
Amount
(000) U.§. § Value

CORPORATES - NON-INVESTMENT GRADE - 92.0%
Industrial - 80.5%

Basic - 2.9%
ASP Unifrax Haldings, Inc

7.10%, 09/30/2029 @ st 33 $ 45,412

11.175%, 09/30/2029 (8 46 42 306
Champion Iron Canada, Inc.

T.875%, 07152032 12 12,269
Cleveland-Cliffs, nc.

7.50%, 09/15/2031 A7 46,979
Clydesdale Acquisition Holdings, Inc

8.75%, 04115/2030 23 23,461
Compass Minerals International, Inc

6.75%, 12/01/2027 2 2,005
CVR Partners LF/CVR Nitrogen Finance Corp.

6.125%, 061572028 92 91,475
Element Solutions, Inc.

3.875%, 09012028 66 63,572
Graham Packaging Co., Inc

T125%, 081572028 39 38,883
Graphic Packaging International LLC

3.50%, 0315/2028 118 112,844
Muminate Buyer LLCAluminate Holdings 1V, Inc

9.00%, 07/01/2028 32 32,113
Innophos Holdings, Inc.

11.50%, 06/15/2029 T 7333
Iagnetation LLC Mag Finance Corp.

11.00%, 05/15/2023 & 670 0
Mews Gold, Inc.

6.875%, 04/01/2032 19 19,503
MNovelis Corp

4.75%, 01/30/2030 22 21,077
Rain Carbon, Inc.

12 25%, 090172029 7 7526
Roller Bearing Co. of America, Inc.

4375%, 101572029 5 4814
Sealed Air Corp fSealed Air Corp. US

6.125%, 02/01/2028 5 6,057
SunCoke Energy, Inc

4.875%, 06/30r2029 8 7312
Vibrantz Technologies, Inc

9.00%, 0215/2020 27 17,298
WWR Grace Holdings LLC

4 875%, 06152027 12 11,033

514,180

Capital Goods -5.9%
Artera Services LLC

2.50%, 02152031 9 7.667
Eall Corp

2.875%, 081572030 36 32,348
Bombardier, Inc.

6.00%, 0215/2028 89 89,380

7.25%, 0710112031 8 8,353

7.50%, 02/01/2029 71 73,738

8.75%, 1115/2030 5 5,386
Clean Harbors, Inc

4.875%, 0752027 31 30,742
Crown Americas LLC

5.25%, 04/01/2030 22 22,2186
Enersys

4 375%, 12152027 106 104,129
Enviri Corp.

5.75%, 0713112027 24 23,603
GFL Environmental, Inc.

6.75%, 01/15/2031 30 31,1236
Goat Holdco LLC

6.75%, 02/01/2032 29 29,248
Griffon Corp

5.75%, 03/01/2028 3 2,984
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LZE Industries, Inc

6.25%, 10M5/2026® usD 2% 70,818
Madison [AQLLC

5.875%, O&/30/2029 117 114,078
MWD Holdeo 1| LLCMIWD Finance Corp

5.50%, 02/01/2030 118 113,561
TransDigm, Inc

4.875%, 05/01/2029 146 143,226

6.00%, 0115/2033 21 21,117

6.375%, 0301/2029 30 20,709

6.375%, 05/31/2033 104 104,644

6.875%, 1211572030 65 67,363
Trinity Industries, Inc

7.75%, 0715/2028 87 90,591
WWESCO Distribution, Inc.

7.25%, 0B/15/2028 16 16,223

1,233,356

Communications - Media -12.1%
AMC Metwiarks, Inc.

4.25%, 02115/2029 2 1,600

10.25%, 011572029 38 29,049
Cable One, Inc

4.00%, 114152030 10 7712
CCO Holdings LLC/CCO Holdings Capital Corp

4.50%, 081152030 132 123,537

4.50%, 06/01/2023 244 216,633

4.75%, 02/01/2032 4 3,694

5.00%, 02/01/2028 43 42,212

5.125%, 05/01/2027 89 88,268
Charter Communications Operating LLC/Charter
Communications Operating Capital

6.48%, 10/23/2045 g 7778
Clear Channel Outdoor Holdings, Inc

T125%, 0215/2031 29 28,959
CSCHoldings LLC

2375%, 021572031 318 209,342

4.625%, 12012030 200 93,523
DIRECTY Financing LLC

8.875%, 02/01/2030 7 6,818
DIRECTY Financing LLC/Directw Financing Co-
Obligor, Inc

5.875%, 081572027 60 59,637

10.00%, 021572031 52 50,127
Discovery Communications LLC

5.00%, 0972002037 33 23,907
DISH DBS Corp

5.125%, 0&/01/2029 165 120,352

5.25%, 12/01/2026 34 31,979

5.75%, 12/0172028 145 129412
Evy Scripps Co. (The)

9.875%, 081572030 15 14,907
Gray Meda, Inc.

5.375%, 1111572031 3 5,907

7.25%, 08M15/2033 20 16,8697

9.625%, 07/15/2032 26 26,252
iHeartCommunications, Inc

T.75%, 081152030 34 26,413

9.125%, 05/01/2029 40 33,408
LCPR Senior Secured Financing DAC

5.125%, 071572029 200 135,924
MeGraw-Hill Education, Inc.

5.75%, 08/01/2028 30 29,906
Millennium Escraow Corp

B.625%, 0&/01/2026 100 94,687
Meptune Bidco US| Inc

9.29%, 04/115/2029 40 38,719
Mexstar Media, Inc

4.75%, 11/01/2028 1" 10,689
Paramount Global

4.20%, 06/01/2029 7 6813

5
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6.375%, 0X30/2062 uso 21 % 20,701
Sinclair Television Group, Inc
8.125%, 02152033 38 38,862
Sirius XM Radio LLC
3.875%, 090172031 74 65,295
4.00%, 071152028 132 125,736
5.00%, 08/01/2027 23 22747
Snap, Inc.
6.875%, 0X01/2033 A7 45,167
Stagwell Glabal LLC
5.625%, 08/15/2029 17 16,348
Time Warner Cable LLC
6.55%, 05/01/2037 21 21,598
6.75%, 06/15/2039 20 20,532
7.30%, 07/01/2038 19 20,520
Univision Communications, Inc
7.375%, 063072030 70 69,662
8.00%, 0815/2028 43 44,188
8.50%, 07/31/2031 56 56,922
Yeritiy Operating Co
10.50%, 11/3002030 17 18,431
Warnermedia Holdings, Inc
4.28%, 03/15/2032 138 117,026
5.05%, 03M15/2042 125 83,558
5.14%, 02315/2052 17 10,520
2,528,582
Communications - Telecommunications - 2.7%
Altice France SA
5.125%, 07115/2029 200 174,653
EchoStar Corp
6.75%, 11/30/203D (a® 78 73715
10.75%, 1173002029 66 69,725
Frontier Communications Holdings LLC
6.75%, 05/01/2029 30 30,294
GCILLC
4.75%, 10/15/2028 9 2,684
Level 3 Financing, Inc.
10.75%, 12/15/2030 57 83,957
11.00%, 11/15/2029 43 48,600
TELUS Corp.
6.625%, 1001572055 27 27,354
7.00%, 10152055 35 35,533
Windstream Services LLCAWWindstream Escrow
Finance Corp
8.25%, 10/01/2031 31 32,479
564,994
Consumer Cyclical - Automotive - 5.3%
Adient Global Holdings Ltd
7.50%, 0215/2033 13 13,258
8.25%, 041512031 3z 33,447
Amencan Axle & Manufacturing, Inc.
6.50%, 04/01/2027 16 16,020
Ford Motor Co
3.25%, 021212032 118 100,842
Ford Motor Credt Co. LLC
4.00%, 11132020 221 203,088
Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co. iThe)
6.625%, 07152030 51 51,881
Jaguar Land Rover Automotive PLC
5.875%, 011572028 257 257,393
JE Poindexter & Co_, Inc
8.75%, 1215/2031 9 9,190
Missan Motor Acceptance Co. LLC
1.85%, 09116/2026 39 ar412
Ph General Purchaser LLC
450%, 10/01/2028 106 82,3095
Tenneco, Inc
8.00%, 1117/2028 78 77432
]
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Titan International, Inc

7.00%, 04302028 usD 88 % 87,762

ZF Morth America Capital, Inc
7.125%, 04142030 150 145,295
1115916

Consumer Cyclical - Entertainment - 1.3%
Camival Corp.

5.75%, 03/01/2027 14 14,129

5.75%, 03152020 21 21,302
Lindblad Expeditions LLC

6.75%, 021512027 34 34,069
Live Mation Entertainment, Inc.

3.75%, 0115/2028 21 20,405
MNCL Corp., Ltd.

5.875%, 02152027 3 3,008

T.75%, 02152029 26 27,599

8.125%, 01/15/2029 31 32,589
SeaWorld Parks & Entertainment, Inc

5.25%, 0815/2029 21 20,484
Wiking Cruises Ltd

5.875%, 091572027 38 27,954
WO C Escrow Lid.

5.00%, 021512028 55 54,484

266,023

—_—

Consumetr Cyclical - Other - 86%
AmenTex HoldCo Intermediate LLC
T.625%, 081572033 24 24,406
10.25%, 10/15/2028 g 3494
Erooldield Residential Properties, Inc /Brookfisld
Residential US LLC

4.875%, 0215/2030 23 20,943

6.25%, 09M15/2027 94 93,862
CDER Smokey Buyer, Inc /Radio Systems Corp

9.50%, 1015/2029 23 19,125
CP Aflas Buyer, Inc

9.75%, 07115/2030 16 16,148
Full House Resarts, Inc

8.25%, 02152028 7 6,770
Great Canadian Gaming Corp./Raptor LLC

8.75%, 111512029 98 96,008
Hilton Domestic Operating Co., Inc.

3.75%, 05/01/2029 23 21,913

5.75%, 05/01/2028 3 2,003

5.75%, 09/15/2033 2 2,002

5.875%, 04/01/2029 23 23,369

Hilton Grand Wacations Borrower LLC/Hilton
Grand Vacations Borrower, Inc

4.875%, 07/01/2031 41 7,753

5.00%, 06/01/2029 83 79,412

6.625%, 01711572032 5 5,060
Installed Building Products, Inc

5.75%, 02/01/2028 8 5,984
Jacobs Entertainment, Inc

6.75%, 0215/2029 8 7797
JH Morth America Holdings, Inc

5.875%, 0173172031 7 7.037

6.125%, 07/31/2032 32 32,362
Las Vegas Sands Corp

5.625%, 0B/15/2028 37 37,584

£.00%, 06/14/2030 25 25,730
LGl Homes, Inc

7.00%, 11/115/2032 24 23,079
Marriott Ownership Resorts, Inc

4.50%, 06/15/2029 122 164332
Masterbrand, Inc.

7.00%, 071512032 58 59,017
Mattamy Group Corp.

4 625%, 030172030 49 47,004

7
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MDC Holdings, Inc

6.00%, 01115/2043 usD 172 % 156,747
IMohegan Tribal Gaming Authorityh1S Digital
Entertainment Holdings LLC

3.25%, 041152030 24 24,869

11.875%, 04¢/15/2031 33 34,399
Resorts World Las Vegas LLCRWLY Capital, Inc

4.625%, 04/16/2029 200 177,724
Standard Industries, Inc /WY

4.375%, 07152030 70 66,277

4.75%, 011152028 95 93,838

5.00%, 02152027 5 5,000
Taylor Marrison Communities, Inc.

5.75%, 0115/2028 35 35,329

5.875%, 061572027 26 26,210
Thor Industries, Inc.

4.00%, 10/15/2029 99 92,838
Travel & Leisure Co.

4.50%, 12/01/2029 39 37447

4.625%, 03012030 99 94,994

B.625%, 0T/31/2026 58 58,442
Woyager Parent LLC

9.25%, 07/01/2032 51 53,963
Wynn Resorts Finance LLCAynn Resorts Capital
Corp

5.125%, 10/01/2029 19 18,848

1,797,214

Consumer Cyclical - Restaurants - 1.0%
1011778 BC ULC/New Red Finance, Inc.

2.50%, 02152029 29 27476
2.879%, 0111572028 38 36,672
4.00%, 10152020 84 77,828
6.125%, 06/15/2029 58 59,254

201,230

Consumer Cyclical - Retailers - 6.0%
Advance Auto Parts, Inc.

7.00%, 08/01/2030 38 38,195

T.375%, 08/01/2033 21 21,005
Arlo Corp.

5.125%, 1111572029 43 39,355
Asbury Automotive Group, Inc

A 625%, 11152029 52 49,908
Bath & Body Warks, Inc.

6.95%, 03/01/2033 42 43,153

7.60%, 07152037 ] 6,118
Carvana Co

5.50%, 0415/2027 22 21,505

9.00%, 06/01/2030 (3 ® 67 70,239

9.00%, DB/01/2031 (3 56 66,592
Champ Acquisition Corp

8.375%, 12/01/2031 8 8470
Cougar JY Subsidiary LLC

300%, 051152032 46 43,628
FirstCash, Inc.

4 625%, 090172028 114 111,504
Gap,Inc. (The)

3.625%, 10/01/2029 58 53,445
Global Auto Holdings Ltd/AAG FH UK Ltd

8.375%, 01/15/2029 24 22,367

8.75%, 0115/2032 24 21,074
Group 1 Automotive, Inc

4.00%, 08/15/2028 7 6,746

6.375%, 0171572030 12 12,243
Kontoor Brands, Inc.

4.125%, 11/15/2029 60 55,812
LCM Investments Haoldings || LLC

4.875%, 050172029 3 2918

8.25%, 08/01/2031 35 37,005

g
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Macy's Retail Holdings LLC

5.875%, 03152030 usD 1M % 10,864

6.125%, 031572032 3 2874
Michaels Cos., Inc. (The)

5.25%, 05/01/2028 13 10,389

7.875%, 05/01/2029 16 10,692
MNordstrom, Inc

4.375%, 04/01/2030 40 36,444

5.00%, 0115/2044 29 19,648
0 Building Products, Inc.

6.75%, 04/30/2032 45 46,357
S&S5 Holdings LLC

8.375%, 10/01/2031 9 8,629
Sals Global Enterprises LLC

11.00%, 121572029 20 4,650
Sonic Automative, Inc

4 625%, 11152029 59 56,742

4.875%, 11152031 21 19,761

Specialty Building Products Holdings LLCISBP
Finance Corp.

7.75%, 10M5/2029 98 94,029
Staples, Inc

10.75%, 09/01/2029 70 65,586

12 75%, 017152030 42 29,675
YE Corp.

2.95%, 04/23/2030 78 54,374
White Cap Buyer LLC

B.875%, 10/15/2028 51 50,889

1,267 971

_—e

Consumer Non-Cyclical - 10.4%
AdaptHealth LLC
4.625%, 08/01/2029 96 89,974
5.125%, 030172030 17 15,881
Albertsons Cos., Inc./Safeway, Inc./Mew
Albertsons LP/Albertsons LLC

2.50%, 0215/2029 129 121,728
Amneal Pharmaceuticals LLC

6.875%, 0&/01/2032 18 18,269
B&G Foods, Inc.

8.00%, 0915/2028 31 28,993
Bausch & Lomb Corp

8.375%, 10/01/2028 105 109,742
Bausch Health Americas, Inc

350%, 0173172027 43 42 621
Bausch Health Cos., Inc.

4. 875%, 06/01/2028 31 27,419

11.00%, 09/30/2028 21 216,783
Charles River Laboratories International, Inc

4.25%, 05/01/2028 20 19,419
CHS/Community Health Systemns, Inc.

4.75%, 021152031 38 31,783

5.625%, 031572027 113 113,189

6.875%, 04/15/2029 71 55,643

Q75%, 011512034 71 71,458

10.875%, 01/15/2032 4 4,198
CVE Health Corp.

6. 75%, 121102054 5] 6,016

7.00%, 0311012055 53 54,601
DaVita, Inc

2.75%, 02152031 73 66,222

4 625%, 06/01/2030 131 125,017
Embecta Corp

5.00%, 02M15/2030 103 93,410
Emergent BioSolutions, Inc.

3.875%, 08152028 106 81,827
Fortrea Holdings, Inc.

7.50%, 07/01/2030 28 25,574
Halogic, Inc.

3.25%, 02M15/2029 111 105,107

9
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Insulet Corp.

6.50%, 04/01/2033 usD 9 9,256
KeHE Distributors LLC/KeHE Finance
Corp fMextWave Distribution, Inc

9.00%, 021152029 15 15,652
LifePoint Health, Inc.

8.375%, 01572032 45 47,901

9.875%, 081572030 49 52,869

11.00%, 101572030 44 45,413
Medline Borrower LP

3.875%, 04/01/2029 114 108,715
MPH Acquisition Holdings LLC

5.75%, 12/31/2030 " 8,965

6.75%, 03/31/2031 (9 50 38,979

11.50%, 1273172030 @® 17 16,875
Meogen Food Safety Corp.

8.625%, OT20/2030 52 52,523
Meweell Brands, Inc

8.50%, 06/01/2028 25 26,225
Owens & Minar, Inc.

4.50%, 03/31/2029 4 3479

6.625%, 04/01/2030 7 6,303
Ferformance Food Group, Inc

4.25%, 08/01/2029 33 31,727
Primo Water Holdings, Inc./Triton Water Holdings,
Inc.

4 375%, 04/30f2029 43 40,425

6.25%, 04/01/2029 20 20,048
Surgery Center Holdings, Inc

7.25%, 0415/2032 45 46,301
Tenet Healthcare Corp

4.25%, 06/01/2029 22 21,223

6.25%, 02/01/2027 13 13,007
US Foods, Inc

6.875%, 09/15/2028 2 2,059
Viatris, Inc

2.70%, 06/22/2030 31 27,485
Whirlpool Corp.

6.125%, 06/15/2030 ] 5,986

6.50%, 06/15/2033 5 5,907

2,175,302

Energy -11.6%
Antero Midstream Partners LP/Antero Midstream
Finance Corp

5.375%, 06/15/2029 122 120,886

5.75%, 03/01/2027 3 3,002

5.75%, 01/115/2028 4 3,995
Aris Water Holdings LLC

T.25%, 04/01/2030 36 36,942
Eavytex Energy Corp.

8.50%, 04/3002030 21 21,366
Blue Racer Midstream LLC/Blue Racer Finance
Cormp

7.00%, 07M15/2029 13 13,482
Buckeye Partners LFP

3.95%, 12/01/2026 4 3,933

5.85%, 11152043 26 23,125

6.875%, 07/01/2029 36 37,025
California Resources Corp

8.25%, 06/15/2029 14 14,278
CITGO Petroleun Corp

6.375%, 061572026 67 66,962

8.375%, 01/15/2029 21 21,824
Clvitas Resources, Inc.

F375%, 0702028 36 37,064

8.75%, 07/01/2031 12 12,148
CNX Resources Corp

6.00%, 01/115/2029 40 29,963

7.375%, 0111572031 4 4,132
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Comstock Resources, Inc.

5.875%, 01715/2030 usD 22 20,756

6.75%, 02/01/2029 24 23,794
Crescent Energy Finance LLC

T 625%, 04/01/2032 32 31,281
Delek Logistics Partners LP/Celek Logistics
Finance Corp

7.375%, 0B/30/2033 42 41,490

8.625%, 03152029 42 43,695
Encino Acquisition Partners Holdings LLC

8.50%, 05/01/2028 35 35,744
Energy Transfer LP

8.00%, 0515/2054 23 24,511
Excelerate Energy LP

2.00%, 0515/2030 93 97,391
Genesis Energy LP/Genesis Energy Finance
Corp

7.75%, 02/01/2028 55 55,551

8.25%, 0115/2029 50 52,114
Global Partners LF/GLP Finance Corp

B.875%, 0171572029 71 71,938
Hess Midstream Operations LP

5.125%, 0B15/2028 28 27,873

5.875%, 0X01/2028 10 10,168
Hilcorp Energy | LP/MHilcorp Finance Co.

5.75%, 02/01/2029 25 24,513

6.00%, 02/01/2031 15 14,481

6.25%, 04/15/2032 3 2,880

7.25%, 02M5/2035 43 41,858

8.375%, 1170172033 24 25,068
Howard Midstream Energy Partners LLC

F875%, 07152028 59 61,663
ITT Holdings LLC

6.50%, 08/01/2029 106 100,861
Kimmeridge Texas Gas LLC

8.50%, 02M15/2030 g 8219
Kraken Ol & Gas Partners LLC

T.625%, 08/15/2029 3 7.837
Ioss Creek Resaources Holdings, Inc

8.25%, 08/01/2031 32 31,228
Murphy Cil Corp

6.00%, 10/01/2032 33 21,631
Mabors [ndustries, Inc.

7.375%, 05152027 2 2,018

9.125%, 01/31/2030 45 44,577
MNFE Financing LLC

12.00%, 1111572029 123 43,267
MuStar Logistics LP

5.625%, 047282027 3 3,015

6.00%, 06/01/2026 3 3,010

6.375%, 10/01/2030 20 20,613
Parkland Corp

4.50%, 10/01/2029 56 53,923

4.625%, 050172030 22 21,098

5.875%, 052027 20 20,020

6.625%, 08/15/2032 20 20,404
FEF Holding Co. LLC/PBF Finance Corp

6.00%, 02M15/2028 9 8,664

7.875%, 09/15/2030 24 21,904

9.875%, 03152030 3z 31,714
Permian Resources Operating LLC

5.875%, 07/01/2029 15 15,001

6.25%, 02/01/2033 43 43,178
Rockies Exprass Fipeline LLC

6.875%, 04/15/2040 45 45,395
Summit Midstream Holdings LLC

8.625%, 10/31/2029 32 32,568
Sunoco LP

7.00%, 05/01/2029 20 20,769
Sunoco LPfSunoco Finance Corp

4 50%, 051152029 58 56,113
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4.50%, 04/30/2030 uso " 10,538
6.00%, 04/15/2027 79 78,955
7.00%, 0915/2028 2 2,081
Tallgrass Energy Partners LP/Tallgrass Ensrgy
Finance Corp
6.00%, 12/31/2030 17 16,658
6.00%, 09/01/2031 4 3913
Talos Production, Inc.
9.00%, 02/01/2029 14 14,358
TransMontaigne Partners LLC
8.50%, 0B/15/2030 51 53,204
Transocean Aquila Ltd
8.00%, 09/30y2028 29 28,960
Transocean Poseidon Ltd
6.875%, 0012027 17 16,802
Transocean, Inc.
8.75%, 02M5/2030 3z 33,165
Venture Global Calcasieu Pass LLC
3.875%, 08152029 3 2830
Venture Global LNG, Inc
8.375%, O&/01/2031 65 87,192
9.50%, 02/01/2029 38 41,433
9.875%, 02/01/2032 91 98,187
Wenture Global Plaquemines LNG LLC
6.50%, 01/115/2024 46 47,215
B.75%, 0115/2036 22 22,629
Wital Energy, Inc
T7.875%, 04115/2032 35 30,737
Wildfire Intermediate Holdings LLC
7.50%, 10152029 10 9,957
2,433,021
Qther Industrial - 0.9%
Clug Opco LLC
9.50%, 1015/2031 12 12,725
Dealer Tire LLC/DT Issuer LLC
2.00%, 02/01/2028 47 46,060
Gates Corp./DE
B.875%, 07/01/2029 " 11,330
REB Glabal Holdings, Inc
6.75%, 0315/2028 33 33,802
7.75%, 031512031 20 20,973
Steelcase, Inc
5.125%, 017182029 7 6,907
Yelocity Vehicle Group LLC
8.00%, 06/01/2029 53 53,701
185498
Services - 4.2%
Allied Universal Holdco LLC
T.875%, 0211572031 15 15,731
ANGI Group LLC
3.875%, 081572028 98 91,277
Aramark Services, Inc.
5.00%, 02/01/2028 66 65,357
Block, Inc.
2.75%, 06/01/2026 87 85,207
Clarivate Science Holdings Corp
3.875%, 0701/2028 57 54,580
4.875%, 0T/01/2029 67 62,842
Garda World Security Corp
A 625%, 021572027 37 36,638
6.00%, 06/01/2029 23 22,521
8.25%, 08/01/2032 49 50,525
8.375%, 111572032 30 30,909
Matthews International Corp.
8.625%, 10/01/2027 19 19,778
Frime Security Services Borrower LLC/Prime
Finance, Inc
3.375%, 0&/31/2027 32 30,888
5. 75%, 0411572026 9 9,037
12
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Raven Acquisition Holdings LLC
6.875%, 111152031 usD 97 97,971
Sabre GLEL, Inc.
10.75%, 1111572029 63 70,035
11.125%, 07¢/15/2030 54 57,009
Shiftd Payments LLC/Shiftd Payments Finance
Sub, Inc
6.75%, 08/15/2032 73 75,379
875,774
Technology - 3.3%
Ahead DE Holdings LLC
6.625%, 05/01/2028 50 50,098
Amentum Holdings, Inc
7.25%, 08/01/2032 95 93,286
AthenaHealth Group, Inc.
6.50%, 021152030 58 57,020
CommScope LLC
9.50%, 12152031 63 66,262
Conduent Business Services LLC/Conduent State
& Local Solutions, Inc
6.00%, 11/01/2029 g 7,620
Diebold Nixdarf, Inc.
7.75%, 03/31/2030 16 16,959
Gen Digital, Inc
6.75%, 09/30/2027 23 23,394
GoTo Group, Inc
5.50%, 05/01/2028 59 32,251
Imola Merger Corp
4.75%, 05/15/2029 102 98,893
Flaytika Holding Corp
4.25%, 02115/2029 108 99,026
Rackspace Finance LLC
350%, 051512028 123 58,271
Rocket Software, Inc
9.00%, 11/28/2028 37 38,181
Yirtusa Corp.
TA25%, 12152028 46 43,948
Western Cigital Corp
4.75%, 02M15/2026 9 8,979
599,208
Transportation - Airlines - 2.3%
Allegiant Travel Co
7.25%, 0852027 92 92,056
American Airlines, Inc f/AAdvantage Loyalty 1P Lid
5.50%, 0472002026 18 17,980
5.75%, 0472002029 162 161,600
JetBlue Ainways Corp fJetBlue Loyalty LP
9.875%, 09/20/2031 105 101,557
OneSlky Flight LLC
8.875%, 121572029 9 9485
Spirit Loyalty Cayman Ltd/Spirit IP Cayman Ltd.
11.00%, 0312/2030 @ 20 12,723
United Airlines, Inc
A.375%, 04/15/2026 25 24,849
4 625%, 0411572029 55 53,680
473,936
Transpottation - Services -2.0%
Alta Equipment Group, Inc.
9.00%, 06/01/2029 8 7599
Avis Budget Car Rental LLC/Avis Budget Finance,
Inc.
4.75%, 04/01/2028 29 27,9322
5.375%, 0X01/2029 60 57,743
8.00%, 02115/2031 31 31,649
325%, 01152030 12 12,357
8.375%, 06B15/2032 10 10,314
Beacon Mobility Corp
7.25%, 08/01/2020 71 72,337
13
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PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS (continued)

Principal
Amount
{000) U.S. § Value
Dcli Bidco LLC
7.75%, 1115/2029 usD 17 % 17,341
Hertz Corp. (The)
A 625%, 120172026 45 40,695
12.625%, 07/15/2029 35 36,585
FROG Holdings, Inc
6.00%, 1115/2029 100 96,527
Rand Parent LLC
8.50%, 02M15/2030 13 13,072
424 141
16,856,645
Financial Institutions - 10.7%
Banking - 1.9%
Ally Financial, Inc
6.65%, 01117/2040 21 20,858
6.70%, 021412033 23 23,876
Eread Financial Holdings, Inc.
8.375%, 081572038 25 25,833
9.75%, 03152029 g2 87,969
Intesa Sanpaclo SpA
5.71%, 011512026 200 200432
Synchrony Financial
7.25%, 02/02/2033 49 51,565
410533
Brokerage - 2.2%
AG IssuerLLC
6.25%, 03/01/2028 " 10,994
AG TTMT Escraw Issuer LLC
2.625%, 09/30/2027 48 49,292
Arstec Group, Inc.
T.50%, 04/01/2029 20 19,999
10.00%, 08/15/2030 73 79,665
Hightawer Holding LLC
6.75%, 04/15/2029 4 3,987
9.125%, 0173172030 49 52,110
Jane Street Group/JSG Finance, Inc
6.75%, 05/01/2033 53 54,262
TA25%, 0473002031 51 52,689
Osaic Holdings, Inc.
6.75%, 08/01/2032 ] 6,073
2.00%, 08/01/2033 13 13,208
10.75%, 080172027 61 51,000
YWFH Parent LLC/Valor Co-Issuer, Inc
7.50%, 06/15/2031 67 69,717
472,991
Finance - 3.5%
CNG Holdings, Inc
14.50%, 06/30r2026 36 32,400
Compass Group Diversified Holdings LLC
5.25%, 0415/2029 70 65,015
Curo SPV LLC
13.00%, 08/02/2027 (& 40 39,399
Enova International, Inc.
9.125%, 0&/01/2029 128 135,156
Freedom Mortgage Holdings LLC
8.375%, 04/01/2032 42 42,898
9.25%, 02/01/2029 31 32415
GGAM Finance Ltd.
7.75%, 0515/2026 24 24,173
8.00%, 021512027 22 22,666
8.00%, 06/15/2028 37 39,100
goeasy Lid.
T375%, 10702030 20 20,389
7.625%, 07/01/2029 64 65,912
9.25%, 12/01/2028 29 30,691
Mavient Corp.
5.50%, 03/115/2029 102 99,801
Q.375%, OT25/2030 30 32,812
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PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS (continued)

Principal
Amount
{000) U.S. § Value
11.50%, 031572031 uso 23 % 25,830
Flanet Financial Group LLC
10.50%, 121572029 7 7147
Sl Corp.
3125%, 11102026 12 11,712
727517
Financial Services - 0.8%
Armor Holdco, Inc
8.50%, 1115/2029 118 113,388
Herc Holdings, Inc.
7.00%, 06/M15/2030 24 24,782
7.25%, 06/15/2033 24 24,869
163,039
Insurance - 1.1%
Acrisure LLC/Acrisure Finance, Inc.
4.25%, 021152029 4 3817
6.00%, 08/01/2029 10 Q752
7.50%, 11/06/2030 23 23,758
8.25%, 02/01/2029 28 28,923
8.50%, 06/15/2029 18 18,802
AMmAWNG Group, Inc.
6.375%, 0X15/2020 18 18,330
APH Somerset Investor 2 LLCAPH2 Somerset
Investor 2 LLC/APH3 Somerset Inves
T.875%, 1170172029 12 12,268
AssuredPartners, Inc.
5.625%, 0171572029 24 23,95
Centene Corp
2.50%, 03/01/2031 24 20,148
2 625%, 08/01/2031 19 15,875
3.00%, 1015/2030 33 28,718
Liberty hMutual Group, Inc
T.80%, 03152037 18 21,062
225498
REITs - 1.2%
Erooldield Property REIT, Inc/BPR Cumulus
LLC/BPR Nimbus LLO/GGS! Sellco LL
4.50%, 04/01/2027 40 38,806
CarelLogic, Inc
4.50%, 05/01/2028 " 10,367
Five Point Operating Co. LP/Five Point Capital
Corp
10.50%, 01/15/2028 ® 71 72,085
MFT Operating Partnership LF/MPT Finance
Cormp
8.50%, 021512032 18 18,725
MNewmark Group, Inc.
7.50%, 01122029 63 66,876
Rithm Capital Corp
8.00%, 04/01/2029 12 12,265
Service Properties Trust
8.375%, 061572029 26 27,002
26,218
225792
Utility - 0.8%
Electric - 0.8%
MNRG Energy, Inc
3.375%, 02152029 39 36,614
5.25%, 0B15/2029 55 54,388
5.75%, 0715/2029 68 67,902
Yistra Operations Co. LLC
5.625%, 02152027 3 2,996
161,900
Total Corporates - Mon-Investment Grade
{cost $20,298,129) 19,264 337
15
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PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS (continued)

Principal
Amount
{000} U.S. § Value
CORPORATES - INVESTMENT GRADE -7.1%
Industrial - 4.7%
Basic - 0.1%
Glencore Funding LLC
5.63%, 04/04/2034 usp 26 26,530
Capital Goods -0.0%
GFL Environmental, Inc
2.50%, 09/01/2028 3 2,889
Consumer Cyclical - Automotive - 0.9%
General Motors Financial Co |, Inc
2.35%, 01/08/2031 15 13,088
2.70%, 06/10/2031 51 44,743
2.60%, 06/21/2020 7 6577
6.10%, 01/07/2024 22 22,701
6.40%, 01/09/2033 31 32,618
Harley-Davidson Financial Services, Inc.
6.50%, 0310/2028 64 56,186
185,893
Consumer Cyclical - Entertainment - 1.7%
Carnival Corp.
4.00%, 08/01/2028 118 114,622
Royal Caribbean Cruises Ltd
5.375%, 07152027 63 63,292
5.50%, 08/31/2026 58 58,184
5.50%, 04/01/2028 127 128497
364,585
Consumer Non-Cyclical - 0.2%
Altria Group, Inc
6.875%, 11/01/2033 30 33,378
Energy - 1.6%
Continental Resources, Inc fOK
2.875%, 04/01/2032 40 33,829
4.90%, 06/01/2044 17 13,350
5.75%, 0115/2031 19 19,098
EQT Corp
4.50%, 01/15/2029 57 56,342
4.75%, 01152031 60 59,004
Harbour Energy PLC
£.33%, 04/01/2035 87 87,089
Woodside Finance Ltd
540%, 05192020 17 17,262
6.00%, 05192035 39 29,907
3254972
Transportation - Airlines - 0.2%
AS Mileage Plan IP Ltd
5.02%, 10/20/2029 18 17,868
5.31%, 1072002031 30 29,787
47,653
986,910
Financial Institutions - 2.0%
Banking - 1.7%
Ally Financial, Inc
5.54%, 0117/2031 14 14,177
5.74%, 0515/2029 13 13,240
6.85%, 01/03/2030 31 32,669
2.00%, 11/01/2021 19 21,459
Capital One Financial Corp.
7.62%, 10/30/2031 43 47275
7.96%, 11/02/2034 30 34,923
Citigroup, Inc
5.59%, 11192034 17 17,229
5.83%, 02132035 47 47,801
Santander Holdings USA, Inc
547%, 02/20/2029 g 2,126
5.74%, 0312012031 26 26,745
16
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PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS (continued)

Principal
Amount
{000) U.S. § Value
Synchrony Financial
5.45%, 03/06/2031 usD 18 % 18,125
5.935%, 08/02/2030 25 25,662
Toronto-Cominion Bank (The)
5.15%, 0911072034 40 40,213
347 654
Insurance - 0.2%
Athene Global Funding
1.985%, 081972028 22 20,408
5.53%, 07/11/2031 30 30,569
50,875
REITs -0.1%
Omega Healthcare Investors, Inc.
5.20%, 07/01/2030 16 16,048
414 677
Utility - 0.4%
Electric - 0.4%
MNiagara Mohawk Power Corp
5.29%, 0117/2034 21 21,042
MNRG Energy, Inc
7.00%, 03M15/2033 22 24,131
Yistra Operations Co. LLC
5.70%, 1213002034 44 44,781
59,954
Total Corporates - Investment Grade
{cost $1458,921) 1,491,541
EMERGING MARKETS - CORPORATE BONDS - 0.1%
Ltility -0.1%
Electric - 0.1%
Terraform Global Operating LP
6.125%, 0X01/2026
(cost $22,000) 22 21,801
WARRANTS -0.0%
Industrial - 0.0%
Transportation Infrastructure - 0.0%
Spirit Arlines LLC, expiring 03/12/2030
{cost $5,430) 362 1481
Shares
COMMON STOCKS - 0.0%
Industrial - 0.0%
Transportation Infrastructure - 0.0%
Spirit Airlines LLC 35 143
Energy - 0.0%
Energy Equipment & Services - 0.0%
BIS Industries Holdings Ltd @ 124,651 0
Tota Commaon Stocks
{cost $12492) 143
Principal
Amount
(000)
SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS - 1.7%
Time Deposits - 1.7%
ANZ, Hong Kong
2.49%, 08/01/2025 AUD o 15
17
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PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS (continued)

Principal
Amount
{000} U.S. $ Value

SMEC, London

3.68%, 08/01/2025 usD 357 § 357,223
Total Time Deposits

{cost $357,238) 357,238
Total Investments - 100.9%

{cost $22,154,210) 21,136,541
Other assets less liabilities - (0.9)% 183 8605
Net Assets - 100.0% $ 20952936

Forward Foreign Currency Contracts

Unrealized
Appreciation
00 of Net Assets (Depreciation)
Warious Appreciated Contracts 0.05% 3 11,128
Various Depreciated Contracts (0.34)% 3 (71,966)
Total Forward Foreign Currency Contracts (0.29)% 3 (60,838)

- Principal amownt less than 500

(8 Pay-nKind Payments (PiK). The issuer may pay cash interest andior iferest in
acditional debf secunties. Rates shown are the rafes in effed at July 37, 2025

() Coupon rate adjusts periodically based upon a predelermined scheduie. Stafed
inferest rafe in effect af July 37, 2025

{c)  Securlfy In which significant unobservable inpuls (Level 3) were used In defermining
fair vaiue.

(e Defaulted maiured securty.

(8} Falrvalued by the Adviser.

Currency Abbreviations

AUD - Australian Dollar
UsD - United States Dollar
Glossary.

REIT -  Real Estate Irvestment Trust

See ndies to financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF ASSETS & LIABILITIES

July 31, 2024

Assets
Investments in securities, at value (cost $24,749.871) .. ............ $ 22,605,618
Cash L s 2,746
Interestreceivable. . ... i i e e e, 372,629
Unrealized appreciation on forward foreign currency contracts. . .. .. .. 6,955
Receivable for investment securitiessold . . ............ .. ... 5,767
Total @SSElS. . . vttt e 22,993,715
Liabilities
Payable for investment securities purchased ..................... 322,766
Professional fees payable. . .......... ... i i i 91,771
Investment Managementfeepayable .. .......... ... ..o o 53,759
Distribution fee payable. .. .. .. ... . 11,665
AgentCompanyfeepayable. ....... ... ..o i it i 571
Managementfee payable . ...... ... it i 194
Unrealized depreciation on forward foreign currency contracts. . . ... .. 48
AGCTUE BXPENSES. .« « ot vt it i et et e et e 37,010
Total liabilities . .. .. ... e 517,784
Net ASSEES. . . oottt e $ 22,475,931
Net Asset
Value In
Units Net Asset Offered
Class Net Assets Qutstanding Value currency
AUD $ 3,222,806 554,760 § 5.81 AUD
uUsb $ 19,253,125 2,161,220 $ 891 %

See nofes to financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Year Ended July 31, 2024

Investment Income

Interest . .. ... s

Expenses

Investment Managementfee. ... ......... ... ... ... ..
Managementfee . ... ... ... . .
Distributionfee. . ........ oo i
Professionalfees . . ....... ... i
Administrativefee. . .. ... .

Custodian fee

Trustee fee

Netinvestmentincome. ... ..... ... ... ... . . ...

Realized and Unrealized Gain (Loss) on Investment and
Foreign Currency Transactions
Net realized (loss) on:

Investmenttransactions. . .............. ... oL
Foreign currency transactions. . .. ......... ... ... ..

Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on:

Investments. .. ... .o
Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities. . . . . .
Net gain on investment and foreign currency transactions. . . .
Net Increase in Net Assets from Operations ..........

See nofes to financial statements.

Transferagencyfee .. ... ... . i i i
Registrationfee . . ... i
Printingfee ... i e
AgentCompanyfee .. ... .. i i
Miscellaneousfee. ......... .. ..o i i
Total expenses. . . . ..o e

1,608,011 1,608,011
217,399
2,288
114,420
103,146
63,941
28,560
25,373
10,681
10,345
10,000
6,865
12,630

605,648

1,002,363

(740,519)

(162,141)

1,541,807

14,974

654,121

1,656,484

MIZUHO AB TRUST SERIES - MIZUHO US HIGH INCOME BOND FUND

— 180 —



STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Year ended
July 31, 2024

Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets from Operations

Net investmentincome . ... ... .o i i i i i $ 1,002,363
Net realized loss on investment and foreign currency
transactions. . . . ... ... e (902,660)

Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on
investments and foreign currency denominated assets and

liabilities . . ... 1,556,781
Net increase in net assets from operations. . ............. 1,656,484
Distributions to Unitholders

Class AUD . . ..t e e (156,052)
Class USD . . ... e (855,306)
Total Distributions to Unitholders. . .................... (1,011,358)
Unit Transactions
Subscriptions. . . ... e 59,108
Redemptions . . . . ... e (1,820,171)
Total Unit Transactions. . .. ... ... it (1,761,085)
Totaldecrease. . . ... ... i e (1,115,939)
Net Assets
Beginningofyear. . ... . e 23,591,870
Endofyear ... ... .. it $ 22,475,931

See nofes to financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
July 31, 2024

1. Organization

Mizuho AB Trust Series (the “Trust”) is an open-ended exempted umbrella unit trust established under the Trusts Act of the Cayman
Tslands. The Trust operates as a series trust currently comprised of one portfolio: Mizuho US High Income Bond Fund (the “Sub-
Fund”). The registered office of the Sub-Fund is c¢/o Intertrust Trustees (Cayman) Limited (the “Trustee”) One Nexus Way Grand
Cayman KY1-9005, Cayman Islands. The Sub-Fund’s objective is to achieve high current income and long-term growth of capital by
primarily investing in a diversified portfolio of high yield bonds denominated in United States (“U.S.”) Dollars (“$”). There can be no
assurance that the Sub-Fund will achieve its investment objective or generate investment returns.

The Sub-Fund is regulated as a mutual fund under the Mutual Funds Act (2021 Revision) of the Cayman Islands and accordingly is
regulated by the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority.

Currently the Sub-Fund has available for issue two classes of Units (Note 3), Class AUD Units designated to Australian Dollar
(*AUD”) and Class USD Units designated to U.S. $. Each currency in which the Units are offered is known as the offered currency
(“Offered Currency™). The Offered Currency for Class AUD is AUD. The Offered Currency for Class USD is U.S. §.

Asset Management One Co., Ltd. serves as the Investment Manager (the “Investment Manager”) and AllianceBernstein L.P. serves as
the Sub-Manager and Management Company (the “Sub-Manager” or “Management Company”).

The Sub-Fund will terminate on July 31, 2027, unless the Sub-Manager determines in consultation with the Trustee that it is in the
best interest of Unitholders to terminate the Sub-Fund prior to such date. The Management Company, in consultation with the Trustee,
also may terminate the Sub-Fund if the net asset value of the Sub-Fund is below $30 million.

At this time, the Management Company has determined it is not in the best interest of the Unitholders to terminate the Sub-Fund.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“U.S. GAAP”) and are expressed in U.S. §. This Sub-Fund is an investment company under U.S. GAAP and follows the
accounting and reporting guidance applicable to investment companies.

Valuation of Investments in Securities

Securities listed on an exchange are valued at the last sale price reflected on the consolidated tape at the close of the exchange on the
business day (each bank business day in New York and each bank business day in Japan and/or any other day which the Sub-Manager
(or an entity designated by the Sub-Manager) determines, “Business Day”) as of which such value is being determined. If there has
been no sale on such day, the securities are valued at the mean of the closing bid and asked prices on such day. If no bid or asked
prices are quoted on such day, then the security is valued in good faith at fair value by, or in accordance with procedures established
by, the Sub-Manager. Securities traded in the over-the-counter market, including securities listed on an exchange whose primary
market is believed to be over-the-counter (but excluding securities traded on The NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc. (“NASDAQ™)) are
valued at the mean of the current bid and asked prices; securities traded on NASDAQ are valued in accordance with the NASDAQ
Official Closing Price.

U.S. Government securities and any other debt instruments having 60 days or less remaining until maturity are generally valued at
market by an independent pricing vendor, if a market price is available. If a market price is not available, the securities are valued at
amortized cost. This methodology is commonly used for short-term securities that have an original maturity of 60 days or less, as well
as short-term securities that had an original term to maturity that exceeded 60 days. In instances when amortized cost is utilized, the
Valuation Committee (the “Committee™) must reasonably conclude that the utilization of amortized cost is approximately the same as
the fair value of the security. Such factors the Committee will consider include, but are not limited to, an impairment of the
creditworthiness of the issuer or material changes in interest rates.
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Fixed-income securities may be valued on the basis of prices that reflect the market value of such fixed-income securities and that are
provided by a pricing service when such prices are believed to reflect the fair market value of such securities. The prices provided by
a pricing service take into account many factors, including institutional size, trading in similar groups of securities and any
developments related to specific securities. For securities where the Sub-Manager has determined that an appropriate pricing service
does not exist, such securities may be valued on the basis of a quoted bid price or spread from a major broker-dealer in such security.

All other securities will be valued in accordance with readily available market quotations as determined in accordance with procedures
established by the Sub-Manager. In the event that extraordinary circumstances render such a valuation impracticable or inadequate,
the Sub-Manager is authorized to follow other rules prudently and in good faith in order to achieve a fair valuation of the assets of the
Sub-Fund.

Forward Foreign Currency Contracts
Forward foreign currency contracts are valued at the difference between the forward foreign exchange rates at the dates of entry into
the contracts and the forward rates at the reporting date.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Sub-Fund considers all highly liquid investments, with original maturities of less than ninety days, as cash equivalents.

Foreign Currency

Investment securities and other assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. § amounts at the date of
valuation. Purchases and sales of investment securities and income and expense items denominated in foreign currencies are translated
into U.S. § amounts on the respective dates of such transactions.

The Sub-Fund does not isolate the portion of the results of operations resulting from changes in foreign exchange rates on investments
from the fluctuations arising from changes in market prices of securities held. Such fluctuations are included with the net realized gain
(loss) and net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investments in the statement of operations.

Reported net realized gains or losses on foreign currencies arise from sales of foreign currencies, currency gains or losses realized
between the trade and settlement dates on securities transactions, and the difference between the amounts of dividends and interest
recorded on the Sub-Fund’s books and the U.S. $ equivalent of the amounts actually received or paid.

Revenue Recognition

Securities transactions are recorded on a trade-date basis. Dividend income and expense are recognized on the ex-dividend date and
Interest income and expense are recognized on an accrual basis. Realized gains and losses on investment transactions are determined
by the first in, first out method. Discounts which are expected to be realized and premiums on investments are amortized over the
remaining life of the respective investments using the effective interest method.

Allocation of Income and Expenses

The Sub-Fund allocates income and expenses to each class and series pro rata based on the net asset value per share of the applicable
class or series at the beginning of the calculation period. Investment Management Fees are calculated and charged as described in
Note 4. Profit and loss recognized through share class hedging specific to the designated currency of each class as described in Note 5
is allocated to each class.

Income Taxes

Tn accordance with U.S. GAAP requirements regarding accounting for uncertainties in income taxes, management has analyzed the
Sub-Fund’s tax positions taken for the open tax period and has concluded that no provision for income tax is required in the Sub-
Fund’s financial statements.

The Sub-Fund is not subject to tax under current Cayman Islands tax laws but the Sub-Fund may be subject to taxes imposed by
countries in which it invests. Such taxes are generally based on income and/or capital gains earned or repatriated. Taxes are accrued
and applied to net investment income, net realized gains and net unrealized gain (loss) as such income and/or gains are eamned.

The Sub-Fund remains subject to examination by U.S. federal and state jurisdictions, as well as international jurisdictions, for certain
years prior to and including July 31, 2024 and upon completion of these examinations (if undertaken by the taxing jurisdiction) tax
adjustments may be necessary and retroactive to all open tax years.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, if any, at the date of the
financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses recorded during the reporting year. Actual results could differ
from those estimates and such differences could be material.

Indemnification and Warranties

In the ordinary course of its business, the Sub-Fund has entered into contracts or agreements that contain indemnifications or
warranties. Future events could occur that lead to the execution of these provisions against the Sub-Fund. The maximum exposure to
the Sub-Fund under these provisions is unknown as this would involve future claims that have not yet occurred.

3. Unit Transactions

Description of Units

The number of Units authorized to be issued is unlimited and shall be without par value. Each Unit represents an undivided beneficial
interest in the Sub-Fund with the result that the amount payable to a Unitholder upon termination of the Sub-Fund will equal its share
of the net asset value attributable to the relevant Class of Units divided by all Units of the Class then outstanding. All Units of a Class
convey, upon issue, the same rights as to repurchase and distributions. Each of the Units has equal rights and privileges with each
other Unit, including the right to one vote per Unit.

The Sub-Fund currently offers, and in the future may offer, without consent of the Unitholders, various Classes of Units with differing
fee structures and subscription requirements to meet the needs of certain classes of investors or to conform to market practice or
requirements in certain jurisdictions.

The Management Company/Investment Manager may, at any time at its discretion, temporarily discontinue, cease indefinitely or limit
the issue of Units to investors resident or established in certain countries or territories. The Management Company/Investment
Manager may also prohibit certain investors from acquiring Units if necessary for the protection of the Unitholders as a whole and
each Sub-Fund.

Initial Subscription of Units
Units were initially offered at AUD 10 per Class AUD and U.S. $10 per Class USD. The minimum initial investment is 100 Units and
the minimum subsequent investment is 10 Units for Class AUD and Class USD.

Subsequent Subscriptions of Units
Units will be available for purchase in the Offered Currencies at their respective net asset values per Unit (plus any applicable sales
charge) on any Dealing Day. Dealing Day is each Business Day.

Repurchase of Units
Unitholders may redeem their Units on any Dealing Day by transmitting an irrevocable repurchase order by facsimile or mail to the
administrator of the Sub-Fund.

The Sub-Manager will endeavor to ensure, for any Dealing Day, that an appropriate level of liquidity is maintained in respect of each
class so that repurchase of Units may, under normal circumstances, be made promptly on such date to Unitholders requesting
repurchase. However, the Sub-Manager may limit the repurchase of Units in the event the Sub-Fund receives, as of any Dealing Day,
requests to redeem more than 10% of the Units of the Sub-Fund outstanding as of such date, in which case Units of the Sub-Fund may
be redeemed on a pro rata basis. Any part of a repurchase request to which effect is not given by reason of the exercise of this power
by or on behalf of the Sub-Manager will be treated as if a request has been made in respect of the next Dealing Day and all following
Dealing Days (in relation to which the Sub-Manager has the same power) until the original request has been satisfied in full. In
addition, under certain circumstances, the Trustee, in consultation with the Sub-Manager, may suspend the right of Unitholders to
redeem Units.

Distributions

The Management Company will declare a monthly distribution to Unitholders on the last Business Day of each month (each a “Record
Date™); provided that the Sub-Manager may choose not to pay a distribution in its absolute discretion. If declared, distributions will
be paid within three Business Days from the relevant Record Date on which such distribution was declared or as soon as practicable
thereafter.

The Management Company intends to declare and pay monthly dividends equal to all or substantially all of the Sub-Fund’s net
investment income attributable to each Unit Class.
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The Management Company also may determine if and to what extent distributions paid include realized and unrealized gains and/or
are paid out of available capital, attributable to the relevant Unit Class. To the extent the net income and net realized and unrealized
profits attributable to these Units exceed the amount declared payable, the excess return will be reflected in the respective net asset
value of such Units. There can be no assurance that any distribution payments will occur.

Unit transactions for the year ended July 31, 2024 were as follows:

Units Amoun

Year Ended Year Ended
July 31, 2024 July 31, 2024
Class AUD
Units sold 240§ 1,332
Units redeemed (101,140) (581,538)
Net decrease (100,900) $ (580,206)
Class USD
Units sold 6,640 § 57,774
Units redeemed (142,250) (1,238,633)
Net decrease (135,610) $ (1,180,859)
Total amount of Unit transactions: $ (1,761,065)

The Sub-Manager has appointed Mizuho Bank, Ltd. as distributor (in this capacity, the “Distributor™) in Japan. As of July 31, 2024,
the Distributor individually owned 100% of the Fund’s net assets. Transactions by the Distributor and/or investors holding a
significant ownership percentage at the Sub-Fund can impact other investors.

4. Fees and Expenses

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other
party in making financial or operational decisions.

Trustee Fees

The Trustee shall be entitled to receive a fee of U.S. $10,000 per annum payable out of the proceeds of subscription for the Units of
the Sub-Fund. The Trustee shall also be entitled to receive out of the assets of the Sub-Fund, a fee for extraordinary Trustee services
and any direct out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Trustee on behalf of the Sub-Fund.

For the year ended July 31, 2024, the Sub-Fund incurred U.S. $10,000 of Trustee Fees expense, none of which was payable
at July 31, 2024.

Management Company/Investment Manager Fee

The Management Company is entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for its services as Manager (“Management Fee”) of
the Sub-Fund a fee equal to 0.01% per annum of the average of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund as of each Business Day in each
month.

The Investment Manager is entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for its services as Investment Manager (“Investment
Management Fee™) of the Sub-Fund a fee of 0.95% per annum of the average of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund as of each
Business Day in each month.

The Management Company shall also be entitled to be reimbursed out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for any out-of-pocket expenses
and disbursements incurred on behalf of the Sub-Fund.

For the year ended July 31, 2024, the Sub-Fund incurred U.S. $217,399 and U.S. $2,288 of Investment Management Fee and
Management Fee expense, respectively, of which U.S. 53,759 and U.S. $194 were payable at July 31, 2024 and are included within
Investment Management Fee payable and Management Fee payable in the statement of assets and liabilities, respectively.

Sub-Manager Fee

The Sub-Manager is entitled to be compensated for its services as Sub-Manager of the Sub-Fund. Pursuant to the Sub-Management
Agreement, the Investment Manager will pay to the Sub-Manager a portion of the Investment Management Fee of 0.65% per annum
of the average of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund as of each Business Day in each month.
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Administrator, Transfer Agent and Custedian Fees

The Trustee entered into an administration agreement with Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. to act as administrator and transfer agent
of the Sub-Fund (the “Administrator and Transfer Agent™). For its fund accounting administration services in respect of the

Sub-Fund, the Administrator and Transfer Agent is entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund, a fee payable inU.S. §
monthly in arrears within 30 calendar days of the end of the relevant month. The fee for the fund accounting administration services is
U.S. $15,000 and any other transactional charges. The fee for transfer agency services 1s U.S. $10,000 per annum plus U.S. $1,000 per
Unit Class and any other transactional charges. For the year ended July 31, 2024, the Sub-Fund incurred U.S. $63,941 of
administrative fees, of which U.S. $15,738 was payable at July 31, 2024 and is included within accrued expenses in the statement of
assets and liabilities. For the year ended July 31, 2024, the Sub-Fund incurred U.S. $25,373 of transfer agency fees, of which U.S.
$6,207 was payable at July 31, 2024 and is included within accrued expenses in the statement of assets and liabilities.

Pursuant to a custody service agreement, Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. acts as custodian (the “Custodian”) for the Sub-Fund with
respect to assets delivered to and held by the Custodian. The Custodian is entitled to be paid agreed upon transaction charges and to
recover out-of-pocket expenses out of the assets of the Sub-Fund, payable in U.S. § monthly in arrears. For the year ended July 31,
2024, the Sub-Fund incurred U.S. $28,560 of custodian fees, of which U.S. $8,142 was payable at July 31, 2024 and is included
within accrued expenses in the statement of assets and liabilities.

Agent Company Fee

The Manager/Investment Manager has appointed AllianceBernstein Japan Ltd. as the Agent Company in Japan. The Agent Company
is entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for its services as Agent Company (“Agent Company Fee”) of the Sub-Fund a
fee of 0.03% per annum of the average of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund as of each Business Day in each month.

For the year ended July 31, 2024, the Sub-Fund incurred U.S. $6,865 of Agent Company Fees, of which U.S. $571 was payable at
July 31, 2024 and 1s included within Agent Company fee payable in the statement of assets and liabilities.

Distributor Fee

The Distributor is entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for its services as Distributor (“Distribution Fee™) of the
Sub-Fund a fee of 0.50% per annum of the average of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund as of each Business Day in each month.
Other Distributors may be appointed in the future.

For the year ended July 31, 2024, the Sub-Fund incurred U.S. $114,420 of Distribution Fees, of which U.S. $11,665 was payable at
July 31, 2024 and is included within Distribution Fee payable in the statement of assets and liabilities.

5. Derivative Financial Instruments

The Sub-Fund uses derivatives to eamn income and enhance returns, to hedge or adjust the risk profile of its portfolio and its Unit
Classes, to replace more traditional direct investments, or to obtain exposure to otherwise inaccessible markets.

The Sub-Fund enters into derivatives which may represent off-balance sheet risk. Off-balance sheet risk exists when the maximum
potential loss on a particular investment is greater than the value of such investment as reflected in the statement of assets and
liabilities.

Certain derivative agreements allow counterparties to over-the-counter derivatives to require collateral or terminate derivative
contracts prior to maturity in the event the Sub-Fund’s net assets decline by a stated percentage or the Sub-Fund fails to meet other
credit-risk contingent terms in the agreement, which would cause an accelerated payment of any net liability owed to the counterparty.

The principal types of derivatives utilized by the Sub-Fund, as well as the methods in which they may be used are:

Forward Foreign Currency Contracts
For the year ended July 31, 2024, the Sub-Fund entered into forward foreign currency contracts to gain exposure to the designated
currency of each respective Unit Class versus the U.S. § as detailed below:

® Class AUD: Buying AUD forward foreign currency contracts against the U.S. $, in the AUD amount equal to the extent possible
to approximately 100% of the U.S. $ exposure of the net asset value (excluding unrealized currency gain or loss) attributable to
Class AUD.

® Class USD: No forward foreign currency contracts.
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A forward foreign currency contract is a commitment to purchase or sell a foreign currency at a future date at a negotiated forward
rate.

Fluctuations in the value of open forward foreign currency contracts are recorded as unrealized appreciation (depreciation) of forward
foreign currency contracts in the statement of assets and liabilities and as net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) of
foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities in the statement of operations. The gain or loss arising from the difference between
the original contract and the closing of such contract would be included in net realized gain or loss on foreign currency transactions in
the statement of operations.

Risks may arise from the potential inability of a counterparty to meet the terms of a contract and from unanticipated movements in the
value of a foreign currency relative to the U.S. $. The face or contract amount, in U.S. §, reflects the total exposure the Sub-Fund has

in that particular currency contract.

At July 31, 2024, the Sub-Fund had the following open forward foreign currency contracts:

Forward Foreign Currency Contracts

Unrealized

Appreciation

% of Net Assets (Depreciation)
Various Appreciated Contracts 0.03% $ 6,955
Various Depreciated Contracts 0.00% (48)
Total Forward Foreign Currency Contracts 0.03% 3 6,907

Currency Transactions

The Sub-Fund invests in non-U.S. $ denominated securities on a currency hedged or unhedged basis. The Sub-Fund seeks mvestment
opportunities by taking a long or short position in currencies through the use of currency-related derivatives, including forward foreign
currency contracts. The Sub-Fund enters into transactions for investment opportunities when it anticipates that a foreign currency will
appreciate or depreciate in value but securities denominated in that currency are not held by the Sub-Fund and do not present attractive
investment opportunities. Such transactions are also used when the Sub-Manager believes that it may be more efficient than a direct
investment in a foreign currency-denominated security.

The Sub-Fund typically enters into International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. Master Agreements (“ISDA Master
Agreement”) with its over-the-counter (“OTC”) derivative contract counterparties in order to, among other things, reduce its credit
risk to OTC counterparties. ISDA Master Agreements include provisions for general obligations, representations, collateral and events
of default or termination. Under an ISDA Master Agreement, the Sub-Fund typically may offset with the OTC counterparty certain
derivative financial instruments’ payables and/or receivables with collateral held and/or posted and create one single net payment
(close-out netting) in the event of default or termination. In the event of a default by an OTC counterparty, the return of collateral with
market value in excess of the Sub-Fund’s net liability, held by the defaulting party, may be delayed or denied.

The Sub-Fund’s ISDA Master Agreements may contain provisions for early termination of OTC derivative transactions in the event
the net assets of the Sub-Fund decline below specific levels (“net asset contingent features™). Tf these levels are triggered, the Sub-
Fund’s OTC counterparty has the right to terminate such transaction and require the Sub-Fund to pay or receive a settlement amount
in connection with the terminated transaction. If OTC derivatives were held at year end, please refer to netting arrangements by the
OTC counterparty table below for additional details.

During the year ended July 31, 2024, the Sub-Fund had the following derivatives grouped by derivative type:

Asset Derivatives Liahility Derivatives
Statement of Statement of
Assets and Assets and
Liabilities Liabilities
Derivative Type Location Fair Value Location Fair Value
Foreign exchange contracts. . . . ... ........ Unrealized Unrealized
appreciation on depreciation on
forward foreign forward foreign
currency contracts $ 6,955 currency contracts 3 48)
Total o vv v e e $ 6,955 $ 48)
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Realized Change in

Location of Gain or Gain or Unrealized
(L-oss) on Derivatives Within (Loss) on Appreciation
Derivative Type Statement of Operations Derivatives (Depreciation)
Foreign exchange contracts. . . .. .......... Net realized gain (loss) on foreign

currency transactions; Net change in

unrealized appreciation (depreciation)

on foreign currency denominated assets

and liabilities $ (162,132) $ 14,979
Total v et $ (162,132) $ 14,979

During the year ended July 31, 2024, the Sub-Fund entered into forward foreign currency contracts to manage currency exposure of
the Class AUD versus the U.S. §. The principal amount approximated the value of the net assets attributable to Class AUD and the
results of those contracts are allocated to the Class AUD.

For financial reporting purposes, the Sub-Fund does not offset derivative assets and liabilities that are subject to netting
arrangements in the statement of assets and liabilities.

All OTC derivatives held at year end were subject to netting arrangements. The following tables represent the Sub-Fund’s derivative
assets and liabilities by OTC counterparty net of amounts available for offset under ISDA Master Agreements (“MA”) and net of the
related collateral received/pledged by the Sub-Fund as of July 31, 2024. At July 31, 2024, all derivatives were subject to netting
arrangements.

Net Amount of

Derivative Assets Derivatives Collateral Derivatives

Counterparty Subject to a MA Available for Offset Net Amount Received Assets

Brown Brothers Harriman & Co..... $ 6,955 $ 48 $ 6,907 $ -0- $ 6,907
Total.........coooeiieieiiei $ 6955 % 48y  $ 6907 $ 0- % 6,907
Net Amount of

Liabilities Derivatives Collateral Derivatives

Counterparty Subject to a MA Available for Offset Net Amount Pledged Liabilities
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co..... $ 43 3 48 $ -0- % -0- §$ -0-
Total............................ $ 48 3 “48) $ 0-_$ 0-_ $ -0-

6. Fair Value Measurements

Tn accordance with U.S. GAAP regarding fair value measurements, fair value is defined as the price that the Sub-Fund would receive
to sell an asset or pay to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. U.S. GAAP
establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and a three-level hierarchy for fair value measurements based upon the transparency
of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liability. Inputs may be observable or unobservable and refer broadly to the assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

Observable mputs reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on market data obtained
from sources independent of the Sub-Fund. Unobservable inputs reflect the Sub-Fund’s own assumptions about the assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on the best information available in the circumstances. Each
investment is assigned a level based upon the observability of the inputs which are significant to the overall valuation.

The three-tier hierarchy of inputs is summarized below:

e Level 1 — quoted prices in active markets for identical investments

s Level 2 — other significant observable mputs (including quoted prices for similar investments, interest rates, prepayment
speeds, eredit risk, ete.)

s Level 3 — significant unobservable inputs (including the Sub-Fund’s own assumptions in determining the fair value of
investments)

The fair value of debt instruments, such as bonds, and OTC derivatives is generally based on market price quotations, recently
executed market transactions (where observable) or industry recognized modeling techniques and are generally classified as Level 2.
Pricing vendor inputs to Level 2 valuations may include quoted prices for similar investments in active markets, interest rate curves,
coupon rates, currency rates, yield curves, option adjusted spreads, default rates, credit spreads and other unique security features in
order to estimate the relevant cash flows which are then discounted to calculate fair values. If these inputs are uncbservable and
significant to the fair value, these investments will be classified as Level 3.
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Other fixed income investments, including non-U.S. government and corporate debt, are generally valued using quoted market prices,
if available, which are typically impacted by current interest rates, maturity dates and any perceived credit risk of the issuer.
Additionally, in the absence of quoted market prices, these inputs are used by pricing vendors to derive a valuation based upon
industry or proprietary models which incorporate issuer specific data with relevant vield/spread comparisons with more widely quoted
bonds with similar key characteristics. Those investments for which there are observable inputs are classified as Level 2. Where the
Inputs are not observable, the investments are classified as Level 3.

The following table summarizes the valuation of the Sub-Fund’s investments following the fair value hierarchy levels as of July 31,
2024:

Investments in Securities Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Corporates - Non-Investment Grade . . ......... $ -0- 3 19,877,466 b 27283%  § 19,904,749
Corporates - Investment Grade . . . .. .......... -0- 2,028,675 -0- 2,028,675
Emerging Markets - Corporate Bonds . ......... -0- 253,520 60 253,580
Common Stocks ... v i i i e e -0- -0- 21,929# 21,929

Short-Term Investments. . ... ..o e v en v nn s 396,685 -0- -0- 396,685

Total Investments in Securities 396,685 22,159,661 49272 22,605,618

Other Financial Instruments*:

Assets
Forward Foreign Currency Contracts. . ... ...... -0- 6,955 -0- 6,955

Liabilities
Forward Foreign Currency Contracts. . ... ...... -0- (48) -0- (48)

Total . ... .. s $ 396,685 $ 22,166,568 $ 49,272 $ 22,612,525

# The Sub-Fund held securities with zero market value at year end.

* Other financial mnstruments include reverse repurchase agreements and derivative instruments, such as fitures, forwards and swaps.
Derivative instruments are valued at the unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on the instrument. Other financial instruments may
also include swaps with upfront premiums, options written and swaptions written which are valued at market value.

7. Financial Highlights

The financial highlights represent the Sub-Fund’s financial performance for the year ended July 31, 2024.

The per share operating performance and ratios are computed based upon the average units outstanding and average net assets,
respectively, for the year ended July 31, 2024.

Unitholder’s performance may vary based on timing of Unit transactions and currency management specific to the designated
currency of each respective Unit Class. Total return is computed based on the change in the net asset value per unit during the year,
including reinvestments of distributions. Total investment return is based on net asset value of offered currency.
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Class AUD

Year Ended
July 31, 2024
Net asset value, beginning of
LY== | $5.85
Income From Investment
Operations
Net investment income.. . . . .. 0.25

Net realized and unrealized

loss on investment and

foreigh currency transactions (0.04)
Net increase in net asset value

from operations . ... ...... 0.21
Less: Distributions
Distributions to Unitholders . . . (0.25)
Net asset value, end of year . . $5.81
Total Return
Total investment return based

on net asset value in USD . . 3.82%
Total investment return based
on net asset value in AUD . . 6.57%

Ratios/Supplemental Data
Net assets, end of year (000's

omitted) . ... ... $3,223
Ratio to average net assets of

Expenses .............. 2.65%

Net investment income. . . . . 4.39%

Class USD

Year Ended
July 31, 2024
Net asset value, beginning of
YA « vt $8.60
Income From Investment
Operations
Net investment income.. . . . .. 0.38
Net realized and unrealized
gain on investment and
foreign currency transactions 0.31
Net increase in net asset value
from operations . ... ...... 0.69

Less: Distributions
Distributions to Unitholders . . . (0.38)
Net asset value, end of year . . $8.91
Total Return
Total investment return based

on net asset value in USD . . 8.27%
Ratios/Supplemental Data
Net assets, end of year (000's

omitted) ............... $19,253
Ratio to average net assets of

Expenses .............. 2.65%

Net investment income. . . . . 4.38%
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8. Risks Involved in Investing in the Sub-Fund

Currency Risk

Underlying investments of the Sub-Fund may be denominated in one or more currencies different than that in which the Sub-Fund is
denominated. This means currency movements in such underlying investments may significantly affect the net asset value in respect
of the Sub-Fund’s Units. Investments by the Sub-Fund that are denominated in a particular currency are subject to the risk that the
value of such currency will change in relation to one or more other currencies. Among the factors that may affect currency values are
trade balances, the level of short-term interest rates, differences in relative values of similar assets in different currencies, long-term
opportunities for investment and capital appreciation and political developments. The Sub-Fund is not limited in the percentage of its
assets that may be denominated in currencies other than the U.S. $.

Country Risks

The Sub-Fund may mvest in securities of issuers located in various countries and geographic regions. The economies of individual
countries may differ favorably or unfavorably from each other in such respects as growth of gross domestic product or gross national
product, rate of inflation, capital reinvestment, resource self-sufficiency and balance of payments position. Issuers in general are
subject to varying degrees of regulation with respect to such matters as insider trading rules, restrictions on market manipulation,
Unitholder proxy requirements and timely disclosure of information. The reporting, accounting and auditing standards of issuers may
differ, in some cases significantly, from country to country in important respects and less information from country to country may be
available to investors in securities or other assets. Nationalization, expropriation or confiscatory taxation, currency blockage, political
changes, government regulation, political or social instability or diplomatic developments could affect adversely the economy of a
country or the Sub-Fund's investments in such country. In the event of expropriation, nationalization or other confiscation, the Sub-
Fund could lose its entire investment in the country involved. In addition, laws in countries governing business organizations,
bankruptey and insolvency may provide limited protection to security holders such as the Sub-Fund.

The Sub-Fund may trade its securities in a variety of markets with many different brokers and dealers. The failure of a broker or
dealer may result in the complete loss of the Sub-Fund's assets on deposit with such broker or dealer depending on the regulatory rules
governing such broker or dealer. In addition, brokerage commissions in certain countries may be higher than in others, and securities
markets in certain countries may be less liquid, more volatile and less subject to governmental supervision than in others.

The securities markets of many countries are also relatively small, with the majority of market capitalization and trading volume
concentrated in a limited number of companies representing a small number of industries. Consequently, if the Sub-Fund invested in
equity securities of companies in such countries, the Sub-Fund may experience greater price volatility and significantly lower liquidity
than if the Sub-Fund invested solely in equity securities of companies in countries with relatively larger securities markets. These
smaller markets may be subject to greater influence by adverse events generally affecting the market, and by large investors trading
significant blocks of securities. Securities settlements may in some instances be subject to delays and related administrative
uncertainties.

Certain countries require governmental approval prior to investments by foreign persons or limit investment by foreign persons to only
a specified percentage of an issuer's outstanding securities or a specific class of securities that may have less advantageous terms
(including price) than securities of the company available for purchase by nationals. These restrictions or controls may at times limit
or preclude investment in certain securities and may increase the costs and expenses of the Sub-Fund. In addition, the repatriation of
investment income, capital, or the proceeds of sales of securities from certain countries is controlled under regulations, including in
some cases the need for certain advance government notification or authority. If deterioration occurs in a country's balance of
payments, the country could impose temporary restrictions on foreign capital remittances. The Sub-Fund also could be adversely
affected by delays in, or a refusal to grant, any required governmental approval for repatriation, as well as by the application of other
restrictions on investment. Investing in local markets may require the Sub-Fund to adopt special procedures that may involve
additional costs to the Sub-Fund. These factors may affect the liquidity of the Sub-Fund's investments in any country and the
Tnvestment Manager will monitor the effect of any such factor or factors on the Sub-Fund's investments.

Interest-Rate Risk

Changes in interest rates will affect the value of investments in fixed-income securities. When interest rates rise, the value of existing
investments in fixed-income securities tends to fall and this decrease in value may not be offset by higher income from new
investments. Interest-rate risk is generally greater for fixed-income securities with longer maturities or durations. The Sub-Fund may
be subject to a greater risk of rising interest rates than would normally be the case due to the end of a recent period of historically low
rates and the effect of potential central bank monetary policy, and government fiscal policy, initiatives and resulting market reactions
to those initiatives.

MIZUHO AB TRUST SERIES - MIZUHO US HIGH INCOME BOND FUND

— 191 —



Derivatives Risk

The Sub-Fund may use derivatives, which are financial contracts whose value depends on, or is derived from, the value of an
underlying asset, reference rate, or index. The Sub-Manager will sometimes use derivatives as part of a strategy designed to reduce
other risks. Generally, however, the Sub-Fund may use derivatives as direct investments to earn income, hedge currency exposure,
enhance yield and broaden portfolio diversification. In addition to other risks such as the credit risk of the counterparty, derivatives
involve the risk of difficulties in pricing and valuation and the risk that changes in the value of the derivative may not correlate
perfectly with relevant underlying assets, rates, or indices.

Cross-Class Liability Risk

The Sub-Fund may enter into currency derivative transactions including forward foreign currency contracts in respect of a particular
Unit Class in order to reduce exposure to the relevant Offered Currency versus the base currency of the Sub-Fund.  Although the
Sub-Fund will typically enter into forward foreign currency contracts with only those counterparties that agree to limit their recourse
to the particular Unit Class on behalf of which such forward foreign currency contract was entered, given that there is no legal
segregation of liabilities between the various Unit Classes within the Sub-Fund, there is a risk that, under certain circumstances,
currency derivative transactions in relation to a particular Designated Currency in respect of a particular Unit Class could result in
liabilities which might affect the net asset value of the other Unit Classes of the Sub-Fund, in which case assets of the other Unit
Classes of the Sub-Fund may be used to cover the liabilities incurred by the Unit Class.

LIBOR Replacement Risk

The Sub-Fund may be exposed to debt securities, derivatives or other financial instruments that recently transitioned from the London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR™) as a benchmark or reference rate for various interest rate calculations. The use of LIBOR was
phased out in June 2023 and transitioned to the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR™). SOFR is a broad measure of the cost of
borrowing cash overnight collateralizedby U.S. Treasury securities in the repurchase agreement (repo) market. There can be no
assurance that instruments linked to SOFR will have the same volume or liquidity as did the market for LIBOR-linked financial
instruments prior to LIBOR’s discontinuance or unavailability.

Market Risk

Market risk is the potential for changes in the value of investment positions due to market changes, including interest and currency
rate movements as well as fluctuations in the prices of investment positions. Market risk is directly impacted by the volatility and
liquidity of the markets in which the underlying financial instruments are traded. The Sub-Fund attempts to manage market risk in
various ways, including through diversifying exposures, placing limitations on position sizes and hedging in related securities or
derivative financial instruments. The ability to manage market risk may be constrained by changes in liquidity conditions, relative
prices, volatilities and correlations between investment positions and the mstruments used to hedge such investment positions.

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that counterparties may fail to fulfill their obligations or that the collateral value becomes inadequate. The
Sub-Fund attempts to minimize its credit risk by monitoring the credit exposure with, and the credit worthiness of, counterparties.

Off-Balance Sheet Risk

The Sub-Fund may enter into investment transactions which may present off-balance sheet risk. Off-balance sheet risk exists when the
maximum potential loss on a particular investment is greater than the value of such investment, as reflected in the statement of assets
and liabilities. Off-balance sheet risk generally arises from the use of derivative financial instruments.

9. Recent Accounting Proneuncements

Tn December 2022, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued an Accounting Standards Update, ASU 2022-06, “Reference
Rate Reform (Topic 848) — Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848”. ASU 2022-06 is an amendment to ASU 2020-04, which
provided optional guidance to ease the potential accounting burden due to the discontinuation of the LIBOR and other interbank-
offered based reference rates and which was effective as of March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022. ASU 2022-06 extends the
effective period through December 31, 2024. Management is currently evaluating the impact, if any, of applying ASU 2022-06.

10. Subsequent Events

Management has evaluated the possibility of subsequent events existing in the Sub-Fund’s financial statements up to October 11,
2024, the date the financial statements were available to be 1ssued.

From August 1, 2024 to October 11, 2024, the Sub-Fund received U.S. $1,954 of Unit subscriptions, paid U.S. $734,556 of Unit
redemptions and paid distributions totaling U.S. $223,184.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the General Partner and Unitholders of AllianceBemstein L. P.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial
Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of
AllianceBernstein L.P. and its subsidiaries (the "Company”) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
and the related consolidated statements of income, of comprehensive income, of changes in
partners' capital and of cash flows for each of the three yvears in the period ended

December 31, 2024, including the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the
index appearing under Item 15 (collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial
statements”). We also have andited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2024, based on eriteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
(z013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COS0).

In cur opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and
the results of itz operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2024 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on eriterda established in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COS0.

Basgis for Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management's Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item oA, Our responszibility is to
express opinions on the Company's consolidated financial statements and on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our andits. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOEB]) and
are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the ULS. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to ermor or
fraud, and whether effective internal control ever financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects.

Ourandits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. OQur audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements. Qur audit of internal control over financial reporting included

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 150 3rd Avenue South, Suite 1400, Nashville, Tennessee 37201
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obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, and Lesting and evaluating the design and operating effectivencss of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a

reasonable basis for our opinions.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally acce pted accounting principles. A
company’s internal eontrol over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i)
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (i) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting prineiples, and that receipts and expenditures of
the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, ordisposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, intemal control over financial reporting may not prevent or
detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are
subject tothe risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The eritical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of
the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to
the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material ta the
eonsolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or
eomplex judgments. The eommunication of eritical audit matters does not alter in any way our
opinion on the consolidated financial state ments, taken as a whole, and we are not, by
communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit
matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Valuation of the Initial Investment in the Unconsolidated JVs

As described in Motes 2 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company and Societe
Generale completed the transaction to form a global joint venture with two joint venture holding
eompanies, one outside of North America and one within North America ("NA JV”, and together
the "JVs"). The Company maintains an equity method investment in each of the JVs and
recorded an initial investment in the JVs at fair value as of April 1, 2024 of $283.9 million. The
valuation methodology used for the initial investment in the joint ventures is known as a dividend
discount model whereby a forecast of net income attributable to each of the JVs was discounted
using an estimated cost of capital to determine the present value of expected future dividends.
The joint venture dividend discount model includes significant assumptions such as expected
future distribulable eamings, discount rate and a long term growth rate,

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the
valuation of the initial investment in the unconsolidated JVs is a eritical audit matter are (i) the
significant judgment by management when developing the fair value estimate of the initial
investment in the unconsolidated JVs; (i) a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and
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effort in performing procedures and evaluating management's significant assumptions related to
expeeted fulure distributable camings, discount rate and a long term growth rate; and (iii) the
audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in
connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These
procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the dividend discount model,
including controls over the valuation of the initial investment in the unconsclidated JVs, These
procedures also included, among others (i) reading the joint venture agreement; [(if) testing
management's process for developing the fair value estimate of the initial investment in the
unconsolidated JVs; (iii) evaluating the appropriateness of the dividend discount model; (iv)
testing the completeness and accuracy ofunderlying data usedin the dividend discountmodel; and
(v} evaluating the reasonableness of the significant assumptions used by management related to
expected future distributable eamnings, discount rate and a long term growth rate. Evaluating
management’s assumptions related to expected future distributable earnings involved considering
(i) the historical perdformance of the contributed businesses; (i) the consistency with external
market and industry data; and (iii) the consistency with evidence obtained in other areas of the
audit. Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were used Lo assist in the evaluation of the
appropriateness of the dividend discount model and the reasonableness of the assumptions related
tu/t;?diwuunt rate and long term growth rate.
S

etlordernsl( oppe N (L F

Nashville, Tennessee
February 14, 2025

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2006,
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Part Il

AllianceBernstein L.P. and Subsidiaries

« Private Wealth Management Services—servicing our private clients, including high-net-worth individuals and families, trusts and estates, charitable
foundations, partnerships, private and family corporations, and other entities, by means of separately managed accounts, hedge funds, mutual funds and
other investment vehicles.

We also provide distribution, shareholder servicing, transfer agency services and administrative services to the mutual funds we sponsor.

Our high-quality, in-depth research is the foundation of our asset management and private wealth management businesses. Our research disciplines include
economic, fundamental equity, fixed income and quantitative research. In addition, we have expertise in multi-asset strategies, wealth management,
environmental, social and corporate governance ("ESG"), and alternative investments.

We provide a broad range of investment services with expertise in:

« Actively managed equity strategies across global and regional universes, as well as capitalization ranges, concentration ranges and investment
strategies, including value, growth and core equities;

« Actively managed traditional and unconstrained fixed income strategies, including taxable and tax-exempt strategies;

« Actively managed alternative investments, including fundamental and systematically-driven hedge funds, fund of hedge funds and direct assets (e.g.,
direct lending, real estate debt and private equity);

+ Portfolios with Purpose, including Sustainable, Impact and Responsible+ (Climate-Conscious and ESG leaders) equity, fixed income and multi-asset
strategies that address our clients' desire to invest their capital with a dedicated ESG focus, while pursuing strong investment returns;

« Multi-asset services and solutions, including dynamic asset allocation, customized target-date funds and target-risk funds; and
« Passively managed equity and fixed income strategies, including index, ESG index and enhanced index strategies.

™ April 1, 2024 AB and Societe Generale, a leading European bank, completed their transaction to form a jointly owned equity research provider and cash equity trading
partner for institutional investors. AB has deconsolidated the Bernstein Research Services business and contributed the business to the joint venture. For further discussion,
see Note 24 Divestiture.
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Part I

Organization

AllianceBernstein Corporation (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of EQH, “General Partner’) is the general partner of both AllianceBernstein Holding L.P.
(“AB Holding”) and AB. AllianceBernstein Corporation owns 100,000 general partnership units in AB Holding and a 1.0% general partnership interest in AB.

As of December 31, 2024, the ownership structure of AB, including limited partnership units outstanding as well as the general partner's 1.0% interest, was
as follows:

EQH and its subsidiaries 61.9%

AB Holding 375

Unaffiliated holders 0.6
100.0 %
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reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include AB and its majority-owned and/or controlled subsidiaries, and the consolidated entities that are considered to
be variable interest entities ("VIEs") and voting interest entities ("VOEs") in which AB has a controlling financial interest. Non-controlling interests on the
consolidated statements of financial condition include the portion of consolidated company-sponsored investment funds in which we do not have direct
equity ownership. All significant inter-company transactions and balances among the consolidated entities have been eliminated.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements or Accounting Pronouncements
Not Yet Adopted

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2023, Financial Accounting Standards Board (‘FASB”) issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable
Segment Disclosures, which required disclosure of incremental segment information on an annual and interim basis. This ASU is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, and requires retrospective application to all
prior periods presented in the financial statements. We adopted this standard effective for our financial statements issued for fiscal year ended December 31,
2024. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. This amendment is expected to
enhance the transparency and decision usefulness of income tax disclosures by requiring public business entities, on an annual basis, to disclose specific
categories in the rate reconciliation, additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold and certain information about income taxes
paid. This revised guidance is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. The revised guidance will not
have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.
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In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income - Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic
220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses. This amendment is expected to improve financial reporting by requiring that public business
entities disclose additional information about specific expense categories in the notes to financial statements at interim and annual reporting periods. This
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include: last sale/settle prices from an exchange for actively-traded listed equities, options and futures; evaluated bid prices from recognized pricing vendors
for fixed income, asset-backed or mortgage-backed issues; mid prices from recognized pricing vendors and brokers for credit default swaps; and quoted bids
or spreads from pricing vendors and brokers for other derivative products. Fair valuation methods include: discounted cash flow models or any other
methodology that is validated and approved by our Valuation Committee (see paragraph immediately below for additional information about our Valuation
Committee). Fair valuation methods are used only where AUM cannot be valued using market-based valuation methods, such as in the case of private
equity or illiquid securities.

The Valuation Committee, which consists of senior officers and employees, is responsible for overseeing the pricing and valuation of all investments held in
client and AB portfolios. The Valuation Committee has adopted a Statement of Pricing Policies describing principles and policies that apply to pricing and
valuing investments held in these portfolios. We also have a Pricing Group, which reports to the Valuation Committee and is responsible for overseeing the
pricing process for all investments. We record as revenue investment advisory and services base fees, which we generally calculate as a percentage of
AUM. At month-end, all the components of the transaction price (i.e., the base fee calculation) are no longer variable and the value of the consideration is
determined. These fees are not subject to claw back and there is minimal probability that a significant reversal of the revenue recorded will occur.

The transaction price for the asset management performance obligation for certain investment advisory contracts, including those associated with hedge
funds and other alternative investments, provide for a performance-based fee (including carried interest), in addition to a base advisory fee, which is
calculated as either a percentage of absolute investment results or a percentage of investment results in excess of a stated benchmark over a specified
period of time. The performance-based fees are forms of variable consideration and are therefore excluded from the transaction price until it becomes
probable that there will not be significant reversal of the cumulative revenue recognized. At each reporting date, we evaluate the constraining factors,
discussed below, surrounding the variable consideration to determine the extent to which, if any, revenues associated with the performance-based fee can
be recognized.

Constraining factors impacting the amount of variable consideration included in the transaction price include: the contractual claw-back provisions to which
the variable consideration is subject, the length of time to which the uncertainty of the consideration is subject, the number and range of possible
consideration amounts, the probability of significant fluctuations in the AUM market value and the level at which the AUM value exceeds the contractual
threshold required to earn such a fee.
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Bernstein Research Services revenue consists principally of commissions received, and to a lesser but increasing extent, direct payments for trade
execution services and equity research services provided to institutional clients. Brokerage commissions for trade execution services and related expenses
are recorded on a trade-date basis when the performance obligations are satisfied. Generally, the transaction price is agreed upon at the time of each trade
and is based upon the number of shares traded or the value of the consideration traded. The transaction price for research revenues is not fixed and is at the
customer's discretion. In many cases there is no contract between AB and the customer for research services, so there is no performance obligation present
that requires AB to provide the research or for the customer to compensate AB for the research consumed. The customer has the unilateral right to
determine the amount it will pay and whether it will continue to receive research. Research revenues are recognized when the transaction price is quantified,
collectability is assured and significant reversal of such revenue is not probable.
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Most open-end U.S. funds have adopted a plan under Rule 12b-1 of the Investment Company Act that allows the fund to pay, out of assets of the fund,
distribution and service fees for the distribution and sale of its shares (“12b-1 fees”). The open-end U.S. funds have such agreements with us, and we have
selling and distribution agreements pursuant to which we pay sales commissions to the financial intermediaries that distribute our open-end U.S. funds.
These agreements are terminable by either party upon notice (generally 30 days) and do not obligate the financial intermediary to sell any specific amount of
fund shares.

We record 12b-1 fees monthly based upon a percentage of the net asset value (“NAV”) of the funds. At month-end, the variable consideration of the
transaction price is no longer constrained as the NAV can be calculated and the value of consideration is determined. These services are separate and
distinct from other asset management services as the customer can benefit from these services independently of other services. We accrue the
corresponding 12b-1 fees paid to sub-distributors monthly as the expenses are incurred. We are acting in a principal capacity in these transactions; as such,
these revenues and expenses are recorded on a gross basis.

We offer back-end load shares in limited instances and charge the investor a contingent deferred sales charge (“CDSC”) if the investment is redeemed within
a certain period. The variable consideration for these contracts is contingent on the timing of the redemption by the investor and the value of the sale
proceeds. Due to these constraining factors, we exclude the CDSC fee from the transaction price until the investor redeems the investment. Upon
redemption, the cash consideration received for these contractual arrangements are recorded as reductions of unamortized deferred sales commissions.

Our Luxembourg subsidiary, the management company for most of our non-U.S. funds, earns a management fee that is accrued daily and paid monthly, at
an annual rate, based on the average daily net assets of the fund. With respect to certain share classes, the management fee may also contain a component
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instead, accrue the incremental costs of obtaining the contract when incurred. As of December 31 2024, the balances of contract assets and contract
liabilities are not considered material and, accordingly, no further disclosures are necessary.
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Consolidation of Company-Sponsored Investment Funds

For legal entities (company-sponsored investment funds) evaluated for consolidation, we first determine whether the fees we receive and the interests we
hold qualify as a variable interest in the entity, including an evaluation of fees paid to us as a decision maker or service provider to the entity being evaluated.
Fees received by us are not variable interests if (i) the fees are compensation for services provided and are commensurate with the level of effort required to
provide those services, (i) the service arrangement includes only terms, conditions or amounts that are customarily present in arrangements for similar
services negotiated at arm’s length, and (iii) our other economic interests in the entity held directly and indirectly through our related parties, as well as
economic interests held by related parties under common control, would not absorb more than an insignificant amount of the entity’s losses or receive more
than an insignificant amount of the entity’s benefits. For purposes of determining whether AB has an equity interest in an entity, the related parties referred to
above are those entities under common control that AB has a direct variable interest in and considered a consolidated entity. Our parent company, EQH,
regularly invests in our seed program. In this circumstance, EQH is not considered a related party for our consolidation analysis because AB does not have a
direct variable interest in EQH.

For those entities in which we have a variable interest, we perform an analysis to determine whether the entity is a VIE by considering whether the entity’s
equity investment at risk is insufficient, whether the investors lack decision making rights proportional to their ownership percentage of the entity, and
whether the investors lack the obligation to absorb an entity’s expected losses or the right to receive an entity’s expected income.

A VIE must be consolidated by its primary beneficiary, which generally is defined as the party that has a controlling financial interest in the VIE. We are
deemed to have a controlling financial interest in a VIE if we have (i) the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly affect the VIE's
economic performance and (i) the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE or the right to receive income from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the
VIE. For purposes of evaluating (ii) above, fees paid to us as a decision maker or service provider are excluded if the amount of fees is commensurate with
the level of effort required to be performed and the arrangement includes only customary terms, conditions or amounts present in arrangements for similar
services negotiated at arm’s length. The primary beneficiary evaluation generally is performed qualitatively based on all facts and circumstances, as well as
quantitatively, as appropriate.

If we have a variable interest in an entity that is determined not to be a VIE, the entity is then evaluated for consolidation under the VOE model. For limited
partnerships and similar entities, we are deemed to have a controlling financial interest in a VOE, and would be required to consolidate the entity, if we own a
majority of the entity’s kick-out rights through voting limited partnership interests and limited partners do not hold substantive participating rights (or other
rights that would indicate that we do not control the entity). For entities other than limited partnerships, we are deemed to have a controlling financial interest
in a VOE if we own a majority voting interest in the entity.

The analysis performed regarding the determination of variable interests held, whether entities are VIEs or VOEs, and whether we have a controlling
financial interest in such entities, requires the exercise of judgment. The analysis is updated continuously as circumstances change or new entities are
formed.
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Investments in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

Effective April 1, 2024, AB and Societe Generale ("SocGen") completed their previously announced transaction to form a global joint venture with two joint
venture holding companies, one outside of North America and one within North America ("NA JV", and together the "JVs"). AB owns a majority interest in
the NA JV while SocGen owns a majority interest in the joint venture outside of North America.

On April 1, 2024, we deconsolidated our BRS business and contributed the BRS business to the JVs. We recognize our initial investment in our
unconsolidated joint ventures at fair value. The determination of fair values of assets and liabilities of the joint ventures requires us to make estimates,
consider assumptions and use valuation techniques when a market value is not readily determinable. The valuation methodology used for our initial
investment in the joint ventures is known as a dividend discount model whereby a forecast of net income attributable to each of the JVs was discounted
using an estimated cost of capital to determine the present value of expected future dividends. The joint venture dividend discount model includes significant
assumptions such as expected future distributable earnings, discount rate and a long term growth rate. We recorded an initial investment in the JVs at fair
value as of April 1, 2024 of $283.9 million.

We have recorded our subsequent investment in each of the JVs under the equity method of accounting under ASC 323 Investments — Equity Method and
Joint Ventures, as we retained the ability to exercise significant influence over the operating and financial policies of the JVs but did not retain a controlling
interest. Our investments in companies over which we have the ability to exercise significant influence are accounted for under the equity method and are
recorded at cost plus our share of earnings and losses. As of December 31, 2024, we owned 66.7% of the NA JV and 49.0% of the joint venture outside of
North America and our combined carrying value in the two investments was 286.7 million.

Our investments in unconsolidated joint ventures are reviewed for indicators of impairment when events or circumstances change indicating that a decline in
the fair values below the carrying amounts has occurred and such decline is other-than-temporary. An extended series of net operating losses of an
investee, inability to operate without significant future capital infusions, or other factors may indicate that a loss in the value of our investment in the
unconsolidated joint venture may have occurred. If a loss exists, we further review to determine if the loss is other than temporary, in which case we will
record an impairment charge in the amount of the excess carrying value over the estimated fair value. As we do not have a controlling financial interest in the
JVs, the fair value of the JVs would be determined at the joint venture level using a dividend discount model which is subjective and considers assumptions
regarding future performance, as discussed above, that could differ materially from actual results in future periods. As of December 31, 2024 there was no
triggering event identified requiring an impairment analysis of our investment in our unconsolidated JVs.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits, money market accounts, overnight commercial paper and highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less. Due to the short-term nature of these instruments, the recorded value has been determined to approximate fair
value (and considered Level 1 securities in the fair value hierarchy).

Fees Receivable, Net

Fees receivable are shown net of allowances. An allowance for doubtful accounts related to investment advisory and services fees is determined through an
analysis of the aging of receivables, assessments of collectability based on historical trends and other qualitative and quantitative factors, including our
relationship with the client, the financial health (or ability to pay) of the client, current economic conditions and whether the account is active or closed. The
allowance for doubtful accounts is not material to fees receivable.

Brokerage Transactions

Customers’ securities transactions are recorded on a settlement date basis, with related commission income and expenses reported on a trade date basis.
Receivables from and payables to clients include amounts due on cash and margin transactions. Securities owned by customers are held as collateral for
receivables; such collateral is not reflected in the consolidated financial statements. We have the ability by contract or custom to sell or re-pledge this
collateral and have done so at various times. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had zero and $122.4 million of re-pledged securities, respectively.
Principal securities transactions and related expenses are recorded on a trade date basis.

Securities borrowed and securities loaned by our broker-dealer subsidiaries are recorded at the amount of cash collateral advanced or received in
connection with the transaction and are included in receivables from and payables to brokers and dealers in the consolidated statements of financial
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value of securities borrowed or loaned. We monitor the fair value of the securities borrowed and loaned on a daily basis and request additional collateral or
return excess collateral, as appropriate. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, there is no allowance provision required for the collateral advanced. Income or
expense is recognized over the life of the transaction.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had $29.1 million and $10.2 million, respectively, of cash on deposit with clearing organization for trade facilitation
purposes, which are reported in other assets in our consolidated statements of financial condition. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we held no U.S.
Treasury bills pledged as collateral. These clearing organizations have the ability by contract or custom to sell or re-pledge the collateral, if any.

Current Expected Credit Losses- Receivables from Brokerage clients

Receivables from clients primarily consists of margin loan balances. The value of the securities owned by clients and held as collateral for these receivables
is not reflected in the consolidated financial statements and the collateral was not repledged as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. We consider these
financing receivables to be of good credit quality because these receivables are primarily collateralized by the related client investments.

To estimate expected credit losses on margin loans, we applied the collateral maintenance practical expedient by comparing the amortized cost basis of the
margin loans with the fair value of the collateral at the reporting date. Margin loans are limited to a percentage of the total value of the securities held in the
client's account against those loans. AB requires, in the event of a decline in the market value of the securities in a margin account, the client to deposit
additional securities or cash so that, at all times, the value of the securities in the account, at a minimum, cover the loan to the client. As such, AB reasonably
expects that the borrower will be able to continually replenish collateral securing the financial asset and does not expect the fair value of collateral to fall
below the amortized cost basis of the margin loans and, as a result, we consider the credit risk associated with these receivables to be minimal. In
circumstances when a loan becomes undercollateralized and the client fails to deposit additional securities or cash, AB reserves the right to liquidate the
account.

Current Expected Credit Losses - Receivables from Revenue Contracts with Customers

The majority of our revenue receivables are from investment advisory and service fees, and distribution revenues, that are typically paid out of the client
accounts or third-party products consisting of cash and securities. Due to the size of the fees in relation to the value of the cash and securities in accounts or
funds, the account value always exceeds the amortized cost basis of the receivables, resulting in a remote risk of loss. These receivables have a short
duration, generally due within 30-90 days and there is minimal historical evidence of non-payment or market declines that would cause the fair value of the
underlying securities to decline below the amortized cost of the receivables. AB maintains an allowance for credit losses based upon an estimate of the
amount of potential credit losses in existing accounts receivable, as determined from a review of aging schedules, past due balances, historical collection
experience and other specific account data. Once determined uncollectible, aged balances are written off as credit loss expense. This determination is
based on careful analysis of individual receivables and aging schedules, and generally occurs when the receivable becomes over 360 days past due. Our
aged receivables and amounts written off related to credit losses in any year are not material.

Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements, Net

Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of eight years for furniture and three to six years for equipment and software. Leasehold improvements are
amortized on a straight-line basis over the lesser of their estimated useful lives or the terms of the related leases.

Goodwill

Our acquisitions are accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting under ASC 805 Business Combinations, where the cost of the acquisition is
allocated on the basis of the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of
identifiable assets acquired, net of liabilities assumed, results in the recognition of goodwill.

As of December 31, 2024, we had goodwill of $3.6 billion on the consolidated statement of financial condition which included $666.1 million as a result of the
CarVal L.P. Investors ("CarVal") acquisition in 2022 ("CarVal acquisition"), $2.6 billion as a result of the Sanford C. Bernstein Inc. (“Bernstein”) acquisition
in 2000 and $291.9 million in regard to various smaller acquisitions. As a result of the BRS deconsolidation, approximately $159.8 million of goodwill, which
was previously reclassified to held for sale assets, has been contributed to the JVs.

Gondwill is teated anniiallv as of Sentemher 30 far imnairment 1itilizina the market annraach where the fair valile of the renartina 1init is hased an it
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impairment test does not include a determination by management of whether a decline in fair value is temporary and it is important that management's
determination of fair value reflect the impact of changing market conditions, including the severity and anticipated duration of any such changes.

As a part of our goodwill impairment evaluation, management uses the price of a publicly traded AB Holding Unit as a reasonable starting point for valuing
an AB Unit because each represents the same fractional interest in our underlying business. Throughout the year, the carrying value of goodwill is also
reviewed for impairment if certain events or changes in circumstances occur and trigger whether an interim impairment test may be required. Such changes
in circumstances may include, but are not limited to, significant transactions including acquisitions or divestitures; a sustained decrease in the price of an AB
Holding Unit or declines in AB's market capitalization that would suggest that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than the carrying amount; significant
and unanticipated declines in AB’'s assets under management or revenues; and/or lower than expected earnings per unit. Any of these changes in
circumstances could suggest the possibility that goodwill is impaired, but none of these events or circumstances by itself would indicate that it is more likely
than not that goodwill is impaired. Instead, they are merely recognized as triggering events for the consideration of impairment and must be viewed in
combination with any mitigating or positive factors. A holistic evaluation of all events since the most recent quantitative impairment test must be done to
determine whether it is more likely than not that the reporting unit is impaired. As of September 30, 2024, the impairment test indicated that goodwill was not
impaired.

Business Combinations

We account for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting under ASC 805 Business Combinations, whereby the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the acquired business, as well as any non-controlling interest in the acquired business, are recorded at their estimated fair values as of the
date that we obtain control of the acquired business. Any purchase consideration in excess of the estimated fair values of the net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. Acquisition-related expenses are expensed as incurred.

Often, as part of the business combination, intangible assets are recorded based on their estimated fair value at the time of acquisition and primarily relate to
acquired investment management contracts. We periodically review indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment as events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If the carrying value exceeds fair value, we perform additional impairment tests to measure the
amount of the impairment loss, if any. During 2024, 2023 and 2022, these expenses included an intangible asset impairment charge of $4.4 million, zero,
and $5.6 million , respectively, related to various historical acquisitions.

We periodically enter into contingent payment arrangements in connection with our business combinations. In these arrangements, we agree to pay
additional consideration to the sellers to the extent that certain performance targets are achieved. We estimate the fair value of these potential future
obligations at the time a business combination is consummated and record a liability on a discounted basis on our consolidated statement of financial
condition. We then accrete the obligation to its expected payment amount over the measurement period. If our expected payment amount subsequently
changes, the obligation is modified in the current period resulting in a gain or loss. Both gains and losses resulting from changes to expected payments and
the accretion of these obligations to their expected payment amounts are reflected within contingent payment arrangements in our consolidated statements
of income.

During 2022, we acquired CarVal Investors which included a contingent consideration liability ranging from zero to $650.0 million and is based on CarVal
achieving certain performance objectives over a six-year period ending December 31, 2027. During 2024, we remeasured the contingent liability and
recorded a gain reflected within contingent payment arrangements in the consolidated statements of income of $128.5 million. The fair value of the
contingent consideration was remeasured using forecasted future cash flows using the Real Options valuation methodology. The most significant
assumptions used to remeasure the liability were expected revenue growth rates and discount rates. In December 2024, the company agreed to finalize its
contingent consideration liability with AB CarVal for a value of $134.0 million. This liability will be paid predominantly in AB Units issued within 10 days of
December 31, 2027. Given the liability is no longer contingent, the liability of approximately $118.8 million is now recorded in accounts payable and accrued
expenses on the consolidated statements of financial condition. We will accrete the present value of the liability of $118.8 million up to $134.0 million through
December 31, 2027 and recognize this expense as general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of income on a prospective basis.
As of December 31, 2023, the contingent consideration payable associated with the CarVal acquisition was $238.5 million. In addition, during 2024, we
recorded an impairment of $2.5 million of the contingent consideration payable associated with a small acquisition made in 2020 due to the loss of
investment management contracts.

During 2023, we recorded an expense of $28.4 million due to a change in estimate related to the contingent consideration associated with the acquisition of
Autonomous LLC in 2019. The change in estimate was based upon better than expected revenues during the 2023 performance evaluation period. We

recorded $14.1 million as contingent payment arrangement expense and $14.3 million as compensation and benefits expense in the consolidated statement
of innome  The charnes tn compensatinn and henefita exnense are dile tn certain service conditinne and anecial awards inchided in the acanisitinon
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Several valuation methods may be used to determine the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. For intangible assets, we typically use a
method that is a form of the income approach, whereby a forecast of future cash flows attributable to the asset are discounted to present value using a risk-
adjusted discount rate. Similarly for contingent liabilities, we develop a forecast of future cash flows attributable to the performance objectives that are then
discounted to present value using a risk-adjusted discount rate. Some of the more significant estimates and assumptions inherent in the income approach
include the amount and timing of projected future cash flows and the discount rate selected to measure the risks inherent in the future cash flows.

Intangible Assets, Net

Intangible assets consist primarily of costs assigned to acquired investment management contracts based on their estimated fair value at the time of
acquisition, less accumulated amortization. Intangible assets are recognized at fair value and generally are amortized on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful life ranging from 5 to 20 years.

As of December 31, 2024, intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization, of $215.1 million on the consolidated statement of financial condition consists
of $199.8 million of finite-lived intangible assets subject to amortization and $15.3 million of indefinite-lived intangible assets not subject to amortization.

As of December 31, 2023, intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization, of $264.6 million on the consolidated statement of financial condition
consisted of $249.4 million of finite-lived intangible assets subject to amortization and $15.2 million of indefinite-lived intangible assets not subject to
amortization in regard to other acquisitions.

The gross carrying amount of finite-lived intangible assets totaled $320.8 million as of December 31, 2024 and $328.4 million as of December 31, 2023, and
accumulated amortization was $121.0 million as of December 31, 2024 and $79.0 million as of December 31, 2023.

Amortization expense was $45.9 million for 2024, $46.9 million for 2023 and $26.6 million for 2022. Estimated future annual amortization expense is
approximately $45 million annually in year one and two and $24 million in years three through five.

We review indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be
recoverable. This test is performed at least annually or as triggering events occur. If the carrying value exceeds fair value, we perform an impairment
assessment to measure the amount of the impairment loss, if any. During 2024, we performed an impairment assessment of our intangible assets. The
impairment assessment indicated an impairment of intangible assets associated with various smaller historical acquisitions that were other than temporary.
Due to the loss of certain investment management contracts, the carrying value of the finite-lived intangible assets exceeded the fair value of the contracts.
As such, we recorded an impairment charge of $4.4 million in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of income. The remaining
impairment assessments indicated that our intangible assets were not impaired.

During the fourth quarter of 2023, the impairment assessment indicated that our intangible assets were not impaired.

During the fourth quarter of 2022, we recorded an impairment of $5.6 million related to our 2014 acquisition of CPH Capital. Due to the loss of acquired
investment management contracts during the year, the carrying value of the finite-lived intangible assets exceeded the fair value of the contract. We
determined the fair value of the contract using a discounted cash flow model. The impairment charge was recorded in general and administrative expenses
in the consolidated statements of income.

Deferred Sales Commissions, Net

We pay commissions to financial intermediaries in connection with the sale of shares of open-end company-sponsored mutual funds sold without a front-end
sales charge (“back-end load shares”). These commissions are capitalized as deferred sales commissions and amortized over periods not exceeding one
year for U.S. fund shares and four years for Non-U.S. Fund shares, the periods of time during which deferred sales commissions generally are recovered.
We recover these commissions from distribution services fees received from those funds and from CDSC received from shareholders of those funds upon
the redemption of their shares. CDSC cash recoveries are recorded as reductions of unamortized deferred sales commissions when received. Since January
31, 2009, our U.S. mutual funds have not offered back-end load shares to new investors.

We periodically review the deferred sales commission asset for impairment as events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not
be recoverable. If these factors indicate impairment in value, we compare the carrying value to the undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the
asset over its remaining life. If we determine the deferred sales commission asset is not fully recoverable, the asset will be deemed impaired and a loss will
be recorded in the amount by which the recorded amount of the asset exceeds its estimated fair value. There were no impairment charges recorded during
2024 or 2023.

Leases

We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Both operating and finance leases are included in the right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and lease
liabilities in our consolidated statement of financial condition.
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information available as of the lease commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. Our lease terms may include options to
extend or terminate the lease. These options to extend or terminate are assessed on a lease-by-lease basis, and the ROU assets and lease liabilities are
adjusted when it is reasonably certain that an option will be exercised.

When calculating the measurement of ROU assets and lease liabilities, we utilize the fixed payments associated with the lease and do not include other
variable contractual obligations, such as operating expenses, real estate taxes, cleaning and utilities. These costs are accounted for as period costs and
expensed as incurred.

Additionally, we exclude any intangible assets such as software licensing agreements as stated in ASC 842-10-15-1. These arrangements will continue to
follow the guidance of ASC 350, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other.

Loss Contingencies

With respect to all significant litigation matters, we consider the likelihood of a negative outcome. If we determine the likelihood of a negative outcome is
probable and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated, we record an estimated loss for the expected outcome of the litigation. Any such accruals
are adjusted thereafter as appropriate to reflect changed circumstances. When we are able to do so, we also determine estimates of reasonably possible
losses or ranges of reasonably possible losses for such matters, whether in excess of any related accrued liability or where there is no accrued liability, and
we disclose an estimate of the possible loss or range of losses. However, it is often difficult to predict the outcome or estimate a possible loss or range of
loss because litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties, particularly when plaintiffs allege substantial or indeterminate damages. Such is particularly the
case when the litigation is in its early stages or when the litigation is highly complex or broad in scope. In these cases, we disclose that we are unable to
predict the outcome or estimate a possible loss or range of loss.

Assets and Liabilities Held for Sale

The Company classifies assets and liabilities to be sold (disposal group) as held for sale in the period when all of the applicable criteria are met, including: (i)
management commits to a plan to sell, (ii) the disposal group is available to sell in its present condition, (iii) there is an active program to locate a buyer, (iv)
the disposal group is being actively marketed at a reasonable price in relation to its fair value, (v) significant changes to the plan to sell are unlikely, and (vi)
the sale of the disposal group is generally probable of being completed within one year. Management performs an assessment of held for sale at least
quarterly or when events or changes in business circumstances indicate that a change in classification may be necessary. Assets and liabilities held for sale
are presented separately within the consolidated statements of financial condition with any adjustments necessary to measure the disposal group at the
lower of its carrying value or fair value less costs to sell. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization of intangible and right-of-use assets
are not recorded while these assets are classified as held for sale. For each reporting period the disposal group remains classified as held for sale, the
carrying value of the disposal group is adjusted for subsequent changes in fair value less costs to sell. A loss is recognized for any subsequent decrease in
fair value less costs to sell, while a gain is recognized in any subsequent period for any subsequent increase in fair value less cost to sell, but not in excess
of the cumulative loss previously recognized. If, in any period, the carrying value of the disposal group exceeds the estimated fair value less costs to sell, a
loss is recognized on sale rather than an impairment loss.

Effective April 1, 2024, AB and SocGen completed their previously announced transaction to form a global joint venture with two joint venture holding
companies. We have deconsolidated our BRS business and contributed the assets and liabilities previously held for sale of the BRS business to the JVs.

Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale as of December 31, 2023 were $564.8 million and $153.3 million, respectively.

Mutual Fund Underwriting Activities

Purchases and sales of shares of company-sponsored mutual funds in connection with the underwriting activities of our subsidiaries, including related
commission income, are recorded on the trade date. Receivables from brokers and dealers for sale of shares of company-sponsored mutual funds generally
are realized within three business days from the trade date, in conjunction with the settlement of the related payables to company-sponsored mutual funds
for share purchases. Distribution plan and other promotion and servicing payments are recognized as expense when incurred.

Long-term Incentive Compensation Plans

We maintain several unfunded, non-qualified long-term incentive compensation plans, under which we grant annual awards to employees, generally in the
fourth quarter, and to members of the Board of Directors of the General Partner, who are not employed by our company or by any of our affiliates ("Eligible
Directors").

Awards granted in December 2024, 2023 and 2022 allowed employees to allocate their awards between restricted units representing assignments of
beneficial ownership of limited partnership interests in AllianceBernstein Holding L.P. (“AB Holding Units”) and deferred cash. Participants (except certain
members of senior management) generally could allocate up to 50% of their awards to deferred cash, not to exceed a total of $250,000 per award. Each of
our employees based outside

72 AllianceBernstein
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of the United States (other than expatriates), who received an award of $100,000 or less, could have allocated 100% of their award to deferred cash.
Starting in December 2024, each of our employees based outside the United States (other than expatriates) generally could allocate up to 50% of their
awards to deferred cash, not to exceed a total of $500,000, or 100% of their award to deferred cash for those who received an award of $500,000 or less.
The number of AB Holding Units awarded was based on the closing price of an AB Holding Unit as of the eighth business day of December as determined
by the Compensation and Workplace Practices Committee (the "Compensation Committee") of the Board of Directors (the "Board"). For awards granted in
2024, 2023 and 2022:

+ We engaged in open-market purchases of AB Holding Units or purchase newly issued AB Holding Units from AB Holding that are awarded to participants
and keep them in a consolidated rabbi trust.

* Quarterly distributions on vested and unvested AB Holding Units were paid to participants, regardless of whether or not a long-term deferral election had
been made.

« Interest on deferred cash was accrued monthly based on our monthly weighted average cost of funds.

We recognize compensation expense related to equity compensation grants in the financial statements using the fair value method. Fair value of restricted
AB Holding Unit awards is the closing price of an AB Holding Unit on the grant date; fair value of options is determined using the Black-Scholes option
valuation model. Under the fair value method, compensatory expense is measured at the grant date based on the estimated fair value of the award and is
recognized over the required service period. For year-end long-term incentive compensation awards, employees who resign or are terminated without cause
may retain their awards, provided the employee remains in compliance with certain agreements and covenants set forth in the applicable award agreement,
including the imposition of forfeiture as a result of post-employment competition, prohibitions on employee and client solicitation, and a potential claw-back
for failing to follow existing risk management policies. Because there is no service requirement, we fully expense these awards on the grant date. Most
equity replacement or similar deferred compensation awards included in separate employment agreements or arrangements include a required service
period. Regardless of whether the award agreement includes employee service requirements, AB Holding Units are typically delivered to employees ratably
over three to four years, unless the employee has made a long-term deferral election.

Grants of restricted AB Holding Units can be awarded to Eligible Directors. Generally, these restricted AB Holding Units vest ratably over three years. These
restricted AB Holding Units are not forfeitable (except if the Eligible Director is terminated for “Cause,” as that term is defined in the applicable award
agreement). We fully expense these awards on grant date, as there is no service requirement.

We hedge our restricted AB Holding Unit awards either by purchasing AB Holding Units on the open market or purchasing newly-issued AB Holding Units
from AB Holding, and then keeping these AB Holding Units in a consolidated rabbi trust until delivering them or retiring them. In accordance with the
Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of AB (“AB”), when AB purchases newly-issued AB Holding Units from AB Holding, AB Holding is
required to use the proceeds it receives from AB to purchase the equivalent number of newly issued AB Units, thus increasing its percentage ownership
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on our behalf in accordance with the terms and limitations specified in the plan. Repurchases are subject to regulations promulgated by the SEC as well as
certain price, market volume and timing constraints specified in the plan. There was no plan adopted during the fourth quarter of 2024. We may adopt
additional plans in the future to engage in open-market purchases of AB Holding Units to help fund anticipated obligations under our incentive compensation
award program and for other corporate purposes.

During 2024, we granted to employees and Eligible Directors 5.9 million restricted AB Holding Units (including 4.1 million granted in December 2024 under
our year-end Incentive Compensation Award Program to employees). During 2023, we granted to employees and Eligible Directors 5.6 million restricted AB
Holding Units (including 5.0 million granted in December 2023 under our year-end Incentive Compensation Award Program to employees). We used AB
Holding Units repurchased during the periods and newly-issued AB Holding Units to fund these awards.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated from functional currencies into United States dollars (“US$”) at exchange rates in effect at the
balance sheet dates, and related revenues and expenses are transiated into US$ at average exchange rates in effect during each period. Net foreign
currency gains and losses resulting from the translation of assets and liabilities of foreign operations into US$ are reported as a separate component of other
comprehensive income in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Net foreign currency transaction losses were $3.7 million, $4.5 million and
$10.2 million for 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and are reported in general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of income.

Cash Distributions

AB is required to distribute all of its Available Cash Flow, as defined in the AB Partnership Agreement, to its Unitholders and to the General Partner.
Available Cash Flow can be summarized as the cash flow received by AB from operations minus such amounts as the General Partner determines, in its
sole discretion, should be retained by AB for use in its business, or plus such amounts as the General Partner determines, in its sole discretion, should be
released from previously retained cash flow.

Typically, Available Cash Flow has been the adjusted diluted net income per unit for the quarter multiplied by the number of general and limited partnership
interests at the end of the quarter. In future periods, management anticipates that Available Cash Flow will be based on adjusted diluted net income per unit,
unless management determines, with the concurrence of the Board, that one or more adjustments that are made for adjusted net income should not be
made with respect to the Available Cash Flow calculation.

On February 6, 2025, the General Partner declared a distribution of $1.15 per AB Unit, representing a distribution of Available Cash Flow for the three
months ended December 31, 2024. The General Partner, as a result of its 1.0% general partnership interest, is entitled to receive 1.0% of each distribution.
The distribution is payable on March 13, 2025 to holders of record on February 18, 2025.

Total cash distributions per Unit paid to the General Partner and Unitholders during 2024, 2023 and 2022 were $3.30, $2.92 and $3.87, respectively.

Comprehensive Income

We report all changes in comprehensive income in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Comprehensive income includes net income, as
well as foreign currency translation adjustments, actuarial gains (losses) and prior service cost. Deferred taxes were not recognized on foreign currency
translation adjustments for foreign subsidiaries which had earnings that were considered permanently invested outside the United States.

Reclassification

During 2024, amounts previously presented on the consolidated statement of cash flow as "other assets and liabilities of company-sponsored investment
funds, net" are now presented as "other assets of company- sponsored investment funds" and "other liabilities of company-sponsored investment funds”.
Prior period amounts previously presented as such have been reclassified to conform to the current periods presentation.

During 2024, amounts previously presented on the consolidated statement of financial condition as "long-term incentive compensation-related" investments
are now presented as "other" investments. Prior period amounts previously presented as such have been reclassified to conform to the current periods
presentation.

During 2024, the contingent liability of approximately $118.8 million associated with the CarVal acquisition previously recorded in contingent consideration
liahilitv an the annanlidated statements of financial eonditinn is now recnrded in aceniinta navahle and ancriied exnenses Arcretinn exnense asanciated with
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Subsequent Events

We evaluate subseduent events through the date that these financial statements are filed with the SEC and did not identify any subseauent events that
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Total investments related to long-term incentive compensation obligations of $42.8 million and $40.0 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively,
consist of company-sponsored mutual funds and hedge funds. For long-term incentive compensation awards granted before 2009, we typically made
investments in company-sponsored mutual funds and hedge funds that were notionally elected by plan participants and maintained them (and continue to
maintain them) in a consolidated rabbi trust or separate custodial account. The rabbi trust and custodial account enable us to hold such investments
separate from our other assets for the purpose of settling our obligations to participants. The investments held in the rabbi trust and custodial account remain
available to the general creditors of AB.

The underlying investments of hedge funds in which we invest include long and short positions in equity securities, fixed income securities (including various
agency and non-agency asset-based securities), currencies, commodities and derivatives (including various swaps and forward contracts). These
investments are valued at quoted market prices or, where quoted market prices are not available, are fair valued based on the pricing policies and
procedures of the underlying funds.

We allocate seed capital to our investment teams to help develop new products and services for our clients. A portion ofour seed cap|ta| trading investments

are equity and fix me products, primarily ir

bourg funds, Japanese

s, US m

investment trust management funds or Delaware business trusts. \We also may allocate seed capital to investments in pnvate equity funds. Regarding our
seed capital investments, the amounts above reflect those funds in which we are not the primary beneficiary of a VIE or hold a controlling financial interest in
a VOE. See Note 15, Consolidated Company-Sponsored Investment Funds, for a description of the seed capital investments that we consolidate. As of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, our total seed capital investments were $294.7 million and $394.2 million, respectively. Seed capital investments in
unconsolidated company-sponsored investment funds are valued using published net asset values or non-published net asset values if they are not listed on
an active exchange but have net asset values that are comparable to funds with published net asset values and have no redemption restrictions.

the form of separately managed account port:
th separately managea account porti

On April 1, 2024, we deconsolidated our BRS business and contributed the business to the JVs. We record our subsequent investment in the JVs under the
equny method of accounting and our investment in joint ventures includes our investments in these JVs (for further discussion, see Note 2 Significant
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Notional Derivative Derivative Gains
Value Assets Liabilities (Losses)

(in thousands)

Option swaps 50,232 1 135 (2,107)
Total derivatives $ 446,989 §$ 14,518 § 18,180 $ (16,410)

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the derivative assets and liabilities are included in both receivables and payables to brokers and dealers on our
consolidated statements of financial condition. Gains and losses on derivative instruments are reported in investment gains (losses) on the consolidated
statements of income.

We may be exposed to credit-related losses in the event of non-performance by counterparties to derivative financial instruments. We minimize our
counterparty exposure through a credit review and approval process. In addition, we have executed various collateral arrangements with counterparties to
the over-the-counter derivative transactions that require both pledging and accepting collateral in the form of cash. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we
held $10.4 million and $5.7 million, respectively, of cash collateral payable to trade counterparties. This obligation to return cash is reported in payables to
brokers and dealers in our consolidated statements of financial condition.

Although notional amount is the typical measure of volume in the derivatives market, it is not used as a measure of credit risk. Generally, the current credit
exposure of our derivative contracts is limited to the net positive estimated fair value of derivative contracts at the reporting date after taking into
consideration the existence of netting agreements and any collateral received. A derivative with positive value (a derivative asset) indicates existence of
credit risk because the counterparty would owe us if the contract were closed. Alternatively, a derivative contract with negative value (a derivative liability)
indicates we would owe money to the counterparty if the contract were closed. Generally, if there is more than one derivative transaction with a single
counterparty, a master netting arrangement exists with respect to derivative transactions with that counterparty to provide for aggregate net settlement.

Our standardized contracts for over-the-counter derivative transactions, known as ISDA master agreements, provide for collateralization. As of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, we delivered $5.2 million and $7.8 million, respectively, of cash collateral into brokerage accounts. We report this cash
collateral in cash and cash equivalents in our consolidated statements of financial condition.

As a result of the deconsolidation of the BRS business on April 1, 2024, we no longer have long and short exchange-traded equity options. As of December
31, 2023, these equity options were classified as held for sale on our consolidated statement of financial condition. For further discussion, see Note 24
Divestiture.

Prior to the deconsolidation of the BRS business, our options desk provided our clients with equity derivative strategies and execution for exchange-traded
nntinna nn sinale atncks exchanae-traded fiinds and indices While nrednminatelv anennv-hased the nntinna desk had the ahilitv tn commit canital ta
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investment funds.

Offsetting of assets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 was as follows:

Gross

Amounts
Gross Offset in the
Amounts of] Statement| Statement of|

Financial Cash

Derivatives

14,518 —_ 14,518

— (5,691) 8,827

Offsetting of liabilities as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 was as follows:

Gross
Amounts

Offset in the
Statement|
of

Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets are available for identical assets or liabilities as of the reported date.
Level 2—Quoted prices in markets that are not active or other pricing inputs that are either directly or indirectly observable as of the reported date.
Level 3—Prices or valuation techniques that are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable as of the reported date. These financial

instruments do not have two-way markets and are measured using management's best estimate of fair value, where the inputs into the determination of
fair value require significant management judgment or estimation.
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Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Valuation of our financial instruments by pricina observability levels as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 was as follows (in thousands):

LTUTHIVET VI, £ULV.

Money markets $ 146,906 $ — 3 — 8 —  § 146,906
Securities segregated (U.S. Treasury Bills) — 867,679 — — 867,679
Derivatives 1 14,517 — — 14,518
Equity securities 113,833 32,104 118 1,598 147,653
Other investments 7,870 — — — 7,870
Total assets measured at fair value $ 268,610 §$ 914,300 $ 118 § 1,598 $ 1,184,626
Derivatives $ 3,511 $ 14669 $ —  $ —  $ 18,180
Contingent payment arrangements — — 252,690 — 252,690
Total liabilities measured at fair value $ 3,511 $ 14,669 $ 252690 $ —  $ 270,870

M Investments measured at fair value using NAV (or its equivalent) as a practical expedient.
Other investments included in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy include our investment in a mutual fund measured at fair value.

We provide below a description of the fair value methodologies used for instruments measured at fair value, as well as the general classification of such
instruments pursuant to the valuation hierarchy:

« Money markets: \We invest excess cash in various money market funds that are valued based on quoted prices in active markets; these are included in
Level 1 of the valuation hierarchy.

« Treasury Bills: \We hold U.S. Treasury Bills, which are primarily segregated in a special reserve bank custody account as required by Rule 15¢3-3 of the
Exchange Act. These securities are valued based on quoted yields in secondary markets and are included in Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy.

« Equity securities: Our equity securities consist principally of company-sponsored mutual funds with NAVs and various separately managed portfolios
consisting primarily of equity and fixed income mutual funds with quoted prices in active markets, which are included in Level 1 of the valuation hierarchy.
In addition, some securities are valued based on observable inputs from recognized pricing vendors, which are included in Level 2 of the valuation
hierarchy.

+ Derivatives: \We hold exchange-traded futures with counterparties that are included in Level 1 of the valuation hierarchy. In addition, we also hold
currency forward contracts, interest rate swaps, credit default swaps, option swaps and total return swaps with counterparties that are valued based on
observable inputs from recognized pricing vendors, which are included in Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy.

« Contingent payment arrangements: Contingent payment arrangements relate to contingent payment liabilities associated with various acquisitions. At
each reporting date, we estimate the fair values of the contingent consideration expected to be paid upon probability-weighted AUM and revenue
projections, using unobservable market data inputs, which are included in Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy.
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During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were no transfers between Level 2 and Level 3 securities.

The change in carrying value associated with Level 3 financial instruments carried at fair value, classified as equity securities, is as follows:

During 2022, we acquired CarVal Investors which included a contingent consideration liability ranging from zero to $650.0 million and is based on CarVal
achieving certain performance objectives over a six-year period ending December 31, 2027. The fair value of the contingent liability is remeasured each
reporting period. During 2024, we remeasured the contingent liability and recorded a gain reflected within contingent payment arrangements in the
consolidated statements of income of $128.5 million. The fair value of the contingent consideration is remeasured using forecasted future cash flows using
the Real Options valuation methodology. The most significant assumptions used to remeasure the liability were expected revenue growth rates and discount
rates.

In December 2024, the company agreed to finalize its contingent consideration liability with AB CarVal for a value of $134.0 million. This liability will be paid
predominantly in AB Units issued within 10 days of December 31, 2027. Given the liability is no longer contingent, the liability of approximately $118.8 million
is now recorded in accounts payable and accrued expenses on the consolidated statements of financial condition. We will accrete the present value of the
liability of $118.8 million up to $134.0 million through December 31, 2027 and recognize this expense as general and administrative expenses on the
consolidated statements of income on a prospective basis. As of December 31, 2023, the contingent consideration payable associated with the CarVal
acquisition was $238.5 million.

As of December 31, 2024, the expected revenue growth rates ranged from 2.0% to 29.3%, with a weighted average of 5.5%, calculated using cumulative
revenues and range of revenue growth rates. The discount rates range from 1.9% to 10.4%, with a weighted average of 7.3%, calculated using total
contingent liabilities and range of discount rates.

As of December 31, 2023, the expected revenue growth rates range from 2.0% to 83.9%, with a weighted average of 10.3%, calculated using cumulative
revenues and range of revenue growth rates. The discount rates ranged from 1.9% to 10.4%, with a weighted average of 4.6%, calculated using total
contingent liabilities and range of discount rates.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis
We did not have any material assets or liabilities that were measured at fair value for impairment on a nonrecurring basis during the years ended

December 31, 2024 or 2023.
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2025 76,415
2026 68,192
2027 36,553
2028 1,547
Total 182,707
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leverage ratio. As of December 31, 2024, we were in compliance with these covenants. The Credit Facility also includes customary events of default (with
customary grace periods, as applicable), including provisions under which, upon the occurrence of an event of default, all outstanding loans may be
accelerated and/or lender’s commitments may be terminated. Also, under such provisions, upon the occurrence of certain insolvency- or bankruptcy-related
events of default, all amounts payable under the Credit Facility would automatically become immediately due and payable, and the lender’s commitments
automatically would terminate.

Amounts under the Credit Facility may be borrowed, repaid and re-borrowed by us from time to time until the maturity of the facility. Voluntary prepayments
and commitment reductions requested by us are permitted at any time without a fee (other than customary breakage costs relating to the prepayment of any
drawn loans) upon proper notice and subject to a minimum dollar requirement. Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interest at a rate per annum, which
will be, at our option, a rate equal to an applicable margin, which is subject to adjustment based on the credit ratings of AB, plus one of the following indices:
a term Secured Overnight Financial Rate; a Prime rate; or the Federal Funds rate.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had no amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility. During 2024 and 2023, we did not draw upon the Credit
F

EQH Facility

AB also has a $900.0 million committed, unsecured senior credit facility (‘EQH Facility”) with EQH. The EQH Facility was amended and restated as of
August 30, 2024, extending the maturity date to August 31, 2029. There were no other significant changes included in the amendment. The EQH facility is
available for AB's general business purposes. Borrowings under the EQH Facility generally bear interest at a rate per annum based on prevailing overnight
commercial paper rates.

The EQH Facility contains affirmative, negative and financial covenants which are substantially similar to those in AB’s committed bank facilities. As of
December 31, 2024, we were in compliance with these covenants. The EQH Facility also includes customary events of default substantially similar to those
in AB’s committed bank facilities, including provisions under which, upon the occurrence of an event of default, all outstanding loans may be accelerated
and/or the lender’'s commitment may be terminated.

Amounts under the EQH Facility may be borrowed, repaid and re-borrowed by us from time to time until the maturity of the facility. AB or EQH may reduce or
terminate the commitment at any time without penalty upon proper notice. EQH also may terminate the facility immediately upon a change of control of our
general partner.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, AB had $710.0 million and $900.0 million outstanding under the EQH Facility with interest rates of approximately 4.3%
and 5.3%, respectively. Average daily borrowings on the EQH Facility during 2024 and 2023 were $494.2 million and $743.1 million, respectively, with
weighted average interest rates of approximately 5.2% and 4.9%, respectively.

EQH Uncommitted Facility

In addition to the EQH Facility, AB has a $300.0 million uncommitted, unsecured senior credit facility (‘EQH Uncommitted Facility”) with EQH. The EQH
Uncommitted Facility was amended and restated as of August 30, 2024, extending the maturity date to August 31, 2029. There were no other significant
changes included in the amendment. The EQH Uncommitted facility is available for AB's general business purposes. Borrowings under the EQH Unsecured
Facility generally bear interest at a rate per annum based on prevailing overnight commercial paper rates. The EQH Uncommitted Facility contains
affirmative, negative and financial covenants which are substantially similar to those in the EQH Facility. As of December 31, 2024, we were in compliance
with these covenants. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had no amounts outstanding under the EQH Uncommitted Facility. We did not draw upon the
EQH Uncommitted Facility during 2024. Average daily borrowings during 2023 were $3.6 million with a weighted average interest rate of approximately
4.6%.

Commercial Paper

As of December 31, 2024, we had no commercial paper outstanding. As of December 31, 2023, we had $254.3 million of commercial paper outstanding with
an interest rate of 5.4%. The commercial paper is short term in nature, and as such, recorded value is estimated to approximate fair value (and considered a
Level 2 security in the fair value hierarchy). Average daily borrowings of commercial paper during 2024 and 2023 were $268.2 million and $267.6 million,
respectively, with weighted average interest rates of approximately 5.4% and 5.2%, respectively.
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SCB Lines of Credit
SCB LLC had five uncommitted lines of credit as of December 31, 2023, two of which matured during the third quarter of 2024. As of December 31, 2024,

SCR || € has three uncommitted lines of credit with three financial institutions Two of these lines of credit nermit 1s ta harrow un ta an anareaate of
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The sublease income represents all revenues received from sub-tenants. It is primarily fixed base rental payments combined with variable reimbursements
such as operating expenses, real estate taxes and employee parking. The vast majority of sub-tenant income is derived from our New York metro sub-tenant

agreements. Sub-tenant income related to base rent is recorded on a straight-line basis.

Maturities of lease liabilities are as follows:

Year ending December 31, (in thousands)
2025 $ 59,311 $ 4,341 $ 63,652
2026 61,279 2,973 64,252
2027 58,405 1,216 59,621
2028 52,160 297 52,457
2029 49,235 — 49,235
Thereafter 415,489 — 415,489
Total lease payments 695,879 8827 § 704,706
Less interest (191,708) (383)
Present value of lease liabilities $ 504,171  $ 8,444
We signed a lease that commenced during the first quarter of 2024, relating to approximately 166,000 square feet of space in New York City.
Lease term and discount rate:
Weighted average remaining lease term (years):
Operating leases 13.65
Finance leases 230
Weighted average discount rate:
Operating leases 441 %
Finance leases 361%
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Sublease Receipts Net Payments

(in millions)
2025 $ 676 $ 23) $ 65.3
2026 64.8 2.7) 62.1
2027 60.4 2.7) 57.7
2028 529 2.7) 50.2
2029 49.8 2.7) 471
2030 and thereafter 4195 (4.7) 414.8
Total future minimum payments $ 7150 $ (17.8) $ 697.2

See Note 13 Leases for material lease commitments.

Legal Proceedings

For significant litigation matters, we assess the likelihood of a negative outcome. If a negative outcome is probable and the loss can be reasonably
estimated, we record an estimated loss. If a negative outcome is reasonably possible and we can estimate the potential loss or range of loss, or if a negative
outcome is probable and we can estimate the potential loss or range of loss beyond any amounts already accrued, we disclose this information. However,
predicting outcomes or estimating losses is often challenging due to litigation uncertainties, especially in early stages or complex cases. In such instances,
we disclose our inability to predict the outcome or estimate losses.

AB may face regulatory inquiries, administrative proceedings, and litigation, some alleging significant damages. While it is possible we could incur losses
from these matters, we cannot currently estimate such losses or their range. Management, after consulting with legal counsel, believes that the outcome of
any individual or combined matters will not materially affect our operations, financial condition, or liquidity. However, due to inherent uncertainties, future
developments could potentially have a material adverse effect on our results, financial condition, or liquidity in future reporting periods.

Guarantees

Effective April 1, 2024 AB and SocGen completed their previously announced transaction to form the JVs. At the time of closing, Bernstein Institutional
Services LLC (“BIS”), the U.S. broker-dealer subsidiary of the NA JV, entered into a credit facility agreement with SocGen, as lender, providing for up to
$60.0 million of working capital. As a condition of the credit facility and until SocGen’s ownership exceeds 50% of NA JV, AB will provide a limited guarantee
under which AB will guarantee up to its percentage ownership, currently 66.7%, of any unpaid obligations of BIS. As of December 31, 2024, there were no
unpaid obligations under this facility requiring a guarantee by AB.

In addition, in connection with the close of the transaction, AB will indemnify SocGen Canada ("SG Canada") for certain obligations and liabilities in relation
to Sanford C. Bernstein Canada ("SCB Canada") until such time as SocGen exceeds 50% ownership of NA JV (the “Canadian Regulatory Guarantee”).
Under the terms of the Canadian Regulatory Guarantee, SG Canada must guarantee the customer liabilities of SCB Canada to the full extent of its
regulatory capital which fluctuates based upon business activity. AB has agreed to indemnify SG Canada for 66.7% of any amounts paid by SG Canada
under the Canadian Regulatory Guarantee. As of December 31, 2024, there were no unpaid obligations requiring a guarantee by AB.

Commitments
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The balances of consolidated VIEs and VOEs included in our consolidated statements of financial condition were as follows:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Changes in the redeemable non-controlling interest balance during the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2024 are as follows (in thousands):

Redeemable non-controlling interest as of December 31, 2023

$ 209,420
Deconsolidated funds (206,806)
Changes in third-party seed investments in consolidated funds 45875
Redeemable non-controlling interest as of December 31, 2024 $ 48,489
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Fair Value

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand. demand deposits. overniaht commercial paper and highly liquid investments with oriainal maturities of

Investments - VOEs 9,036 101,519 — 110,555

Derivatives - VIEs 2,139 2,763 — 4,902
Derivatives - VOEs — 8,775 — 8,775
Total assets measured at fair value $ 60,630 $ 350,221 $ —  $ 410,851
Derivatives - VIEs $ 944  § 1587 § — 3 2,531
Total liabilities measured at fair value $ 944 $ 1,587 §$ —  $ 2,531

See Note 9 for a description of the fair value methodologies used for instruments measured at fair value, as well as the general classification of such
instruments pursuant to the valuation hierarchy.

There were no Level 3 financial instruments carried at fair value within the consolidated company-sponsored investment funds during the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Derivative Instruments

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the VIEs held zero and $2.4 million (net), respectively, of futures, forwards, options and swaps within their portfolios. For
the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we recognized zero and $0.1 million of gains, respectively, on these derivatives. These gains and losses are
recognized in investment gains (losses) in the consolidated statements of income.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the VIEs held zero and $1.4 million, respectively, of cash collateral payable to trade counterparties. This obligation to
return cash is reported in the liabilities of consolidated company-sponsored investment funds in our consolidated statements of financial condition.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the VIEs delivered $0.3 million and $1.4 million, respectively, of cash collateral into brokerage accounts. The VIEs
report this cash collateral in the consolidated company-sponsored investment funds cash and cash equivalents in our consolidated statements of financial
condition.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the VOEs held $11.5 million and $8.8 million, respectively, of futures, forwards, options and swaps within their portfolios.
For the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we recognized zero and $0.1 million of losses, respectively, on these derivatives. These gains and losses
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Offsetting Assets and Liabilities

Offsettina of derivative assets of consolidated company-sponsored investment funds as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 was as follows:

Derivatives - VIEs 3 2,531 $ — % 2,531 $ — 3 (1,408) § 1,123

Cash collateral, whether pledged or received on derivative instruments, is not considered material and, accordingly, is not disclosed by counterparty.

Non-Consolidated VIEs

As of December 31, 2024, the net assets of company-sponsored investment products that are non-consolidated VIEs are approximately $46.9 billion; our
maximum risk of loss is our investment of $17.3 million in these VIEs and our advisory fees receivable from these VIEs are $115.2 million. As of
December 31, 2023, the net assets of company-sponsored investment products that were non-consolidated VIEs was approximately $54.6 billion; our

mavimim riel nf lnce wace anirimmetmant Af R1N R millinn in thaca \/IEe and anir adhiieans faae raraiviahla fram thaeca \/IEe wara €114 K millian

AllianceBernstein Investments, Inc. ("ABI"), another one of our subsidiaries and the distributor and/or underwriter for certain company-sponsored mutual
funds, is registered as a broker-dealer under the Exchange Act and is subject to the minimum net capital requirements imposed by the SEC. As of
December 31, 2024, ABI had net capital of $27.5 million, which was $27.2 million in excess of its required minimum net capital of $0.3 million.

Our U.K.-based broker-dealer and various international subsidiaries which were subject to minimum net capital requirements were contributed to the joint
ventures effective April 1, 2024. See Note 24 Divestitures for further discussion.
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Customer Activities

In the normal course of business, brokerage activities involve the execution, settlement and financing of various customer securities trades, which may
expose our broker-dealer operations to off-balance sheet risk by requiring us to purchase or sell securities at prevailing market prices in the event the
customer is unable to fulfill its contractual obligations.

Our customer securities activities are transacted on either a cash or margin basis. In margin transactions, we extend credit to the customer, subject to
various regulatory and internal margin requirements. These transactions are collateralized by cash or securities in the customer’s account. In connection with
these activities, we may execute and clear customer transactions involving the sale of securities not yet purchased. We seek to control the risks associated
with margin transactions by requiring customers to maintain collateral in compliance with the aforementioned regulatory and internal guidelines. Ve monitor
required margin levels daily and, pursuant to such guidelines, require customers to deposit additional collateral, or reduce positions, when necessary. A
majority of our customer margin accounts are managed on a discretionary basis whereby we maintain control over the investment activity in the accounts.
For these discretionary accounts, our margin deficiency exposure is minimized by our maintaining a diversified portfolio of securities in the accounts, our
discretionary authority and our U.S.-based broker-dealer's role as custodian.

In accordance with industry practice, we record customer transactions on a settlement date basis. We are exposed to risk of loss on these transactions in the
event of the customer’s inability to meet the terms of their contracts, in which case we may have to purchase or sell financial instruments at prevailing market
prices. The risks we assume in connection with these transactions are not expected to have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of
operations.

Other Counterparties

We are engaged in various brokerage, futures, forwards, options and swap activities on behalf of clients, in which counterparties primarily include broker-
dealers, banks and other financial institutions. In the event these counterparties do not fulfill their obligations, our clients and we may be exposed to loss.
The risk of default depends on the creditworthiness of the counterparty. It is our policy to review, as necessary, each counterparty’s creditworthiness.

In connection with security borrowing and lending arrangements, we enter into collateralized agreements, which may result in potential loss in the event the
counterparty to a transaction is unable to fulfill its contractual obligations. Security borrowing arrangements require us to deposit cash collateral with the
lender. With respect to security lending arrangements, we receive collateral in the form of cash in amounts generally in excess of the market value of the
securities loaned. We attempt to mitigate credit risk associated with these activities by establishing credit limits for each broker and monitoring these limits on
a daily basis. Additionally, security borrowing and lending collateral is marked to market on a daily basis, and additional collateral is deposited by or returned
to us as necessary.

Through the normal course of business, we may have bank deposits that exceed FDIC insurance limits. A failure of the bank could lead to losses on our
deposits. These deposits levels are often temporary, and we attempt to mitigate this risk by using high quality banks that are systemically important.

We enter into various futures, forwards, options and swaps primarily to economically hedge certain of our seed money investments. WWe may be exposed to
credit losses in the event of nonperformance by counterparties to these derivative financial instruments. See Note 7, Derivative Instruments for further
discussion.
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During 2024, the Compensation Committee of the AB Board of Directors approved the termination of the Retirement Plan, effective May 22, 2024. We began
the process of settling benefits with vested participants and all lump sum disbursements elected by plan participants were distributed in December 2024 in
the amount of $35.0 million. The remaining retirement plan participants who did not elect a lump sum disbursement elected to roll over their benefit to a
group annuity contract from a qualified insurance company to administer all future payments. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we recognized a
non-cash settlement charge of approximately $13.1 million related to Retirement Plan losses and the reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive
loss to general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of income. The company will elect the qualified insurance company to administer
all future payments during the first quarter of 2025 at which point, the remaining benefit obligation will be purchased by the insurance carrier and we will fully
terminate the plan and recognize a gain or loss on the pension settlement at that time. As of December 31, 2024 the Retirement Plan was underfunded with
a benefit obligation of $68.6 million and plan assets of $63.3 million.

Our policy is to satisfy our funding obligation for each year in an amount not less than the minimum required by ERISA and not greater than the maximum
amount we can deduct for federal income tax purposes. We did not make a contribution to the Retirement Plan during 2024. The Company expects to make
a contribution to the Retirement Plan during the first quarter of 2025 in the amount of $5.3 million to fully fund the Retirement Plan, purchase the group
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The amounts recognized in other comprehensive income for the Retirement Plan for 2024, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

The gain of $5.5 million recognized in 2024 was primarily due to lump sum settlement activity of $13.7 million ($13.1 million of settlement related gains
recognized from accumulated other comprehensive income to a realized loss on the consolidated statements of income during the year ended December 31,
2024 and $0.6 million of pension cost amortization) offset by a loss of ($8.2 million). The loss of ($8.2 million) reflects a decrease in the discount rate due to
plan termination assumptions using a yield curve rather than ongoing accounting basis assumptions using a bond model increasing the benefit obligation by
($2.2 million), termination pricing increasing the obligation by ($5.7 million) and a loss on plan assets of ($0.6 million), offset by new census data of
$0.3 million.

The gain of $8.8 million recognized in 2023 was primarily due to actual earnings exceeding expected earnings on plan assets of ($6.9 million), the
recognized actuarial loss of ($0.9 million) changes in the discount rate and lump sum interest rates of ($0.5 million), and changes in the census data
($0.5 million).

The gain of $6.5 million recognized in 2022 was primarily due to changes in the discount rate and lump sum interest rates of ($38.7 million), settlement loss
recognized of ($1.7 million) and the recognized actuarial loss of ($1.0 million), offset by actual earnings less than expected earnings on plan assets of
($34.0 million), changes in the census data ($0.5 million) and changes in adjustments for participants who received their pension as a lump sum
($0.4 million).

Foreign retirement plans and an individual's retirement plan maintained by AB are not material to AB's consolidated financial statements. As such, disclosure
for these plans is not necessary. The reconciliation of the 2024 amounts recognized in other comprehensive income for the Retirement Plan as compared to
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (the "OCI Statement") is as follows:

Foreign
Retirement Retired Retirement (o]e]]
Plan Individual Plan Plans Statement

(in thousands)

Recognized actuarial gain $ 5534 § 573 § 328 % 6,435
Amortization of prior service cost 24 — — 24
Changes in employee benefit related items 5,558 573 328 6,459
Income tax (expense) (20) (4) (65) (89)
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The accumulated benefit obligation for the plan was $68.6 million and $98.4 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The discount rates used to determine benefit obligations as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 (measurement dates) were 5.15% and 5.40%, respectively. The
diseniint rate to determine the henefit ablination as of Decemhear 31 2024 has heen adinsted hv the anniitv niirchase nreminm ta estimate the imnendina

In developing the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets of 5.25%, management considered the historical returns and future expectations for
returns for each asset category, as well as the target asset allocation of the portfolio. The expected long-term rate of return on assets is based on weighted
average expected returns for each asset class.

As of December 31, 2024, the mortality projection assumption used the generational MP-2021 improvement scale, which is consistent with the improvement
scale used in 2023 and 2022. The base mortality assumption used is the Society of Actuaries PRI-2012 base mortality table for private sector plans, with a
white-collar adjustment, using the contingent annuitant table for beneficiaries of deceased participants.

For fiscal year-end 2024, we reflected the most recently published Internal Revenue Service table for lump sums paid in 2024.

The Retirement Plan’s asset allocation percentages consisted of:

The Investment Committee oversees investments for the benefit of the Retirement Plan. The objective of the investment program is to closely match the
potential plan termination liability and to minimize funded status volatility, thereby promoting the ongoing ability of the Retirement Plan to meet future
liabilities and obligations, while minimizing the need for additional contributions and managing the Retirement Plan’s funded status appropriately. The asset
allocation was updated to 100% liability hedging investments (cash and cash equivalents) in light of the pending Retirement Plan termination.

See Note 9, Fair Value for a description of how we measure the fair value of our plan assets.
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The valuation of our Retirement Plan assets by pricing observability levels as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 was as follows (in thousands):

Cash $ 944  $ — $ —  $ 944

U.S. Treasury Strips — 15,764 — 15,764
Fixed income mutual funds 2,271 — — 2,271
Fixed income securities — 46,443 — 46,443
Equity mutual funds 9,821 — — 9,821
Equity securities 10,231 — — 10,231
Total assets in the fair value hierarchy 23,267 62,207 — 85,474
Investments measured at net assets value — — — 15,902
Investments at fair value $ 23,267 $ 62,207 § —  $ 101,376

During 2024 the Retirement Plan's investments include the following:
« fixed income securities primarily invested in bonds and included as a level 2 security;
During 2023 the Retirement Plan's investments include the following:

« one multi asset fund in 2023, in which the fund pursued an aggressive investment strategy involving a variety of asset classes. This fund seeks inflation
protection from investments around the globe, both in developed and emerging market countries;

« six equity mutual funds in 2023, which focus on both U.S.-based and non-U.S.-based equity securities of various capitalization sizes ranging from small to
large capitalization and diversified portfolios within those capitalization ranges;

« one asset allocation mutual which was liquidated in 2023;

« one separately managed account in 2023, managed against the Bloomberg Long U.S. Corporate index. This portfolio invests in U.S. dollar denominated
investment grade fixed income securities with at least 10 years to maturity;

« investments measured at net asset value, including one hedge fund in 2023. The hedge fund seeks to provide attractive risk-adjusted returns over full
market cycles with less volatility than that of broad equity markets by allocating all or substantially all of their assets among portfolio managers through
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million, $183.0 million and $160.1 million, respectively.

Effective as of September 30, 2017, we established the AB 2017 Long Term Incentive Plan (“2017 Plan”), which was adopted at a special meeting of AB
Holding Unitholders held on September 29, 2017. The following forms of awards may be granted to employees and Eligible Directors (directors who satisfy
applicable independence standards) under the 2017 Plan: (i) restricted AB Holding Units or phantom restricted AB Holding Units (a “phantom” award is a
contractual right to receive AB Holding Units at a later date or upon a specified event); (ii) options to buy AB Holding Units; and (iii) other AB Holding Unit-
based awards (including, without limitation, AB Holding Unit appreciation rights and performance awards). The purpose of the 2017 Plan is to promote the
interest of AB by: (i) attracting and retaining talented officers, employees and directors, (ii) motivating such officers, employees and directors by means of
performance-related incentives to achieve longer-range business and
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operational goals, (iii) enabling such officers, employees and directors to participate in the long-term growth and financial success of AB, and (iv) aligning the
interests of such officers, employees and directors with those of AB Holding Unitholders. The 2017 Plan will expire on September 30, 2027, and no awards
under the 2017 Plan will be made after that date. Under the 2017 Plan, the aggregate number of AB Holding Units with respect to which awards may be
granted is 60 million, including no more than 30 million newly-issued AB Holding Units.

As of December 31, 2024, 35,854,070 AB Holding Units, net of withholding tax requirements, were subject to other AB Holding Unit awards made under the
2017 Plan or the AllianceBernstein 2010 Long Term Incentive Plan, as amended, an equity compensation plan with similar terms that was canceled on
September 30, 2017. AB Holding Unit-based awards in respect of 24,145,930 AB Holding Units were available for grant under the 2017 Plan as of
December 31, 2024.

As of December 31, 2023, 32,738,157 AB Holding Units, net of withholding tax requirements, were subject to other AB Holding Unit awards made under the
2017 Plan or the AllianceBernstein 2010 Long Term Incentive Plan, as amended, an equity compensation plan with similar terms that was canceled on
September 30, 2017. AB Holding Unit-based awards in respect of 27,261,843 AB Holding Units were available for grant under the 2017 Plan as of
ber 31, 2023

Decem

Clawbacks

The award agreement contained in the Incentive Compensation Program permits AB to clawback the unvested portion of an award if the recipient fails to
adhere to our risk management policies. Further, pursuant to Rule 10D-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Rule") and Section 303A.14 of the
NYSE Listed Company Manual, the Board of Directors (the "Board") has adopted a Compensation Recovery Policy (the "Policy") effective November 15,
2023. Pursuant to the Policy, the Company will promptly recover erroneously awarded incentive-based compensation (as defined by section 10D(b)(1) to
include any compensation that is granted, earned or vested wholly or in part upon attainment of a financial reporting measure) from any current or former
Executive Officer of the Company as defined by Rule 10D-1 of the Exchange Act as required under the Exchange Act and the NYSE Listed Company
Manual. The company does not currently award incentive-based compensation as defined by the Rule. We have filed the Policy as Exhibit 97.01 to this Form
10-K.

The portion of incentive-based compensation received from EQH specific to Seth Bernstein, our Chief Executive Officer, and Onur Erzan, our Head of Global
Client Group and Private Wealth, is covered under the Compensation Recovery Policy adopted by our parent EQH and will be applicable to any current or
previous incentive-based compensation received directly from our parent company by Mr. Bernstein and Mr. Erzan.

Restricted AB Holding Unit Awards
In 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Board granted restricted AB Holding Unit awards to Eligible Directors. These AB Holding Units give the Eligible Directors, in
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We also award restricted AB Holding Units in connection with certain employment and separation agreements, as well as relocation-related performance
awards, with vesting schedules generally ranging between two and ten years. Grant details related to these awards is as follows:

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair

AB Holding Value per AB Holding
Units
Unvested as of December 31, 2023 13,447,555 $ 35.02
Granted 5,922,324 35.29
Vested (6,740,540) 36.26
Forfeited (210,088) 35.15
Unvested as of December 31, 2024 12,419,251  § 34.47

The total grant date fair value of restricted AB Holding Units that vested was $244.4 million, $235.8 million and $246.2 million during 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. As of December 31, 2024, the 12,419,251 unvested restricted AB Holding Units consist of 9,189,286 restricted AB Holding Units that do not
have a service requirement and have been fully expensed on the grant date and 3,229,965 restricted AB Holding Units that have a service requirement and
will be expensed over the required service period. As of December 31, 2024, there was $93.5 million of compensation expense related to unvested restricted
AB Holding Unit awards granted and not yet recognized in the consolidated statement of income. We expect to recognize the expense over a weighted
average period of 5.39 years.

AD Ol 4,210, 14U AD UINILS 1O EWM.

@ Includes 4,215,140 and 5,211,194 Units issued in connection with a separate purchase and master exchange agreement entered into with EQH on December 19, 2024,
respectively. See Exhibit 10.32 and 10.33 to this Form 10-K.

@ Includes 5,211,194 Units retired in connection with a master exchange agreement entered into with EQH on December 19, 2024. See Exhibit 10.32 to this Form 10-K.
@ During 2024 and 2023, we purchased 21,877 and 5,695 AB Units, respectively, in private transactions and retired them.

96 AllianceBernstein
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business tax (“UBT"). Our domestic corporate subsidiaries are subject to federal, state and local income taxes, and generally are included in the filing of a

consolidated federal income tax return. Separate state and local income tax returns also are filed. Foreign corporate subsidiaries generally are subject to
taxes in the jurisdictions where they are located.

In order to preserve AB's status as a private partnership for federal income tax purposes, AB Units must not be considered publicly traded. The AB
Partnership Agreement provides that all transfers of AB Units must be approved by EQH and the General Partner; EQH and the General Partner approve
only those transfers permitted pursuant to one or more of the safe harbors contained in the relevant Treasury regulations. If AB Units were considered
readily tradable, AB's net income would be subject to federal and state corporate income tax, significantly reducing its quarterly distribution to AB Holding.
Furthermore, should AB enter into a substantial new line of business, AB Holding, by virtue of its ownership of AB, would lose its status as a publicly traded
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Interest and penalties, if any, relating to tax positions are recorded in income tax expense on the consolidated statements of income. As of December 31,
2024, 2023, and 2022, there is no accrued interest or penalties recorded on the consolidated statements of financial condition.

Generally, the company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state or local income tax examinations by tax authorities for any year prior to 2020, except as set
forth below.

During the third quarter of 2023, the City of New York notified us of an examination of AB's UBT returns for the years 2020 through 2021. The examination is
ongoing and no provision with respect to this examination has been recorded.

ar AlliancaRearnctain
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Currently, there are no income tax examinations at our significant non-U.S. subsidiaries. Years that remain open and may be subject to examination vary
under local law and range from one to seven years.

Nefarrad income taxes reflant the net tax effect of temnorarv differances hetween the earrvina amoiints of assets and liahilities for financial renortina

thevapplicable subsidiaries. As a resuilt of the deconsolidation of BRS and contribution to the JVs in 2624, capital loss carry forwards of $140.2 million were
generated from the contribution of foreign entities into the J\V's and was reflected in the prior year as an investment in subsidiaries deferred tax asset. The

capital loss carryforward has a five year expiration period. We had net operating loss carryforwards at December 31, 2024 and 2023 of approximately $56.7
million and $44.0 million, respectively, in certain foreign locations with a five year expiration period.

The deferred tax asset is included in other assets in our consolidated statement of financial condition. Management believes there will be sufficient future
taxable income to realize the tax benefits related to the remaining net deferred tax assets recognized that are not subject to valuation allowances.

The company provides income taxes on the unremitted earnings of non-U.S. corporate subsidiaries except to the extent that such earnings are indefinitely
reinvested outside the United States. As of December 31, 2024, $29.6 million of undistributed earnings of non-U.S. corporate subsidiaries were indefinitely
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performance and allocate resources, we have only one operating segment. We provide diversified investment management, research and related services
globally to a broad range of clients through our three distribution channels: Institutions, Retail and Private Wealth Management.

The Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") is the Chief Executive Officer of AB. The CODM evaluates the reported measure of segment profit or loss in
assessing segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources. Significant segment expenses are part of the CODM review and are critically
important to understand the level of profitability and overall performance of the company. This assessment will determine the way in which the CODM
allocates resources to our respective business operations.

Measurement of Segment Profit or Loss and How the CODM Uses the Reported Measure

The CODM regularly receives financial information and management reports that are prepared on a consolidated basis. When assessing profitability,
allocating resources and evaluating the underlying performance of our business, the CODM uses consolidated net income as reported on the consolidated
statements of income. In applying the requirements under ASC 280, the company has identified significant segment expenses and other segment items
related to our one operating segment. The significant expenses considered by the CODM in evaluating the performance of our business are consistent with
the financial information included on the company's consolidated statements of income. The measurement of assets as evaluated by the CODM is reported
as "Total assets" on the consolidated statements of financial condition. As an additional measure of segment profit or loss, the CODM considers certain
adjustments to consolidated net income. While management uses these additional adjusted metrics in assessing and allocating resources to the business,
management recognizes that US GAAP principles are the basis of our performance. The accounting policies of our one operating segment are described in
Note 2 "Sianificant Accountina Policies"
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Geographic Information

Net revenues and long-lived assets, related to our U.S. and international operations, as of and for the years ended December 31, were as follows:
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Divestitures

On November 22, 2022, AB and SocGen, a leading European bank, announced plans to form a joint venture combining their respective cash equities and
research businesses (the “Initial Plan”). In the Initial Plan, AB would own a 49% interest in the global joint venture and SocGen would own a 51% interest,
with an option to reach 100% ownership after five years.

During the fourth quarter of 2023, AB and SocGen negotiated a revised plan (the "Revised Plan") to form a global joint venture with two joint venture holding
companies, one outside of North America and one within North America ("NA JV", and together the "JVs"). Effective April 1, 2024, AB and SocGen
completed their previously announced transaction in accordance with the Revised Plan. AB owns a 66.7% majority interest in the NA JV while SocGen owns
a 51% maijority interest in the joint venture outside of North America. While AB currently owns a majority of the NA JV, the structure of the Board of Directors
of the NA JV, which includes two independent directors, in addition to four directors from AB and three directors from SocGen, precludes AB'’s control of the
Board thereby permitting deconsolidation of the BRS business. Going forward, AB will maintain an equity method investment in each of the JVs and report
on the performance of the two JV holding companies on a combined basis.

As a result of the greater value of the business AB contributed to the JVs, SocGen paid AB $304.0 million in cash to equalize the value of the contributions
by AB and SocGen to the JVs. The cash payment of $304.0 million included $102.6 million of prepaid consideration for an option, exercisable by AB during
the next five years, that would result in SocGen having a 51% ownership of the NA JV (the "AB option") and bringing the transaction ownership terms back
in line with the Initial Plan. AB's option may only be exercised upon receipt of appropriate regulatory approvals. The $304.0 million cash payment was used
to pay down debt under AB's existing credit facilities.

Under the terms of the transaction and assuming AB exercises its option as noted above, SocGen would increase its ownership to a majority interest of the
NA JV, without further consideration payable. AB has an additional option to sell its ownership interests in the JVs to SocGen after five years, at the fair
market value of AB's interests in the JVs, subject to regulatory approval. The ultimate objective of SocGen and AB is for SocGen to eventually own 100% of
the JVs after five years.

AB has deconsolidated the BRS business and retained the Bernstein Private Wealth Management business within its existing U.S. broker dealer, SCB LLC.
AB's Private Wealth Management business continues to operate through SCB LLC and SCB LLC continues to serve as custodian for substantially all Private
Wealth assets under management. AB continues to serve as investment adviser to these Private Wealth clients. Further, we entered into certain transition
service level agreements with the JVs in connection with the divestiture of the BRS business. From April 1, 2024 through December 31, 2024 we provided
services and recognized revenues of $37.8 million associated with these transition services agreements.
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The net carrying amount of the BRS business assets and liabilities included in the sale was $312.1 million and consisted of the following:

April 1, 2024

In addition, we recorded a liability in accounts payable and accrued expenses on the consolidated statement of financial condition of approximately
$102.6 million, based on the negotiated terms of the Revised Plan, related to the AB option. Upon receipt of appropriate regulatory approvals, AB intends to
exercise the AB option and will recognize a gain or loss at that time, dependent upon the fair market value of the additional equity interest that would result in
SocGen having 51% ownership interest in NA JV. For discussion on our accounting policy related to investments in unconsolidated joint ventures, see Note

2 Significant Accounting Policies.

104 AllianceBernstein
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The net cash contributed at transaction close from the divestiture of the BRS business as presented under Cash Flows from Investing Activities represents
the cash portion of the sale consideration, which was determined as the fair value of the sale consideration, adjusted by the cash transferred to the joint
ventures and direct costs to sell. The following table summarizes the different components of the initial business divestiture presented under cash flows from

Included in the initial cash contribution to the joint ventures is approximately $69.1 million of prefunded cash received from SocGen in advance of closing
due to certain banking holidays in the U.S. and internationally. The $69.1 million was included in held for sale cash as of March 31, 2024 with an offsetting
liability recorded in accounts payable and accrued expenses in held for sale liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial condition. At transaction
close, AB contributed this cash to the joint ventures on behalf of SocGen.

As of December 31, 2023 the assets and liabilities of AB's research services business (“the disposal group”) were classified as held for sale on the
consolidated statement of financial condition and recorded at fair value, less cost to sell. As a result of classifying these assets as held for sale, we

recognized a cumulative non-cash valuation adjustment of $6.6 million as of December 31, 2023, respectively, to recognize the net carrying value at lower of
cost or fair value, less estimated costs to sell.
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